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Corporate Information

NAEER

ABOUT CGN MINING

The Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
01164). The principal activities of the Company are development and
trading of natural uranium resources for the use of nuclear energy
companies. The Company positions itself as the sole overseas uranium
development platform for the CGN Group, which strives to provide
nuclear power plants owners with high-quality and reliable natural
uranium products, and contributes to a clean environment.

The Company adheres to its core value of “Doing Things Right in One
Go” and takes “Safety First, Quality Foremost, Pursuing Excellence” as
its working principle.
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

OPERATING RESULTS ¥4&

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
2018 2017 £ 2016 4 20154 2014 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET THT TAT THT
(RESEE)
(==51)
Continuing operations BEMER
Revenue EEE 362,031 372,790 707,749 703,422 1,151,707
Operating profit R 118,234 67,746 469,513 275,273 113,049
Finance costs BER A - - (5,601) (21,990) (28,802)
Profit before taxation BERATRF 118,234 67,746 463,912 253,283 84,247
Income tax expenses FIEHZ (16,826) (15,668) (74,782) (49,920) (22,462)
Profit from continuing operation R EHEE £ i5F15 2 5 A 101,408 52,078 389,130 203,363 61,785
Discontinued Operations i EMER
Profit (loss) from discontinued ~ RIEEHE 1 £ 11
operation ZHER(B8) - - - 94,640 (103,660)
Profit (loss) for the year REEHF (FE) 101,408 52,078 389,130 298,003 (41,875)
Profit (loss) attributable to: THALEEER (B8 -
Owners of the Company V/NIE T2 DN 101,408 52,078 389,130 297,981 (41,706)
Non-controlling interests Ei iyt - - - 22 (169)
101,408 52,078 389,130 298,003 (41,875)

FINANCIAL POSITION 813k 5%

As at 31 December

M12A318

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20185 2017 2016 F 20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TET THT THET
(Restated)
(Z=751)
Total assets BERE 1,861,802 1911275 1886549  1,145300 2,244,346
Total liabilities afeE (49,463) (120,520) (69,990) (385,650) (844,869)
1,812,429 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650 1,399,477

Equity attributable to owners A GIEA A
of the Company FE(hER 1,812,429 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650 1,397,836
Non-controlling interests TR - - - = 1,641
1,812,429 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650 1,399,477

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT



Dear Shareholders,

In the past 2018, the international natural uranium market gradually
recovered, and showed a slow upward trend in natural uranium price.
Since the natural uranium price has been staying low which was close
to or even lower than the production cost for the past few years, some
major producers have announced production cuts or suspensions for
survival and cutting loss, which created possibilities for the recovery.
As a long-term participant in the industry, we believe that the natural
uranium price has basically changed the downward trend and
started to rise after hitting bottom, with an expectation to get rid of
the persistent downturn since the Fukushima accident and gradually
return to its original value. For CGN Mining, the upturn means new
development opportunities and also brings new challenges to us.

In the long term, we are always optimistic about the future of nuclear
power in the PRC, and firmly believe that it is imperative to develop
nuclear power facing the server environmental problems. As a stable
and relatively low-cost clean energy, no other new energy sources can
be comparable to the nuclear power in the short term. What we need to
do is to make layout in advance, gradually improve the asset structure
and seize the opportunity to become bigger and stronger.

The Board has adopted the establishment of echelon resources and
increase of uranium resource reserves as one of the Company’s
strategic objectives to meet the potential increase in natural uranium
demand in the Chinese market in the future. In this regard, we
have continued to focus on and explore natural uranium mines with
economic efficiency. In terms of potential targets, we have conducted
repeated research and demonstration to ensure that every investment
can create tangible value for Shareholders. Despite the fact that there
were no acquisitions of natural uranium mines in 2018, we carried
out a lot of meaningful work behind, which including the acquisition
projects that had been demonstrated for many times but failed to be
finalised. Among them, for the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project of
strategic importance, we completed a round of technical due diligence
in 2018, obtained more comprehensive project data, which helped
us confirmed the excellency of project resources. The work in relation
to the acquisition of the new uranium mine would be carried out in
succession later on.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

In addition, in order to expand the third-party market outside CGN
Group to create new growth points, we initiated the transaction of
acquiring 100% equity of CGN Global from the controlling shareholder
in 2018. The completion of this acquisition represents the first step
we are marching forward in the international natural uranium trading
market. It is believed that this will bring new possibilities to the
Company, and is expected to become the new engine driving the
Company’s performance. We will also take this opportunity to build
an international sales team, and try to enhance our sales ability in the
international market and the overall market competitiveness of the
Group.

As a cultivator in the niche industry, we always believe that the value of
the Company has not yet fully gained market attention and recognition.
We had fallen far short of what would be needed in terms of self-
promotion and market cultivation in the past, which is an important
part of the value discovery of the Company. The Board had adopted
the maintenance of the investor relationship as a focus in 2018,
and has continued and will continue to urge the management to
implement relevant improvements in an orderly manner. In 2019, we
will further strengthen communication and interaction with investors
and strengthen the recognition, understanding and concern of market
to the Company.

2019 will be a promising year. On the one hand, we officially entered
the overseas natural uranium trading market, and will vigorously
expand overseas purchase and sales channels and improve
profitability. On the other hand, we will work hard at all levels to
promote the substantial development of the new uranium project
continuously, thus achieving the development and expansion of assets
and fundamental improvement in competitiveness. Meanwhile, we will
conduct more in-depth demonstrations and discussions on existing
assets, clarify the next investment and management strategies, and
consolidate every step of subsequent development. We are willing and
will try to share more about the developments of the Company and
the industry, and listen to the voice from the market and investors. We
always keep an open mind to investors and welcome those people with
insights to join us and make CGN Mining the industry leader.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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APPRECIATION

At last, as the chairman of the Board, | wish to express my heartfelt
gratitude on behalf of the Board of CGN Mining to the business
partners, clients and Shareholders who have given us their trust and
support. | also take this opportunity to sincerely thank all staff whose
endeavours have contributed to the development of the Company.

Chairman of the Board
Yu Zhiping

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

HRHITERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the management, | present to you the overall operation of
the Company in 2018.

The spot price of natural uranium rebounded from the bottom in
2018 and ended with an increase of over 30% throughout the year.
Although the market is still oversupply in 2019, with the imbalance
between supply and demand improved significantly, the international
uranium price is expected to increase further in 2019. Under this
circumstance, we took the initiative to carry out lean management of
existing businesses and strived to improve profits, while promoting
the acquisition of 100% equity of CGN Global to further expand the
Company’s business. During the Reporting Period, the Company
continued to record a profit, representing a substantial increase as
compared to 2017. As the chief executive officer, | would like to thank
all Shareholders for their support and understanding, and also to thank
all employees for their unremitting endeavours. | will deliver you a
briefed report on our main work and performance in 2018 and outline
the key tasks of 2019.

Steady operation of the uranium project

In order to strengthen the cost control of Semizbay-U and create
more profit for both shareholders, during the Reporting Period, we
actively participated in and promoted the business planning, financial
budgeting, sales and production management of Semizbay-U
through the appointment of directors and the on-site team to fully
implement management innovations such as lean management,
office automation, digital mines and 5s on-site management. With the
concerted efforts of both shareholders, production cost of Semizbay-U
had been well controlled, and its cost advantage continued to be in
the forefront of the industry. Under the unfavorable conditions that
Tenge depreciated by 7% and inflation of Kazakhstan reached 7%,
Semizbay-U turned a loss into profit in 2018. During the Reporting
Period, Fission completed the winter and summer exploration on
PLS Project, and the overall exploration results were good. Uranium
mineralization area with high grade and large thickness was found
in all resource exploration upgrade boreholes, which helped partial
resource of the PLS Project to be upgraded from the inferred to the
indicated level. In addition, Fission is preparing a pre-feasibility study
report, which is expected to be officially released in the second quarter
of 2019.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

Steady implementation of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project

Pursuant to the Uranium Mine Principle Agreement with Kazatomprom,
the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project is affected by the progress of
the assembly plant jointly built by CGNPC-URC and Kazatomprom.
Subject to the progress of the assembly plant, we had not yet entered
the stage of substantive transaction negotiation with Kazatomprom in
relation to the acquisition of uranium mine equity. Given the strategic
significance of the new Kazakhstan uranium, we organized a team
of technical experts to conduct an on-site investigation for the target
mine in 2018, and obtained the latest development and technical
parameters of the target deposit, which deepened our understanding
of the target mine, thereby facilitating the development of follow-
up transaction negotiations. In 2019, we will urge the controlling
shareholder to promote the assembly plant project as soon as
possible, to seek for initiating formal negotiation and acquisition
process of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project.

Acquisition of 100% equity of CGN Global

In order to broaden the natural uranium trade channel, we spent
approximately US$8.55 million to acquire CGN Global during the
Reporting Period. It is expected that the international sales of natural
uranium from non-related parties will account for approximately 70%
of our total sales after the transaction completed, which will optimize
and improve the overall business structure of the Group. In addition, it
will also improve the utilisation efficiency of the funds within the Group,
reduce finance costs, and help expand the customer base which
allowing us to participate in a more expansive global natural uranium
trading market and fully utilize the growing off-take of natural uranium
to promote synergies.

Enhancing maintenance of the investor relationship

In order to deepen investors’ understanding on us, we enhanced
contacts through ways such as roadshows, and promoted the
understanding of the development and trends of the natural uranium
industry in the capital market during the Reporting Period. In 2018,
we held two investor roadshows. The communication with investors
provided new input for the Company and prompting us to continuously
improve operations. At the same time, we assisted investors to further
understand the business status and development of the Company
by increasing voluntary announcements. Furthermore, we are striving
to create a top-down professional investor relations management
team through seminars and specific trainings to serve the Company’s
development and enhance communication with market participants.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

HRHITERE

Subsequent plan

It is expected that the imbalance between supply and demand in the
global natural uranium market will further improve in 2019. Natural
uranium price is expected to rise slowly in the coming year, but remains
at a low level, which means that 2019 will still be a good time for the
acquisition of natural uranium projects. In line with the trend, we will
strive to expand the scale of the Company’s asset, and build a benign
natural uranium echelon resources to achieve medium to long-term
steady growth of the main business. In this regard, with focus on
promoting the announced projects, we will also identify other potential
investment opportunities and implement it when appropriate.

In terms of the existing mine assets, we will continue to participate
in the operation and management of them in 2019 to ensure that
our rights and interests can be preserved and increased to the
maximum extent. In addition, we will strive to improve the profitability
of the international natural uranium trading and build a mature and
experienced international trade team to make it a new business
growth point for the Company. In order to comprehensively enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and profitability, we will continue to
explore feasible ways to expand new business, while the promotion of
new business will also be demonstrated repeatedly to ensure that its
economic efficiency meets the requirements of our internal investment.

Finally, in order to ensure the Company’s developments updated to
investors and promote the capital market’s understanding on us, we
will increase the frequency of communication with investors based on
the existing work, and strengthen the connection of capital markets
through various channels. We believe that through continuous efforts,
our work will be recognized and our value will be discovered.

Chief Executive Officer
An Junjing

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in investment and trading of natural
uranium resources. As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 49%
equity interest and 49% off-take rights of products in Semizbay-U, as
well as 19.90% equity interest, 20% off-take rights and additional 15%
optional off-take rights of its future natural uranium products in Fission.

In 2018, the Company realised revenue of HK$362 million, and
HK$101 million in profit attributable to owners of the Company.

ANALYSIS OF BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

The nuclear power market and its industrial development

In 2018, the overall slowdown trend in the development of the
international nuclear power continued. According to a report released
by the World Nuclear Association (WNA) in 2017, the global installed
capacity of nuclear power (mid case) is expected to reach 445GWe
by 2030, with an annual growth rate of 1.6%, which is 0.8% lower
than the expected annual growth rate in the 2015 report. However,
the development of nuclear power in Japan and China shows obvious
signs of recovery under the current environment.

The Japanese government issued the “Energy Basic Plan” in 2018,
which expects the national nuclear power generation will account for
20-22% of the total power generation by 2030, meaning 30 reactors
will be required to resume commercial power generation in full
capacity given only 9 reactors resumed commercial operation as at 31
December 2018. In China, the third-generation nuclear reactors with
AP1000 and EPR technology have successfully connected to the grid.
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Natural uranium market and its industrial development

In 2018, the supply still exceeded demand in the international
natural uranium market and the trade focused on stock clearing.
However, due to the announcement of the indefinite suspension of
the McArthur River uranium mine of Cameco and the initial public
offering (IPO) of Kazatomprom, together with the production reduction
plans announced by the three major international producers, namely
Cameco, Kazatomprom and Orano, the market sentiment has
gradually become bullish. In addition, the purchase of Cameco
and investment companies, such as Yellow Cake Plc and Tribeca
Investment Partners Pty. Ltd, etc. prompted the natural uranium
spot price to start rising, and the trading volume in the spot market
increased significantly.

During the year, the monthly price of natural uranium in the international
spot market fell slightly from USD22.00/Ib in the beginning of the year
to USD21.00/Ib in April. Since then, as the purchase volume increased,
the spot price climbed and reached the highest point of USD29.1/
Ib in November, and it finally ended with a price of USD28.50/Ib in
2018. The monthly average price in the spot market was USD24.63/Ib,
representing a year-on-year increase of 13.9%. The monthly average
price in the long-term market is USD30.83/Ib, which is basically the
same as 2017*.

The natural uranium price data in the paragraph are derived from the
UxC. In 2018, the supply and demand of long-term market of natural
uranium remained stable, and the rising momentum of spot price was
not transmitted to the long-term market, therefore the long-term price
was basically the same as in 2017.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Uranium under production-Production of Semizbay-U

Due to the production reduction policy of Kazatomprom, the
production volume of the Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine reduced
in 2018, with a total annual production of 960 tons of uranium, of
which Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine produced 400 and 560 tons
respectively, both have fully fulfilled production plans for 2018.
After negotiations, the Company’s off-take of natural uranium from
Semizbay-U remained at 588 tons.

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine opened up 6 new fault-
blocks with 323 boreholes drilled and approximately 451 tons of
uranium reserves expanded. Irkol Mine also opened up 6 new fault-
blocks with 314 boreholes drilled and approximately 692 tons of
uranium reserves expanded. The accumulated exploration expenses
and the total mining production cost of the two mines were 2.89 billion
tenge and 14.77 billion tenge respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the uranium reserves and resources of
Semizbay-U are as follows:

“Reserves Average Grade
‘2 iz
Tons of Uranium
M e
Measured + Indicated Resources Average Grade
RAR+EFIRERE 1 i
Tons of Uranium
T

* Note: Kazatomprom was listed in London on 16 November 2018 and
published resources and reserve data of uranium projects under JORC
standards. In order to maintain data consistency, the Company will shift
from using Kazakh Classification System standards to JORC standard,
in reporting the resources and reserve data of these two mines from
the date of this report onwards. The JORC standard is a reporting
specification of Australia on exploration results, mineral resources and
ore reserves, jointly developed by the Australia Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy and the Australia Geosciences and Minerals Council.

Semizbay Mine
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Uranium pending for development - exploration by Fission

Fission owns 100% of equity interest of the PLS Project. The PLS
Project is located in the south west margin of Saskatchewan’s
Athabasca Basin, Canada, the world-renowned source of high-grade
uranium ore, with a mineralized area of 600 meters, which is the
longest continuous area with high-grade uranium ore in the basin.
Currently, the main ore body already identified in the PLS Project is
the 3R Uranium Deposit. During the Reporting Period, Fission steadily
promoted the preliminary feasibility study of 3R Uranium Deposit and
achieved the following results: (i) converted all of inferred resources
in high-grade section of R780E area to the indicated category; (ii)
expanded the scale of the uranium ore body in R1515W section and
identified the uranium mine zone with good continuity; and (iii) initiated
the preparation of the preliminary feasibility study report of 3R Uranium
Deposit. During the Reporting Period, the expenditures on exploration
by Fission amounted to approximately CAD 16 million.

As at 31 December 2018, resources of PLS Project under Fission were
as follows:

Indicated Resources Average Grade

THRERE 9 fm
Tons of Uranium
T e
Inferred Resources Average Grade
HERERE A mi
Tons of Uranium
A 3k

Note: Resources are prepared according to the NI43-101 standard. NI43-
101 standard is a national instrument for mining project report within
Canada, which is formulated by the Standing Committee on Reserve
Definitions of Canada. The above figures are derived from the public
information of Fission.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Natural uranium trading business

During the Reporting Period, the natural uranium products sold by
the Group were sourced from self-owned mines of Semizbay-U,
and realized trading revenue of HK$360 million, representing a 3%
decrease compared to 2017 (2017: HK$371 million). Pursuant to
the New Natural Uranium Sales Framework Agreement, the natural
uranium transactions between the Company and CGNPC-URC Group
were conducted under a pricing mechanism that includes a floor price
and a ceiling price with reference to the long-term price index of natural
uranium published by a third-party index agency. The spot price of
natural uranium rose during the Reporting Period, but the long-term
price generally remained stable even with a slight decline. As such,
despite a similar sales volume in 2017, the Group recorded a decrease
in the amount of sales. In addition, since the natural uranium products
supplied by the Group could not fully cater to the demand of CGN, all
the natural uranium products were sold to CGNPC-URC Group during
the Reporting Period. Based on the long-term and stable cooperation
between the parties, the Company maintained good relationships with
its controlling shareholders.

DEVELOPING NEW PROJECTS
Acquisition of CGN Global

In order to broaden the international marketing of natural uranium
products, improve the profit structure and lower the proportion
of connected transactions, the Company and China Uranium
Development entered into a sales and purchases agreement in relation
to the acquisition of 100% equity interest of CGN Global during the
Reporting Period. The completion of such transaction took place on 17
January 2019.

CGN Gilobal is a leading uranium trading entity in the industry, whose
main business is the sale and purchase of natural uranium in the
international market. It is also engaged in the sale and distribution of
natural uranium products produced by Swakop.

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global entered into trading
contracts with its main customers including European and American
nuclear plants owners, international nuclear fuel manufacturers and
trading entities with a total trading volume of 5,385 tons of uranium
(purchases and sales included), of which 2,298 tons of uranium were
delivered throughout the year.
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Steady implementation of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project

During the Reporting Period, the Company actively advanced the New
Kazakhstan Uranium Project, the subject of the acquisition is no more
than 49% equity interest in Altarec. Altarec has two in-situ leachable
uranium mines with high competitive advantages in cost, namely the
Central Mynkuduk Mine and the Zhalpak Mine. Both mines are located
in the Tutkestan state, a southern region of Kazakhstan and adjoins to
the Irkol Mine of Semizbay-U.

The Central Mynkuduk Mine is in operation, with a designed production
capacity of 2,000 tons of uranium per year. Subject to the production
reduction policy of its controlling shareholder, Kazatomprom, the
production volume of the Central Mynkuduk Mine was around 1,600
tons of uranium in 2018. According to the cost report of global uranium
mines in operation published by UxC in 2017, the production cost of
Central Mynkuduk Mine is US$17.33/Ib, which ranked in the top one
third of world’s uranium mines with the lowest production cost and
is expected to operate until 2032. The Zhalpak Mine is still in the test
mining phase, with a designed production capacity of 500 tons of
uranium per year. The production volume of 2018 was approximately
110 tons of uranium.

During the Reporting Period, the Company organized a technical
team to conduct an on-site inspection in the Target Deposits, the
key technical data obtained shows that the Target Mines are in good
operating condition.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

POTENTIAL RISKS DURING OPERATION AND
RISK MANAGEMENT

Risks of international natural uranium trade

Taking into account of the uncertainty of the price trend of natural
uranium and the complexity of international trade, there are certain
risks in the international natural uranium trade. For example, breach of
contracts, bankruptcy of suppliers, force majeure events, receivables
or prepayments that are not recoverable or misjudgements in
investments may cause the Company to suffer loss.

In order to reduce such risks, the Company will improve its risk
management on trading by monitoring the qualification and business
capacity of the counterparties, adopting protective provisions in the
contract, requiring parties with poor credit to provide guarantee or
prepayments and implementing risk-based contingency plans on
one hand; and trying to improve the ability to predict price of natural
uranium, capturing opportunities with low procurement price, and
ensuring that each natural uranium trade is strictly implemented in
accordance with established authorization and completed approval
processes on the other hand.

Capital guarantee risk

Considering it is hard for the current capital to meet the needs of the
Company in terms of its medium to long-term acquisition and in line
with the business plan of 2019 and the short to medium term strategic
plan, the Company will make relevant capital and financing plans
based on a fair assessment on the economic efficiency and feasibility
of potential projects, and finance at an appropriate timing. In addition,
the Company will take reasonable measures to improve the utilisation
efficiency of capital by reducing various expenses.
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK

Forecast of the nuclear power market

As an important source of low-carbon power generation, nuclear
power plays a key role in global decarbonization. For major nuclear
power countries in the world, China’s increasing emphasis on nuclear
power development is widely recognized. Japan’s demand for energy
is expected to accelerate the recovery of nuclear power. Meanwhile,
the progress of nuclear reduction and denuclearization in important
nuclear power countries such as France and South Korea are no
longer radical, but tend to be stable and rational. Emerging countries
such as India, Saudi Arabia and Poland have adopted a more positive
attitude towards nuclear power development. Despite the uneven
development of the international nuclear power, it is undeniable that
while nuclear power meets the global energy demand, its important
position as a low-carbon base energy is irreplaceable. It is believed
that the development of nuclear power and nuclear fuel industries will
remain stable in the future.

Forecast of the natural uranium market

Combining analyses and forecasts of various major international
institutions, the Company forecasts that the oversupply of natural
uranium market will remain unchanged for years to come. Due to the
significant production reduction by major natural uranium producers,
the market entry of investment companies and the conclusion of a
new batch of long-term sales and purchase contracts for natural
uranium, the imbalance between supply and demand in the market will
be improved in the next few years. The market pressure will gradually
ease as the inventories are digested, and the natural uranium price
will continue to rise steadily. However, due to a large idle capacity, the
increase is expected to be suppressed.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK

Strengthening stock asset management

The Company will continue to participate in the operation management
of Semizbay-U in 2019 to ensure the completion of its annual
production, cost control objectives and delivery of its committed off-
take by the latter. Meanwhile, the Company will strengthen control
on the expenses of Semizbay-U by participating in board meetings
and decisions, to ensure that the annual expenditure budget is not
exceeded. In addition, the Company will push Semizbay-U to devote
more efforts in improving its resource reserves in 2019, thus to
promote its sustainable development.

For Fission, the Company will participate in its decision-making and
daily management through the board of directors and the assigned
financial manager. We will mainly focus on and encourage Fission to
formulate clear medium and long-term development plans for the PLS
Project, based on which the Company will make its strategic decisions
in relation to Fission in the future. At the same time, the Company will
support Fission in promoting the feasibility study of the 3R Uranium
Deposit, combining the market situation of natural uranium and the
results of its related pre-feasibility study report.

Expanding trade business

Leveraging on its own capital advantages, the Company will actively
expand its international trade business, vigorously support CGN
Global to explore the market outside CGNPC, and ensure that the
trade volume and sales profit will be gradually improving under the
circumstances that risks are controllable.

Promoting the acquisition of new projects

In order to complete the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project earlier, the
Company will initiate the formal negotiation in 2019, and discuss with
Kazatomprom the feasible plans and arrangements for accelerating the
progress.

In the meantime, the Company will continue to systematically screen
global high-quality uranium projects, track key potential projects and
select the best for acquisitions in good time to gradually realize the goal
of asset expansion. Furthermore, the Company will remain concerned
with investment opportunities in related industries such as uranium
associated mines and natural uranium processing, and treat them as
potential opportunities.
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Enhancing maintenance of the investor relationship

In 2019, the Company will continue to optimize information disclosure
by continuously improving the quality of voluntary information,
strengthening interaction with investors and analysts through various
channels. In addition, the Company will continuously strengthen
investor relations management by further improving the investor
relations team and enhancing the capacities of team members.

Strengthening internal control and risk management

In 2019, the Company will continue to carry out a series of internal
control and risk management work including comprehensive risk
management, internal audit and internal control assessment. In
addition, the Company plans to evaluate its risk management system
by introducing external professional strength to further improve and
enhance the level of risk management.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance reflects the operation of the Company
throughout the year. By paying attention to changes in financial
indicators, business development of the Company can be fully
understood.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BBRERAMRREE

POSITION
Major Financial Indicators FEBKEE
2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 &
Profitability indicators ERgENEE
Gross profit margin (%)’ FEFIZ (%)’ 17.61 31.93
EBITDA (HK$ million)? EBITDA (EEETT)? 119.82 69.60
EBITDA/Revenue (%)’ EBITDA ‘& ¥ 5L K (%)° 33.10 18.67
Net profit margin(%)* SFR AR (%) 28.01 13.97
Operation ability indicators EIERE HIgE
Trade receivables cycle — average (Days)’ JEUBRE ZR A — T35 (R)° 64.16 60.16
Investment return indicators REERERZ
Return on equity (%)° RS IR (%)° 5.63 2.89
Profit attributable to owners of the RAEIEER AEE &R
Company to revenue ratio” R R 28.01 13.97
Return on assets (%)° BEERIRE (%) 5.38 2.74
Repayment ability indicators EBEgEHIEE
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) RITEENES (BEST) 1,071.16 1,017.11
Net tangible assets (HK$ million)® BREAEFE(BEEST)’ 1,812.43 1,790.76
Gearing ratio (%) BREEL R (%)° 2.73 6.73
1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue 1. EEFEEENAN L ZRIASEHBRIA
multiplied by 100%. 100% ©
2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of property, 2. BLATADE - RERA S HRWE - BB RE
plant and equipment. BIEZM -
3. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of property, 3. BLATADE - RERAZHRWE - BB RE

plant and equipment, divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

4. Net profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%. 4.

5. Average trade receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning 5.
and the end of the Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales

(revenue divided by 360 days).

6. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average 6.
equity (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the

Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

7. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue 7

multiplied by 100%.

8. Net profit for the year divided by total average assets (i.e the arithmetic 8.
average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied
by 100%.
9. Interests of the Shareholders less intangible assets, net. 9.
10. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%. 10.

HITE Z MR A E X EEEFELA100% ©

NF i MR DA ERBB LA 100% ©

S e Uk IR R (B 2 HR RN HR R BT 19 1E)
BRUAEYS A EHERE (B ERERIAB60K) ©

AQBVEA ARG MR AT 15 4 2 (BN
EHVIEIR A FHE) BRI 100% °

RN BEIEA A G TR A & X 8 Bk
100% °

AE DR M AT B E (A& MR
FMFI9(E) EERFBFRIA100% °
BRI A BV B ERFE

AR R AR A FR R IA 100% ©
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group realized revenue of HK$362
million, representing a decrease of 3% as compared to 2017. The profit
and profit attributable to owners of the Company of 2018 were HK$101
million, representing an increase of 95% as compared to 2017.

IR ES

HZE2018F12A318 KREBERE
¥F362B BT - W2017F R LA A
3% o AFEHFRARRESR ARILR
FAE101EEBAIT 82017 F R 1841
95% ©

Revenue B
For the year ended Percentage
31 December Movements change
BZE12A31ALEE # 2HADL
Increase/ Increase/
2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20185 20176 #EI/CAd)  Em/ORd)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR i TR
Natural uranium trading KARWE S 359,916 370,720 (10,804) ()
Property investment MERE 2,115 2,070 45 2
Total revenue BEEE 362,031 372,790 (10,759) ()

The revenue of the Group was HK$362 million, representing a
decrease of 3% as compared to that of HK$373 million in 2017. It was
mainly due to the slight decrease in the long-term price of international
natural uranium as compared to 2017.

REFEEBHA2EEEIL  BK2017F
H37T3EEBITEL3% - TEBREAREE
KRR EIBARE: 2017 F/ M@ T o

Cost of sales SHER A

For the year ended Percentage

31 December Movements

BZ12A3HLFE )
Increase/ Increase/
2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
2018 20174 M/ CRd) B/ (Rd)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %

THET THT THET
Natural uranium trading KAHE 5 298,278 253,774 44,504 18
Property investment MERE - - - -
Total cost of sales HEKAA 298,278 253,774 44,504 18

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$298 million, representing an
increase of 18% as compared to that of HK$254 million in 2017. It
was mainly due to the increase in the spot price of international natural
uranium as compared to 2017.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Influenced by the slight decline in the sales price and the increase in
purchase price, the Group recorded a gross profit of natural uranium
trading of HK$62 million, representing a decrease of 47% as compared
to that of HK$117 million in 2017, and the gross profit margin
decreased from 32% in 2017 to 17% in 2018.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$29 million,
representing a 47% increase as compared to that of HK$20 million in
2017, mainly due to the increase of interest rate of deposit during the
Reporting Period as compared to the corresponding period in 2017,
causing a significant increase in interest income.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group were HK$40 million,
representing an increase of 15% as compared to that of HK$34 million
in 2017, mainly due to the agency fees incurred for the acquisition
during the Reporting Period.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results
of a joint venture was HK$52 million, recorded a substantial increase
as compared to the loss of HK$21 million in 2017, mainly due to the
increase of selling price of natural uranium, resulting in a substantial
increase in its profits.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Fission. The share of results of
an associate was HK$13 million, which includes share of loss for
the Reporting Period of HK$6 million and the reversal of long-term
investment impairment of HK$19 million, representing a significant
increase as compared to the loss of HK$16 million in 2017.

During the Reporting Period, part of the share options granted by
Fission to its directors and employees were exercised and 363,604
ordinary shares were issued, as a result, the equity interests in Fission
held by the Company decreased to 19.90% (31 December 2017:
19.92%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$17 million, representing
an increase of 7% as compared to that of HK$16 million in 2017,
mainly due to the increase of provision of income tax in relation to
the substantial increase in share of result of a joint venture during the
Reporting Period.

Profit for the year

The profit of the Group in 2018 was HK$101 million, representing an
increase of 95% as compared to that of HK$52 million in 2017, mainly
due to a substantial increase in share of results of the joint venture as
compared to 2017.

ASSETS CONDITION AND ANALYSIS

Total assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total assets amounted to
HK$1,862 million, representing an decrease of 3% as compared to
2017, mainly due to the decrease of trade receivables.

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to
HK$49 million, representing a decrease of 59% as compared to 2017,
mainly due to the decrease of trade payables.

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net current assets was
HK$1,074 million, representing an increase of 3% as compared to
2017, mainly due to the significant decrease of current liabilities during
the Reporting Period.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion angl :Analysis
EEENWmE DM

Current assets REBEE
Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
R12A31H & 2HHNL
Increase/ Increase/
2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20185 20176 i/ Cid)  Em/ORd)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TER
Trade and other receivables FEUER 7 R EL A U IR 19,708 128,900 (109,192) (85)
Amount due from an intermediate  FEUr— IR IR A R
holding company TIB 5,375 1,546 3,829 248
Bank balances and cash RITEERIRSE 1,071,159 1,017,111 54,048 5
Income tax recoverable EIEEREY 8,728 4,280 4,448 104
Total current assets MENEELTE 1,104,970 1,151,837 (46,867) ()

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current assets was HK$1,105
million, representing a decrease of 4% as compared to 2017, which
was mainly due to the receipt of all the down payment of natural
uranium sales during the Reporting Period, resulting in the significant
decrease in the trade and other receivables as compared to 2017.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount of bank balances
and cash of the Group was approximately HK$1,071 million,
representing an increase of HK$54 million year-on-year, among which
approximately 24% (31 December 2017: 30%) was denominated in
HK$, approximately 75% (31 December 2017: 68%) was denominated
in USD, and approximately 1% (31 December 2017: 2%) was
denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not
have any bank deposits and cash pledged to any banks (31 December
2017: Nil).

As at 31 December 2018, the proportion of current assets of the
Group over total assets was 59% (31 December 2017: 60%), and the
proportion of bank balances and cash over total assets was 58% (31
December 2017: 53%).

R2018F 12 A31 8 » AEBARBEES
1,105 B &BIT * B2017F R 4% ©
TEAARERNANDWEIRAHBED
PECENE - (IR AR RN EL R R
2017 FRIER D °
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BEEFNWE TN

Non-current assets

FRBEE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
M12A31R g EHESL
Increase/ Increase/
2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20185 20176 i/ Cid)  Em/ORd)

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR THT TERT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERE 14,319 16,529 (2,210) (13)
Investment properties REYE 30,359 31,427 (1,088) 3
Interest in a joint venture N—EEarE R 190,706 161,280 29,426 18
Interest in an associate RS E 2 ER 521,538 550,202 (28,664) (5)
Total non-current assets EREEERR 756,922 759,438 (2,516) (0.3)

As at 31 December 2018, the non-current assets of the Group were
HK$757 million, representing a decrease of 0.3% as compared to

MR2018F 12 A31H  KEBERHE
EATSTA BB T 82017 F R R D

2017. 0.3% o
Current liabilities REBEE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
MW12H31H # 2HADL
Increase/ Increase/
2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20185 20176 #Ei/CAd)  Em/ORd)

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FiE Fi# Fi#
Trade and other payables J§1‘T$E?K&H@JE1‘JL%’( 13,778 90,152 (76,374) (85)
Amount due to an intermediate e — R RrER A 6,132 6,490 (358) 6)

holding company

Amount due to a joint venture EN—EaEERE 5,513 5,513 — -
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  JEf R R B A BIZIE 1,668 1,212 456 38
Income tax payable FERER{SHL 4,246 4,047 199 5
Total current liabilities mENaEAEE 31,337 107,414 (76,077) (7)

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current liabilities were HK$31
million, representing a decrease of 71% as compared to 2017, mainly
due to the payment of all the down payment for natural uranium
purchases during the Reporting Period, resulting in the significant
decrease in the trade and other payables as compared to 2017.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no bank borrowings (31
December 2017: Nil). Pursuant to the loan agreement entered into
between the Company and CGNPC Huasheng on 18 December 2015,
the Company can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for short-term
capital within the limit of total borrowing from time to time within 3 years
after first withdrawal.

Non-current liability

As at 31 December

2018
20185
HK$’000

TR
18,126

EXHARE

Deferred tax liability

BEENWE DN

M2018F 12 A31 A XEERBBEAR
31THEBT  R017FRETME71%
FTEAARSHAND I NRABREN 2
BB AR - 5 FE AT R R R E A FE AN FRER
2017 FHERKNBERD -

RH2018F 12 A31 H » AEBEE((IRTT
BER(2017F 12 A31 H : #) - BEARQ
AR EZER P 2015F 12 A18 HEI 3L
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FRBEE

Percentage

Movements

M12A31R &

Increase/ Increase/
2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20176 #BI/CAd)  #m/ORd)
HK$'000 HK$'000 %

TERT TERT
13,106 5,020 38
13,106 5,020 38

FRBAEER

Total non-current liability

18,126

As at 31 December 2018, the non-current liability of the Group was
HK$18 million, representing an increase of 38% as compared to 2017,
primarily due to the increase of provision of income tax in relation to
the substantial increase in share of result of a joint venture during the
Reporting Period.

R2018F 12 A31H » AEE RIS EE
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Total equity DB

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
R12A31H # ZHAHL
Increase/ Increase/
2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20185 201746 i/ Cid)  Em/ORd)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

SR i85 FiE7
Share capital A% 66,007 66,007 - -
Reserves i 1,746,422 1,724,748 21,674 1
Total equity b gk 1,812,429 1,790,755 21,674 1

As at 31 December 2018, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$1,812 million, representing an increase of 1% as compared to
2017, mainly due to the increase of profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings/equity attributable to
owners of the Company) was 3% (2017: 7%).

Assets and investments

During the Reporting Period, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with China Uranium Development for
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in CGN Global, which was
completed on 17 January 2019.

Other than the abovementioned transaction, the Group did not have
any other significant equity investment, major acquisition or disposal.

Investment orientation

According to business positioning and development strategy of the
Group, the main investment direction of the Group is to acquire
overseas uranium resource projects with competitiveness and low
cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment activities as and
when appropriate to strengthen the assets of the Company.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

The Company adopts prudent capital and treasury policy and goals.
During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund was
mainly from the cash generated from operating activities. The capital
needs requirements of the Company mainly come from the possible
acquisition expenses of acquiring natural uranium resources and funds
for operation.

The financing capacity of the Company is affected by multiple external
and internal factors. In order to obtain financing on more favourable
terms, the Company has to understand the external financing
environment and adopts a reasonable financing model and strategies
based on its structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company constantly pays close attention to the trends in the
financial market, considers how to respond to internal and external
financial risks, formulates reasonable financing model and strategies to
ensure the safety and economical efficiency of financing, and adopts
strict management measures for debt risks to prevent related risks
exposed to the Company, and to facilitate the financial health and the
development of core business.

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market environment,
the Company has been exploring diverse financing approaches and
been striving to establish a financing model with combination of short,
medium and long-term capitals, merges direct financing and indirect
financing and other various financing channels to ensure the protection
of stable fund. In the process of debt financing, the Company has
taken a balanced approach to both costs and safety. The Company is
committed to the pursuit of a competitive financing cost rather than the
lowest one to ensure the security of financing and the quality of service
received.

For projects with large amount of capital expenditures and sound
expected returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity
financing to balance risks and enhance Shareholders’ value.
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BEEFNWE TN

Types of financing products

Diversified financing varieties would prevent the Company from relying
on a single financing channel, so as to ensure that the Company has
choices in meeting the different capital needs.

On 18 December 2015, the Company (as borrower) and CGNPC
Huasheng (as lender) entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to which
the Company can borrow short-term capital from CGNPC Huasheng
for short-term capital within the limit of total borrowing from time to
time within 3 years of first withdrawal. As at 31 December 2018, the
Company did not have any borrowing from external banks.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares in issue totally (31 December 2017: 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares), the market value of the Company was approximately
HK$1,580 million (31 December 2017: HK$4,160 million).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The development of the Group comes with various financial risks, such
as debt risk and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2018, there were no banking borrowings, other
borrowings or interest-bearing liabilities of the Company, reserving
more space for the Company to acquire overseas uranium resource
projects through debt financing.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In order to manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the
cash and cash equivalents and the unutilized credit, to ensure a
sufficient liquidity for the operation of the Company and to lower the
effect from the cash flow volatility. Management of the Company will
also keep an eye on the external borrowing, to ensure the sufficiency of
borrowing credit. As of 31 December 2018, the Company has undrawn
borrowing credit of USD300,000,000.

Exchange rate risk

The functional currency of the Company is USD. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of main business were mainly
settled in USD and RMB (2017: USD and RMB), while its cash was
mainly denominated in USD and HKD (2017: USD and HKD).

Fluctuations in exchange rate of Tenge and CAD may have an impact
on the Company’s interest in Semizbay-U and Fission respectively.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company always targets to
control cost rather than profitability. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not have any forward foreign exchange contracts, interests
or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes,
and the Group did not experience any significant difficulty or impact in
its operation or liquidity due to the fluctuation in exchange rate.

CONTINGENCY EVENTS

External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external
guarantee (2017: Nil). The Company did not provide any guarantee to
its subsidiaries or other companies, nor allow subsidiaries to provide
any form of guarantee to any entities or individuals without the approval
of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any pledge of
assets (2017: Nil).
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BEEENWR D

Contingent liability

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any major contingent
liability (31 December 2017: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirmed that there was no litigation, and it was not
aware of any pending or threatened litigation against the Company
which had or could have a material and adverse effect on the financial
condition or results of operations of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good
corporate governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality
Board, sound internal control, and transparency and accountability to
all Shareholders in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the
Company. We firmly believe that good corporate governance practice
can eamn the trust of Shareholders as well as other stakeholders, and
most importantly, preserve the long-term interests of the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Zhiping (“Mr. Yu”), aged 55, is currently the chairman of the
Board and serving as the chairman of CGNPC Uranium Development
and Swakop respectively. Mr. Yu joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint
Venture in 1989 and served as the deputy director (presiding) of the
generation scheduling division of the production department since
1998. He subsequently joined CGNPC and served as the planned
statistics manager of the development planning department, the
general secretary of the financial and economic affairs committee, the
director of the research centre and the general manager of the strategic
planning department from November 2000 to September 2009. Mr.
Yu served as the director and general manager of CGNPC-URC from
September 2009 to January 2018 and as the general manager of the
nuclear fuel division of CGNPC from February 2016 to January 2018.
Mr. Yu graduated with a bachelor degree of engineering mechanics
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology* (FErfR RHE A Z)
in 1985 and was accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 1995.
He has over 28 years of experience in corporate management and
nuclear fuel system operation.
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Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. An Junjing (“Mr. An”), aged 45, is currently the ED and chief
executive officer of the Company and serving as the general manager
of the nuclear fuel division of CGN Group and the director and general
manager of CGNPC-URC. Mr. An joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint
Venture in July 1996 and successively served as the head of the
general training division and assistant to director of the training centre
and the head of the general training division of Daya Bay Nuclear
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (Kan/EZBEZERERETA
7)) and the deputy general manager of Fangchenggang branch ([ 3
B /Aal) from March 2003 to December 2011. Mr. An served as the
manager of production department and subsequently as the assistant
to general manager of Guangxi Fangchenggang Nuclear Power Co.,
Ltd.* (EFR B E AR A T) from December 2011 to May 2014.
Mr. An served as the deputy director of the office of the board and
director of the research office of CGNPC from May 2014 to February
2016. He served as the deputy general manager (presiding) of the
system management department of CGNPC from February 2016 to
January 2018. Mr. An graduated with a bachelor degree of engineering
in nuclear and thermal energy utilization from Tsinghua University* (&
FEKE) in July 1996 and subsequently obtained a master degree of
engineering in nuclear and nuclear engineering from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University* (/82838 K 2 in June 2009. Mr. An was accredited
as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 2009.
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Executive Director

Mr. Chen Deshao (“Mr. Chen”), aged 44, is currently the ED and
chief financial officer of the Company and serving as the chief
accountant of the nuclear fuel division of CGNPC and CGNPC-
URC. Mr. Chen also serves as a director of Semizbay-U, Fission
and certain subsidiaries of CGNPC Uranium Development, including
China Uranium Development, Swakop and Energy Metals Limited
(an Australian listed company with stock code EME), etc. Mr. Chen
served as the deputy manager of the finance department of the
materials trading centre of Anhui Materials Corporation* (Z&¥& &
EA7F]) from July 1996 to December 2001. He subsequently joined
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Power Services Group Co., Ltd.”
(BR AL EZBREEFEGRAF) in December 2001. Mr. Chen
successively held positions of head of finance department, manager
of budget management, deputy director of budget department and
director of budget department of CGNPC from May 2007 to July
20183. He served as an assistant manager of the finance department
of China Nuclear Power Engineering Co., Ltd.* (&% T2 HR A7)
from July 2013 to June 2014 and the manager of finance department
of CGNPC-URC from June 2014 to January 2018. Mr. Chen graduated
with a bachelor degree of economics in accounting from Anhui
Finance and Trade College* (Z#(81 & £F5%) in June 1996 and a master
degree of accounting from Xiamen University* (EFIAE2) in 2012.
Mr. Chen obtained the senior accountant title of the PRC in 2008
and was accredited as a non-practicing member of China Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 2009. He has over 22 years of financial
management experience.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Sun Xu (“Mr. Sun Xu”), aged 53, is currently an NED of the
Company and also a director of CGN Energy International Holdings
Co., Limited (Fp B E1Z a8 R BIFR 1A% A R /A 7)) and a director of CGN
Energy Service Co., Ltd.” (R EZEfREEFEHR AR AF]). Mr. Sun
joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture in June 1990 and
served in management positions at various group members of CGN
Group. Since January 2011, Mr. Sun served as a full-time director of
CGN Group and has been a full-time director and a member of various
professional committees to various group companies in nuclear power,
nuclear fuel, new energy and other industries. Mr. Sun graduated
from the Asia International Open University (Macau)* (Ze1 (BF9)
B ABIAE(AIOU) in April 2001 with a master degree of business
administration (MBA). Mr. Sun was accredited as a senior economist
by CGNPC in September 2014.

Mr. Yin Xiong (“Mr. Yin”), aged 53, is currently an NED of the
Company. He has been serving as a full-time director of members of
CGN Group since April 2017. Mr. Yin joined CGN Group in September
2011, prior to which he held management positions in China National
Nuclear Corporation* (FFEIf#Z T 2422 7)) and government bureaux
in Sanya, Hainan Province. After joining CGN Group, he successively
served as the responsible person of some important departments
and/or senior management of CGNPC, Daya Bay Nuclear Power
Operations and Management Co., Ltd. *(KZ5/&1ZEiE L BB AR
& {2 7)) and Yangjiang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (5 IEBER A
a]). From January 2016 to April 2017, Mr. Yin served as an executive
director and general manager of Shenzhen Nengzhihui Power Sales
Co., Ltd.* (#YTee 2 EE NEEFPR AR, which is a electricity
sales company of CGN Group. Mr. Yin received a bachelor degree
of science in nuclear physics and nuclear technology from Lanzhou
University* (B /1 A £2) in July 1986 and a master degree of science in
July 1988. In addition, in May 2008, Mr. Yin received his Ph.D. degree
of management in business administration from Grenoble School of
Business in France. Mr. Yin was accredited as a senior engineer by
CGNPC in December 2010.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEREXARAR]

FHTES

BRBERE([FRELLE])  535% + BEARF
IEMITEE © RIRFETT BRI
BRERAR NP EZAEELZLERRA
RIEE - FALEMR1990F 6 A INAERZ
B THPEZEEZRKELERSE
EEEIRER - P 2011 F 1 BRRETPE
ZEBERES  BEZE - ZRE - #
BERMEMEXERKECHEEREER
HHEXEZEEE 8 - REEN2001 544
AEFERTEMNCEPI) BIFRAFAKZ (AIOU)
WETEHER (MBA)BLZEA - REER
201459 AR EZERB R RIRER=R
4ORERM o

BEE(TREE]D 535 REAR
BIIEMITES  B017TF4ARESE
TrREZEBEKEAREBRESR - BRLE
R2011F9 AMAFEZEE - AT EE
PR TEE N R MEREE = BT
BIETEERG - MATREZERE B’
SETEEBEPEZEENT - KEEiZ
BEEEEEREARA  BIKEAR
RASRTEZBMIEEAR LB RE
BAE - WE2016F1AE2017F 41
HREORYImE 2 BENHEEGR AR
(PEZEEETENHEEAR) HWITE
ERMBICIE o RIEEN 1986 F 7 AR
RERFZYBEZRINEHEIESEE 2
fiL - WHN1988F 7 A& I B EIBEE 2
i o LS+ BT AER 2008 4F 5 A A%
PDHEERNER THEREEETESE L
B WH2010F 12 BEFREZERR
RAIRE AT ER DR LTIZA -



Corporate Governance Report

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Qiu Xianhong (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 56, is currently an INED of the
Company. Mr. Qiu possess the qualification as a Certified Public
Accountant in the PRC and a senior accountant. Mr. Qiu serves as a
finance controller and the vice general secretary to China Institute of
Strategy and Management, an independent director of Qinhuangdao
Tolian Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. (28 KE¥HBETRHMERA
a]) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock
code 002459). Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Qiu was a partner
of Beijing QQCPA Accounting Firm, the deputy head of the financial
department and asset management department of China National
Packaging Corporation, and the deputy director of the financial
department of China Patent Bureau. Mr. Qiu graduated with a bachelor
degree in financial accounting from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics* (T FaEf 48 A 22). Mr. Qiu has over 31 years of experience in
financial accounting, financial management and auditing.

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 72, is currently an INED of the
Company. Mr. Gao also serves as an independent non-executive
director of CITIC Resources Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 01205). Mr
Gao was a deputy director of C & C Law Office in Beijing, a leading
law firm in China, between 1984 and 1993. Mr. Gao became a
partner of Clifford Chance, a leading international law firm, between
1998 and 2007. Following his retirement in 2007, he became a PRC
legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong Kong office. Mr. Gao has
extensive and diversified experience in a broad area of legal practices,
including banking and finance, direct investment (both inbound and
outbound from the perspective of the PRC) in the areas of energy,
natural resource and petrochemical projects. Mr. Gao has been
involved in the development of nuclear power projects since 1985,
including the development of Daya Bay nuclear power project, the
incorporation of the operating company for Daya Bay and Lingao
nuclear power plants and the development of the Taishan nuclear
power project (applying third generation technology). Mr. Gao holds a
LLM degree from the Law School of University of California, Berkeley.
He has been admitted to practice law in the PRC since 1984.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis (“Mr. Lee”), aged 51, is currently an
INED of the Company. Mr. Lee was admitted as a Certified Practising
Accountant of the CPA Australia in June 1996 and a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) in October 1999. Mr. Lee is currently a Fellow Certified
Practising Accountant of the CPA Australia and a Fellow Certified
Public Accountant of HKICPA. He has possessed over 26 years of
experience with unlisted groups, listed groups and professional firms in
finance, accounting and auditing. Mr. Lee is currently an independent
non-executive director of Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd. (listed on the
GEM Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 08292), Windmill
Group Limited ( listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code 01850), China Singyes New Materias Holdings Limited
(listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
08073) and Redsun Properties Group Limited (listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code 01996). Mr. Lee graduated with
a bachelor degree of economics from Macquarie University in Australia
in 1992.

BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. He Fei (“Mr. He”), aged 42, is currently the vice president of the
Company and serving as the vice general manager of CGNPC-URC
and the director of China Uranium Development, CGN Global, CGNM
UK LTD. (the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), etc. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. He held a position in the department
of international cooperation of the State Commission of Science,
Technology and Industry for National Defence, and was then appointed
to the French Atomic Energy Commission; and served successively
as the secretary of the general manager department of the general
office, secretary to the chairman of the board of the secretariat,
senior manager for business of Beijing business unit and director of
the business liaison office of the general office of CGNPC. Mr. He
graduated from the International Relations College* (¥R B1RZ2F5%)
with a bachelor degree of arts in English in 2000 and obtained a master
of law degree in civil and commercial law from Renmin University of
China* (FE AR KZ) in 2009. Mr. He has worked in the nuclear
power industry for an extensive period and developed extensive
understanding of the domestic and international nuclear power
industry, and has rich corporate management experience.
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Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”), aged 52, is currently the general
counsel and company secretary of the Company and serving as the
general counsel and secretary of board of directors of CGNPC-URC.
Ms. Zheng has served as the project manager of the Hong Kong
High Technology Development Management Company Limited* (&
BERIEREREIEGMR A T). She joined CGNPC in March 1999 and
subsequently worked in the finance department and development
planning department. Ms. Zheng served as the manager of planning
and finance department, financial representative and secretary of the
board of directors of Galaxy Captek Co., Ltd.* bt RERABIFT AR, a
subsidiary of CGN Group) from October 2002 to August 2006. She
served as the director of investment and legal department of CGNPC-
URC from August 2006 to October 2010 and was re-designated to
general counsel and secretary of board of directors of CGNPC-URC
from October 2010 to now . Ms. Zheng graduated from Zhejiang
University (471X £2) with a bachelor degree of engineering in industrial
automation in 1988 and obtained a master of science degree in
science and technology information from China Defense Science and
Technology Information Center (41 B B RH{Z 241 0)) in 1992, Ms.
Zheng possesses the qualification certificate for accounting of the PRC
and the Enterprise Legal Adviser Qualification Certificate of the PRC*
(FRE A ZEMEN B ). Ms. Zheng has 22 years of experience in
project investment and financial management, 17 years of experience
in corporate governance and 12 years of experience in management of
legal affairs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance practices

The Company’s corporate governance policy follows all code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report, except for the deviation from
the code provision disclosed below.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that, the independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors, as equal board
members, should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.

Except Mr. Yu Zhiping, Mr. An Junjing, Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei
Ji, and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis, other Directors were unable to attend
2018 AGM due to other business engagement.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standards of
securities transactions for the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board currently comprises 8 Directors, including 2 EDs, 3
NEDs and 3 INEDs. The composition of the Board is based on a
comprehensive consideration of the Directors’ professional skills,
working background and qualification. It shows the differentiated and
diverse arrangement of Directors. As at the date of this report, the
members of the Board are as follows:
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The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
“Biographies of Directors” of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and policy
of the Group and ensures there are sufficient capital and management
resources for the implementation of relevant strategies and the
completeness of the financial and internal control systems, and the
compliance of business operation with relevant legal requirements. Al
members of the Board have fulfilled their duties and acts in the best
interest of the Group and Shareholders. Unless otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, to the knowledge of the Company, there was
no financial, business, family and other material/related relationship
among members of the Board.

All Directors should comply with rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at all
times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have major interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted as in the quorum and voting
at the meeting. The Director may not be present during the discussion
on related matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association and the Corporate
Governance Code, all Directors are required to retire from office by
rotation once every three years. The Board complies with rules 3.10 (1)
& (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in relation to the appointment of
at least three INEDs, which represents at least one-third of the Board,
and one of the INEDs has appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise.

In accordance with the requirements of code provision C.2.1, the
Directors have conducted a review of the overall effectiveness of the
internal control systems of the Group and concluded that all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management are effective.
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Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision-marking body of the Company, the Board takes charge

of the corporate governance function. The major responsibilities of the

Board include the tasks stated below. The Board may delegate the

responsibilities to other committees as it thinks fit:

(@)

to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation
to the Company’s internal control, succession plans,
remuneration and compensation for Directors and employees,
risk management, corporate governance and corporate social
responsibility, and to supervise the implementation of such
policies conducted by the Company’s management;

investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and
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(i) to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its

obligations and responsibilities.

Major work performed by the Board as regards the corporate
governance function during the Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewing the “Internal Control Evaluation Report” of 2017;
2. reviewing and approving the internal audit plan of 2018;
3. reviewing and approving the major management system and

management optimization plan;

4. considering major matters in relation to major transactions and/
or connected transactions;

5. reviewing the Model Code for securities trading that Directors
are subject to;

6. reviewing and accepting the independence of INEDs; and

7. The chairman of the Board conducted a meeting with the INEDs
(without the presence of other Directors and management).

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman and the chief executive officer, are
required to retire from office by rotation once every three years and are
subject to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting
in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Articles of Association provides details in
relation to the procedures of election and appointment of the Directors.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any further re-appointment
of an INED who has served the Board for more than 9 years will be
subject to separate resolution to be approved at general meeting.

Besides, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association, Directors
appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next
general meeting after their appointment, and shall be subject to re-
election at general meetings.
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All Directors will enter into a director service contract with the Company
immediately after their appointment for a term of two years and subject
to retirement and re-election of at least once every three years. The
contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations of Directors.
All Directors understand they have joint responsibility towards all
Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and development of
the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’ duties according
to the director service contract and relevant laws and regulations. Al
Directors confirm that they provide sufficient time and effort in company
affairs, express their views cautiously and diligently and fulfill their
Directors’ duties.

The procedures and process of appointment and re-election of
directors are laid down in the Articles of Association. The nomination
committee is responsible for reviewing the board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of the INEDs.

Directors’ Interests

As recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of part XV of the SFO, none of the Directors held any Shares of the
Company or associated companies during the Reporting Period.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package related
to the laws in relation to directors of a listed company and their duties,
which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5, directors should participate in
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.
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During the Reporting Period, a summary of training taken by the
Directors of the Company is set out as follows:

Type of

training

BIES

Directors

48

EDs PITES

Mr. An Junjing (appointed on 25 January 2018) ZEFERAE (R2018F 1 B 25 BERT) b

Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed on 25 January 2018) PRIEARS A (JA20184F1 A 25 HEER(T) a

Mr. Xing Jianhua (resigned on 25 January 2018) FRELA (R2018F 1 A 25 HEHT) N/AZiE F
NEDs FHITES

Mr. Yu Zhiping (re-designated as a NED on 25 January 2018)  &EF k4 (2018451 B 25 HAMEFHITEE) a

Mr. Fang Chunfa (resigned on 16 November 2018) HEEREE (R 2018411 A16 HEHT) b

Mr. Zhang Chengbai (resigned on 16 November 2018) SRAGASLAE (R 20184 11 A 16 HEHT) b

Mr. Sun Xu (appointed on 16 November 2018) LA (R2018F 11 A 16 BEZR(E) a

Mr. Yin Xiong (appointed on 16 November 2018) BRI 5E4E (R 2018 11 B 16 BEZR(T) a

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (resigned on 25 January 2018) R4 (2018 FF 1 B 25 HEHT) N/A 7N R
INEDs BUkHTES

Mr. Qiu Xianhong BB Stk s a

Mr. Gao Pei Ji =IEESE a

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis FEIfREE a

a. Attending training seminars in person/via video; on 16 November 2018, a: HEARIE2INIEERE - ARA RN 20184

the Company held a training session for Directors, which covered the
overview and prospects of capital market and enlightenment from
global mining capital market.

b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business or to
the Directors’ duties and obligations, including 2019 Listing Rules and
other regulatory update materials.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should not be performed by the same individual.
During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company were Mr. Yu Zhiping (Mr. Zhou
Zhenxing was the chairman of the Board before 25 January 2018)
and Mr. An Junjing (Mr. Yu Zhiping was the chief executive officer
before 25 January 2018), respectively. The chairman is responsible
for ensuring that the Board performs its duties properly under good
corporate governance practices and procedures; the chief executive
officer is responsible for managing the affairs of the Group with the
support of the EDs and management team, including executing the
main strategies and measures adopted by the Board.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of them possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on
the expertise and experience of each of the Director, the Directors
provide independent judgment and advise on the Company’s
management. The number of NEDs representing more than half of
the Board members, which helps the Company to make objective
and independent judgment and decision. The advice of NEDs shall be
considered as major advice, in case where the conflicts of interest of
related matters arises.

Each INED has made an annual confirmation of independence in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that, all INEDs meet the independent guidelines as set out in rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, and that they are independent.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”) has been appointed as joint company
secretary since 1 June 2014. Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”), another
joint company secretary of the Company, resigned on 30 August
2018. Therefore, Ms. Zheng has been the sole company secretary
of the Company since 30 August 2018. The role of the company
secretary is to support the chairman of the Board, the Board and
relevant committees, to ensure smooth communications and timely
transmission of information. At the same time, the company secretary
plays an important role such as to ensure the Board meetings
are convened in accordance with laws and regulations, and the
Board’s decisions are executed correctly. The company secretary
is an important communication bridge between the Company and
Shareholders, it also assists the Board to perform the responsibility to
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Zheng
has received no less than 15 hours professional training during the
Reporting Period.
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BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least 4 regular Board meetings held every year, and an ad
hoc Board meeting is convened when necessary. In addition to acting
by written resolutions, Directors participated in the meetings either
in person, by proxy or through electronic means of communications.
Board members have full access to the business development of the
Company at the meetings at regular interval.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given to all
Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters in the agenda
for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying board papers
were sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the meetings.

During the Reporting Period, there were altogether four (4) Board
meetings and two (2) ad hoc Board meetings held by the Company.
The attendance of each Director at the Board meeting and relevant
committee meetings are as follows:

ETERFREBLERR

ExeEFE)AMARENESTS SR
ERBERARGREZTSEH - [REB
EEARRZERERI EETEBRE
HERZERREFEINEFBATAR
e EEENBEAREHR LLEMEE
R RAIRBEREMMN ©

FrEEHESEERICAMBEESHD
ROVABRBEA - BEEERSEZRIET
IMAFEA T o RERAHE AR
MEEEXHNEAGFANRL 3 HEX
EfRES -

HEHA  ARPHAARO@)RERES
SEMRABHESS  SEFHLRES
SERLEBREEEENBRAOT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Board
Position

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing
(resigned on 25 January 2018)
ARESLE
(201841 A 25 BEHE)

Former NED, chairman of both the 0N
Board and nomination committee
AIFENTES B2 NREZERLR

Mr. Yu Zhiping NED, chairman of both the Board 6/6
and nomination committee and member
of the remuneration committee

RETRE HYNEF BERLE REZEGIR

BFFMEEEZE

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

Meeting*
B £

HRERE 2RETAY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
BRZEE FMESE REZE8
N/A N/A 01
TER TER
N/A 2/2 3/3
TER



Mr. An Junjing
(appointed on 25 January 2018)
ZBERE
(R20184 1 A 25 REZ)

Mr. Xing Jianhua
(resigned on 25 January 2018)
FRERE
(7201841 A 25 AEHE)

Mr. Chen Deshao
(appointed on 25 January 2018)
BREmEE
(201851 A 25 AEZ ()

Mr. Fang Chunfa
(resigned on 16 November 2018)
NEERE
(12018 11 A 16 BBHT)

Mr. Zhang Chengbai
(resigned on 16 November 2018)
REMAEE
(20185 11 A 16 BHH)

Mr. Sun Xu
(appointed on 16 November 2018)
Fnasxs
(20185 11 A 16 AEZ()

Corporate Governance Report
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Board

Position Meeting*

Bf Eze

ED and member of both the nomination committee 5/6
and remuneration committee

Hi1E% REZEERENFHMEREZE

Former ED and member of 0N
the remuneration committee
ARTEERHNEESZE

ED 5/6

HIES

Former NED and member 5/6
of the audit committee

AFRTESRENZEENE

Former NED 3/6
AFENTES
NED and member of the audit committee 11

IMITESRENEREEZE

HERE/ SRETAY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee

ENZAE ¥HZEE REZEE

N/A 0 12
TER
N/A 0n N/A
TR MR
N/A N/A N/A
TaR TERm TER
474 N/A N/A
TER TR
N/A N/A N/A
TER TER MR
N/A N/A N/A
TaR TER TER
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE, ERETAH

Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination

Position Meeting* Committee Committee Committee

R  E3-4 ENZEE yMzEg REZEE

Mr. Yin Xiong NED 11 N/A N/A N/A

(appointed on 16 November 2018) TR TR TER
RiErE FITES

(R2018E 11 16 AERT)

Mr. Qiu Xianhong INED, chairman of both the audit committee and 6/6 4/4 212 33
the remuneration committee and member of
the nomination committee

il e BUFNTES BREEEER

FMZEeIRNRAZEEZE

Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of both the remuneration committee 6/6 N/A 212 33
and the nomination committee TER

REERE BUFHTES HMEEEZE
RiR2ZEEZE

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis INED, member of the audit committee, the remuneration ~ 6/6 4/4 212 33
committee and the nomination committee

FEFEE BUFHTEE BEREBEZR

FHZREZERRLZREZE

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial AEBTERAIESFAIENNZE
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter would be considered and X BHEFTEBLNZHEEAETESRL
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by /& + MIEAEZERZEIE - THFEEAF
written resolution. Other Directors and INEDs with no material conflict HERMHMES KB IEMITESIGH
of interest would be present at meetings dealing with such conflict. FEBEESEE -

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability RArEHESR e g ERrEEITE
insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors. EHENESRaRERABREARRBE
REHE ©

52 CGN Mining Company Limited
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DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business

management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates matters

reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved matters

include, among other things:

1.

the business development and planning;

corporate policies;

financial planning;

investment planning;

annual budget;

major disposals and acquisitions;

major connected transactions;

appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior
management;

other significant operational and financial matters.

D essagp s

EEERIEERCTERIE

EXeRENREFLERASBNER
B~ REORE - REAREH -

EEGCHIEEMOEEECR 5B
FEETESGHEAHENEE - HHF
EEEERENENETEEE

1. FIEBERLIRE

2. UNCINES

3. BISARE

4, BRERE

5. FERE :

6. FTEHERNEEE

7. FEBERS

8. B RAWENRAEMEREERE
ZRIT

9. HihBREEMUHEEE -

Annual Report 2018
—Z— \FFHK

53



54

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

In addition to work relating to corporate governance function, other

major work performed by the Board during the Reporting Period

includes:

1.

10.

11.

approving the 2018 business plan and budget planning;

approving the Directors’ report, audited financial statements
and auditor’s report for the year ended 31 December 2017;

approving the unaudited interim results for the period ended 30
June 2018;

considering the payment of dividend for the year ended 31
December 2017;

considering not to declare dividend for the interim period as at
30 June 2018;

proposing the re-election of Directors and the authority of the
Board to fix the remuneration of the Directors to be approved
at the 2018 AGM,;

proposing the share issue and repurchase general mandate to
be approved at the 2018 AGM,;

proposing the re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited as the auditors of the Company and the authority of the
Board to fix the auditor’s remuneration to be approved at the
2018 AGM,;

reviewing matters relating to the adjustment of Directors and
senior management;

approving the sale and purchase agreement entered into by
the Company and China Uranium Development in relation to
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in CGN Global and
transactions thereunder;

holding a symposium on the strategic development of the
Company.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is delegated
to the senior management. Certain authorities are also granted to
relevant Board committee, the granted authorities and responsibilities
are reviewed by the Board from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board of the Company,
which are audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, respectively, with its terms of reference established. Each
specific committee performs on specific area, provides comments and
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company is delegated by the Board to
exercise its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2018, the audit committee of the Company
comprised a NED, namely Mr. Sun Xu, and two INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu
Xianhong (chairman) and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the audit committee is basically to assist the Board in
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems
of the Group, and oversee the audit process. The audit committee
also serves as a focal point for communication, among Directors, the
external auditors, and the management as regards financial reporting,
internal control and the auditing.

Major work performed by the audit committee during the Reporting
Period includes:

1. assessing the independence and objectivity of external
auditors;
2. reviewing the internal control and risk management systems of

the Company;

3. reviewing the audited annual results for the year ended 31
December 2017; and

4. reviewing the unaudited interim results for the period ended 30
June 2018.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
audit committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2018, the remuneration committee of the
Company comprised one NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping, one ED, namely
Mr. An Junjing, and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong (chairman),
Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the remuneration committee is basically to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
of all remuneration of EDs, NEDs and senior management and review
the remuneration packages of the EDs and senior management with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives.

Major work performed by the remuneration committee during the
Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewing the management’s remuneration packages for the
year 2018, with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
formulated by the Board; and

2. making recommendations to the Board as to the determination
of Directors’ remuneration.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the
members of the senior management (excluding the Directors) by band
during the Reporting Period is set out below:

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Remuneration band (HK$)

FriMsEE (BT)

0 — 1,000,000
1,000,001 — 1,500,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2018, the nomination committee comprised a
NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman), an ED, namely Mr. An Junjing
and three INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee
Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the nomination committee is basically to review and
formulate the nomination procedure as regards the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of Directors; review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and make recommendations or
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the corporate
strategy; and make recommendation to the Board on candidates for
appointment as Directors. The nomination committee follows rigorous
selection procedure in choosing the right person as a member of the
Board. Various criteria such as appropriate professional knowledge,
experience, skills and possible contribution of the candidate will be
considered.
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During the Reporting Period, major work performed by the nomination
committee includes:

1. reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

2. reviewing the terms of reference of the nomination committee
and their effectiveness in the discharge of their duties and
considering the need for any changes;

3. making recommendations to the Board as to nomination of
Directors for re-election at the 2018 AGM,;

4. making recommendations to the Board as to the change of the
Board and Board committee members;

5. making recommendations to the Board as to the re-designation
of Directors; and

0. assessing the independence of INEDs.

Board Diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”. The Company
recognises the merits of Board diversity and sees the edge of
Board diversity in driving competitiveness. In making up the Board’s
composition, the Board considers various skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other attributes of the Board
members. All Board appointments are based on the talent, skill and
experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as to meet
the operational needs.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest. The
management of the Company at each level assesses and reports
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system by
performing reviews. Internal control department reports to the audit
committee once a year on key findings regarding internal controls.
Audit committee, in turn, communicates any material issues regarding
internal control system to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee conducted a review
on the effectiveness of the internal control system, and no serious
deficiencies were identified. Therefore, the Board considered that the
internal control systems of the Group are effective, and complied with
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the HKFRSs have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The Board is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited acknowledged
its reporting responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance
Code. The auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent
auditor’s report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid by the Company
to the auditor, Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliate
company, is set out as follows:

Services rendered FriR A PR 7%
Audit services ENZRTS
Non-audit services IEEIZ R

The significant amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose from
tax service, interim review, continuing connected transactions and in
relation to the circular for acquisition projects.

SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
status and effective exercise of their own rights, the Company
convenes general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles
of Association. During the Reporting Period, one (1) general meeting
was held, namely the 2018 AGM. The attendance of each Director is
set out as follows:

BB &
BEHRANR BN GERBEE KT (E
) BEENEBMAR DA RE BB QR
SRS T

Fees paid/payable
B ENANER

(HK$’000)
(F#&m)
1,370
853

FEZRBPIELENERNERRARBR
% - PHEIEED - FHERER H R BERA
THREAEYIE B o

e E VN

RRERARMERREZE FEMANE
BT B S HIRER - AR FRIEEIZ4
AMRESFERARRARE - REHA -
ARRBFITT—N)ABRRAEFRE B
018FREBEFAE - EFHEB RN
T

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (resigned on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Yu Zhiping REFRE

FEIRESE 4 (FA20184E 1 A 25 ABHT)

HERS, SERETAY

N/ATEH
1/1

Mr. An Junjing (appointed on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Xing Jianhua (resigned on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Fang Chunfa (resigned on 16 November 2018)
Mr. Zhang Chengbai (resigned on 16 November 2018)
Mr. Sun Xu (appointed on 16 November 2018)

Mr. Yin Xiong (appointed on 16 November 2018)

Mr. Qiu Xianhong

Mr. Gao Pei Ji

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

CGN Mining Company Limited
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, on the requisition
of one or more Shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up share capital of the
Company having the right to vote at general meetings, the Directors are
obliged to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and deposited at the registered office of the Company
in Cayman lIslands and/or the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the purposes of
the meeting and sign the requisition letter.

If the Directors do not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the company
secretary, Ms. Zheng Xiaowei, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Rm 1903, 19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031

3. By email: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Voting by poll

Pursuant to rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and article 72 of the Articles
of Association, any votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll, except where the chairman decides to allow a
resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter
to be voted by a show of hands.
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Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholder of
the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a
right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or ii) not
less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the expense of the
requisitionists:

a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for
the attention of the company secretary not less than 6 weeks before
the general meeting, and in case of a requisition requires notice of a
resolution, or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any
other requisition.

Change in Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, there is no significant change in
constitutional documents of the Company.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

The Company has initially established a relatively comprehensive
risk management system. With reference to relevant risk
management requirements of the “Risk Management —
Principles and Guidelines” of ISO31000:2009 standard and the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company effectively identified,
tracked and controlled the risks. It also strictly facilitated the
Comprehensive Risk Management Policy. Meanwhile, the Company
classified the overall risk business into three levels, namely major
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operating risk, specific risk and general risk, and clearly defined risk
management process respectively. The Board, management, the risk
management department and business departments were responsible
for their relevant duties within risk management to ensure the efficient
operation of the system.

Internal audit

During the Reporting Period, according to the 2018 internal audit plan,
the Audit Department carried out a series of audits on connected
transaction management, risk management assessment and
internal control evaluation among which the connected transaction
management audit project was conducted by external professional
strength. A total of 8 audit questions were found in the above audit
projects, with 8 audit recommendations proposed and 6 rectification
plans issued. The implementation of the abovementioned specific
audits effectively tested the operation of related fields, strengthened
the risk monitoring and helped the internal audit play a positive role
in risk management improvement and internal control improvement,
thus ensuring the Company’s operations in compliance with laws and
regulations.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information as set out in the information disclosure policy which
contains the detailed procedures to ensure that inside information
could be identified timely and remain confidential until the disclosure of
such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of
such information is effectively and consistently made.

HUMAN CAPITAL

We have built up an excellent team of management and professional
talents, with the guidance and value of treasuring, caring for and
optimizing talents to support the sustainable development of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 24 employees, 14 of
these employees were located in China, 8 in Hong Kong and 2 in
Kazakhstan. For further information about staff remuneration, please
refer to the relevant contents in notes 14 and 15 of the consolidated
financial statements.
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TEERRE
TALENTS

Employee composition

Among the Company’s existing workforce, management and
professional and technical personnel accounted for 29% and 71%,
respectively; the Company has a highly educated workforce, of which
38% have master degree and 63% have undergraduate degree; and
employees with mid-level or above work qualification(s) account for
75% of the total employees.

Employment Mechanism
Path of development

The Company respects growth and career development of each
employee. The Company has set two paths of career development,
namely the management and the professional technology path, and
has established the switch mechanism between the two paths. Staff
can freely choose from the two career development paths and show
their talents. Meanwhile, the Company provides guidance to staff to set
up their personal career development plan, so as to help them to make
rapid career growth.

Internal talent market

For better use of the ability and expertise of each employee, the
Company established the internal talent market. The vacancies of
the Company will be filled by internal talents firstly, through which the
aspiration of individual employees can be better realized and optimized
the allocation of internal human resources, thus to accomplish the
improvement of both the Company and employees.

Evaluation System

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives could be effectively
implemented, we have established a both incentive and restraint
mechanism, and tends to guide employees’ conducts by way
of continuous communication, feedback and improvement. The
Company established a complete performance management
system by following the steps of communication, coaching, tracking
and assessment during the formation and implementation of the
performance plan, so as to reach the expected performance results,
and promotes the co-development of the Company and staff.
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Cultivating talents

The Company adheres to the concept of “cultivating prioritizes
training”, follows the principle of “authorized employment, full-time
training and lifelong education”, and the “business traction” strategy,
and draws on the experience of CGN Group on internationalization and
industrialization-oriented personnel training. We will deepen the sharing
of resources in three places (Hong Kong, Beijing and Shenzhen),
formulate and continually optimize the rolling plans and supporting
systems for management cadres and key positions, forming a
standardized and efficient independent talent training system.

Training resources

With close combination of its business needs, the Company will give
full play to its own advantages. It has established a comprehensive
training system for all employees, covering management cadres, key
positions and internationalized talent pools. It has developed four basic
safety authorization courses on the basis of further improving the ten
authorized courses on the nuclear fuel cycle, namely uranium mining,
conversion and enrichment, component manufacturing, spent fuel
reprocessing and natural uranium trade. At the same time, relying on
the extensive training teachers of CGN Group, we have shared nearly
100 courses and more than 2,000 online courses, effectively meeting
the rapid development and talent training needs of the Company.

Remuneration system

Combined with the characteristics of the industry, the Company
constructed a competitive remuneration system which appeals to
quality talents and motivates employees effectively. The remuneration
system reflects the value of positions and individual contribution
and encourages long-term service of employees, jointly striving for
continuous growth and sustainable development of the Company and
sharing the results of corporate development. Remuneration is mainly
composed of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time pay,
allowance and subsidy and benefits.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is mainly engaged in development and trading of natural
uranium. The principal businesses of our subsidiaries include trading
of natural uranium and investment of natural uranium resources. An
analysis of the Group’s business for the year is set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located in Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2018 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 117 and 118 of the annual report.

The Board recommended a payment of final cash dividend of HKO0.5
cents per share for the year 2018 to Shareholders as of the record date
for payment of dividend (2017: HKO.2 cents per share).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
allowing Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Directors may from time to time determine and pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The
Board may recommend the payment of final dividends which are
required to be approved by Shareholders in general meetings.

The ratio of final dividend distribution for the end of the year is based
on the various factors such as business performance of the Company,
including future cash commitments and investment needs to sustain
long-term business growth and subject to not less than 20% of
distributable profits of continuing business.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2018 and
its analysis are set out in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” to this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the Reporting Period, the
Group’s exposure to potential risks and uncertainties, significant
events after the end of the Reporting Period, business prospects,
financial performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” to this annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period
are set out on pages 121 and 122 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 17 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, the Company didn’t issue or hold any
convertible bonds.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, Directors
of the Company are as followed:

EDs

Mr. An Junjing (Chief Executive Officer, appointed on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed on 25 January 2018)
Mr. Xing Jianhua (resigned on 25 January 2018)

NEDs

Mr. Yu Zhiping (Chairman, and re-designated from an ED to a NED
on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Sun Xu (appointed on 16 November 2018)

Mr. Yin Xiong (appointed on 16 November 2018)

Mr. Fang Chunfa (resigned on 16 November 2018)

Mr. Zhang Chengbai (resigned on 16 November 2018)

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (resigned on 25 January 2018)

INEDs

Mr. Qiu Xianhong
Mr. Gao Pei Ji
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such general
meeting. On 16 November 2018, Mr. Sun Xu and Mr. Yin Xiong was
appointed as a NED. All of them are eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Chen
Deshao, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis will retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation), in respect of all Directors who are proposed and
offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENT

No contract, transactions and arrangement of significance to which
the Company, any of its holding companies, or any of subsidiaries of
the above-mentioned companies was a party, in which a Director of
the Company had a material interest, subsisted during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 35 and
40 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately HK$723 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

None of the Company or its subsidiaries redeemed any of its shares,
nor has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the
Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “2010 Share
Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 2 June 2010. The 2010 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years and will expire on 1 June 2020. After the adoption
of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, no share option was granted.

The 2010 Share Option Scheme

The following disclosure is a summary of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme as required by chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

(1) Purpose:

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to eligible participants (as defined
below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

2) Participants:

The eligible participants of the 2010 Share Option Scheme to
whom option(s) may be granted by the Board shall include any
employees, NEDs, Directors, suppliers, customers, advisors,
consultants, joint venture partners and any shareholders of any
members of the Group or any invested entities or any holders
of any securities issued by any members of the Group or any
invested entities.

CGN Mining Company Limited
FEZEEAR AT

BE - HEIEEAQXTAHN L
™ £

AR REMEB R RN HRE AL
ERED > TEREXHEARF EEHHX

,T/\ °

BT

ANAFR20109 6 A2 HERITHREESF
Ne RPN —TERERERTE([2010F B
T2 - BREA10F » 1572020 4F
6 A1 BEIAR - RIERAN2010F R IR iERT &
& - EIERERD -

2010 EE R AERTE

AT RIRE ERRBIE17ZHKEN 2010
FRERETEIBE

(1) A -

2010 B ERTEI Z B RER
RAAAAER2EE(ERERT
O R - (FREE N EE
WEHARB R REFA TE AR
TEHHERL -

@  2EE:

AEEEER THERE 220105
BRESEHASER2HEERELRE
BTk 8 AR AR EER
ZIEE - EHITESE  EF - H#E
R B BRA AR
ER R R SR AE B K
B ARSI E B BAEITHE
AFEHZAAFBEA o

=) ,[Inn



)

()

()

©)

Total number of shares available for issue under the 2010 Share
Option Scheme and percentage of issued share capital at the
date of approval of the share option scheme:

The number of shares which can be issued is 155,105,699
shares representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the 2010
Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including exercised, canceled and outstanding options) to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not
exceed one percent (1%) of the then total issued share capital
of the Company.

The periods within which the shares must be taken up under an
option:

An option shall be exercisable in whole or in part and in
accordance with the terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each grantee, which period may commence on
the day on which the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than ten (10) years commencing
from the date the Board makes an offer of the grant of an option
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised:

Unless the Directors otherwise determine and state in the offer
of the grant of options to an eligible participant, there is no
minimum period for which an option granted under the 2010
Share Option Scheme must be held before it can be exercised.
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The amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
and the period within which payments of calls must or may be
made or loans for such purpose must be paid:

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible
participant within twenty-eight (28) days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

Subject to the adjustment made in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price in respect
of any particular option shall be such price as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion at the time of making the offer of
grant of an option (which shall be stated in the letter containing
the offer of grant of an option) but in any case the exercise price
must be at least the highest of () the closing price of shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a trading day;
(i) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The remaining life:

The 2010 Share Option Scheme will expire on 1 June 2020 and
has a remaining life of approximately 1 year and 3 months.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 14 and

15 of the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY WEBSITE

WWW.CgNMC.com
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(a)

(b)

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in the
part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and
8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein.

Substantial Shareholders’ interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2018, according to the register of
substantial Shareholders kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to, or can
be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors,
the following persons/entities, other than a Director or chief
executives of the Company, had an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Name of Shareholder

RRER

China Uranium Development (Note 1)

PEIShE B (M)

CGNPC - URC (Notes 1 &2)
FREZRERR (1 Rk2)

CGNPC (Notes 1 & 2)
FEZEENE (M1 R2)

Hong Kong Xinmao

BREX

Hainan Mining (Note 3)
B (M 3)

Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment
Co., Ltd.
HEERERREFRAR

Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)

Co., Ltd.
LEEERME(RE)BRARF

Fosun International Limited
EEEEAERAR

Fosun Holdings Limited
BEERER A

Fosun International Holdings. Ltd.
EERRERERAF

Guo Guangchang

HES

Hainan Haigang Group Co., Ltd.
AR EHERERAA

State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of
Hainan Province

BEEBREREELREEEREE

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

Capacity
&

Beneficial owner

ExfAA

Interest in a controlled corporation
AR

Interest in a controlled corporation
RErEER

Beneficial owner

EafiBA

Interest in a controlled corporation
RErEER

Interest in a controlled corporation

RIEEEER

Interest in a controlled corporation
RrEER

Interest in a controlled corporation

REEEER

Interest in a controlled corporation
AR

Interest in a controlled corporation
RErERER

Interest in a controlled corporation
AR

Interest in a controlled corporation
REEEER

Interest in a controlled corporation
R rERER

Number of
shares

KG#E
4,288,695,652 (L)

4,288,695,652 (L)

4,288,695,652 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
REHAR DL

64.97% (L)

64.97% (L)

64.97% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)



Notes:

1. The long positions represent (i) the 4,278,695,652 Shares held
by China Uranium Development; and (i) the 10,000,000 Shares
outstanding charged (pursuant to the share charge dated
1 April 2011, 45,000,000 Shares were charged by Perfect
Develop Holding Inc., a company established by the directors
of the preceding controlling shareholders of the Company, in
favor of China Uranium Development, of which 225,000,000
Shares, 180,000,000 Shares and 35,000,000 Shares were
released on 18 February 2014, 31 May 2016 and 10 April
2018 respectively, the remaining 10,000,000 Shares were still
charged in favor of China Uranium Development).

2. CGNPC-URC holds 100% of the issued share capital of
China Uranium Development. CGNPC holds 100% of the
equity interests of CGNPC-URC. Therefore, it is deemed to be
interested in the interest held by China Uranium Development.

3. According to the information available on the Stock Exchange
website, Hainan Mining is the sole shareholder of Hong Kong
Xinmao, and is indirectly held as to 35% by Hainan Haigang
Group Co., Ltd. and 54% by Shanghai Fosun High Technology
(Group) Co., Ltd., respectively.

4. The letter “L” denotes the person’s/entity’s long position in the
shares.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as at 31 December 2018 who had an interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company, any
holding companies or subsidiaries, or any fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement enables the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEBERS

The Group entered into the following continuing connected AREHE FTRETEMNBEEATER L
transactions with the connected persons as defined in the Listing THFERER S - WIEHRIERH
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with the BX5 EHANBEBESSINHITIE
agreed terms. The execution of the continuing connected transactions AT

during the Reporting Period are set out as below.

Annual cap, actual

Transaction  Connected transaction amount/
Name of agreement, partiesof  transaction Nature of transaction maximum balances
date and existing term theGroup  parties and description Pricing basis EELRER
{528 RERAESR KEERGE  BELAHS RARERER ERER RpLH/RENE
1 TheNewNatural Uranium Sales ~ The Company  CGNPC-URC Group  The sale of natural uranium - the price per pound of naturel uranium shal be efermind with reference to HK$2,520,000,000/
Framework Agreement was fo OGNPC-URC Group by - the arithmetic average prices of the long-term price index published by UG HK$35,916,000
entered info on 6 December 2016, the Group and Tradk Tech in the second month prior to the delivery month, subjgct to
wih aterm from 1 January 2017 1o afloor price and a celing price.
31 December 2019
(RRSEEERDE 0 207 PEUASEREE AREUERMATYR RMUSEERAZZUCKTdeTecn RRAANNE_BANKER 2520000000787/
E12A6BATT AN 017 fisERsE RESNEITAR - ERRHERRERS 3,916,007
1R1BE09% 124518
2 TheNew Financial Senvice The Company ~ CGNPCHuasheng  The Groupmayplace  The interest payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the Company shell be equal 1SD480,000,000/
Framework Agreement was depostsin CGNPC o or higher than (1) the relevant nterest rate offered by CGNPC Huasheng USD203,899,591
entered nfo on 6 December 2016, Huasheng and gain o other members of the OGN Group in simiar arrangement; and (2) the
with a term from 1 January 2017 to nterestincome, CGNPC  dleposits interest rate as announced by other independent commercia
31 December 2019 Huasheng provides banks in Hong Kong from time to time in simier amangement.
setflement senvice and

grants loans and faclities  Setflement and simir senvices fees shall b (1) equalto or lower than the

(f necessary) to the setflement and simiar services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to ofher

Company. menmbers of the OGN Group in settlement services amangements; and (2
equal o or lower than the setllement and simiar senvices fees &S announced
by other indepenaent commercial banks in Hong Kong from time to time for
setflement and simiar senices provided by CGNPC Huasheng.

(FHBREERGZIN06E K07 RRiEE IEEURRINGRAE DREEENRAANSASN AN (| ERERRR RS HB000000%7/

12ABRT BIE: 017%1 - URRREHEN BETARRRAARMINE : ROBRAMBURRRIERELS Rk hESH
F1BENNFRASA A« RROERRALT AARHERH -

RREERBREARE

REHEARS .  GERRERBRR(SNAERT I ERELE R
REETAMAROANE LEERRBREER  ROSNAEREE
BURRBINRUEERE LERRERE TR RAERAER
G Gl
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Annual cap, actual

Transaction  Connected transaction amount/

Name of agreement, parties of transaction Nature of transaction maximum balances

No.  date and existing term theGroup  parties and description Pricing basis EELR BB
Bs WETR RERERER KRERRE  BERANE RAHERHER EEER RAtH/BEkE
3 The Domestic Financial Senice  The Company OGN Finance CGN Finance provides  The interest payable by GGN Finance to the Company shal be equalto or 1SD480,000,000/
Framework Agreement the Group with domestic  higher than (1) the interest rates prescribed by the Peaple’s Bank of China USD130,907

financial senvicesinthe  for the same type of depositin the same period; (2) the depost interest rates

PRC, incluaing deposts,  offered by Agricultural Bank of Ching, Bank of China, China Construction  Such annual cap s included in

loans, financing and Bank and Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (the “China’s Big-Four  the annuel cap under the New

setflement senvices. Commercial Banks) to the service recipient for the same type of deposit ~ Financial Service Framework
inthe same period: and (3) the depost interest rates provided by the CGN Agreement
Finance to the OGN for the same type of depositin the same perod.

The interest rates for loans and financing receivable by CGN Finance shal
De equal to or ower than (1) the interest rates prescribed by the People’s
Bank of China for the same type ofloan i the same perod; (2) the loan
interest rates charged by Ching's Big-Four Commercial Banks to the senice
reciplent for the same type of loan in the same period; and (3] the loan
interest rates charged by CGN Finance to the OGN for the same type of loan
In the same period.

The fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of settlement services
shall be in compliance with the fees standard prescribed by the People’s
Bank of China or the China Banking Regulatory Commission in respect of
such senices. f no such fees standardis avaiable, the service fees shallnot
higher than (1) the fees charged by China’s Big-Four Commercial Banks or
other financial institutions in the PRC for the same type of financial senices;
and (2) the fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of simiar type of
financial senvices fo the CGN.

(AneBRHEREE) LI R PEGEHREREE PREMBRAALANSRSNAAR ) P EARR I RAHRR H0000000%7/

BREGREEREAE GROBINE QFARRES PERT TERRENRAELE 18090757
RERS &5 BER BA(CEDARRE) AIRRR RS R R
kS ¥ RO PRGN AR BRI - R LREANFIRR

BERGRMER LRA
RN RR AN R AS RS EN P EARE AR
REERARENE : QP EDABEENRERABE RS R
THBHEHE : REFRIGHR AR RIS
S

RRAABIRR SRR AR AR RARS T RS
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
3. entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that
these transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions;

3. are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

4. have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in

previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 26 March 2019 which confirms the matters as required by
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

On 16 November 2018, the Company (as the purchaser) and China
Uranium Development (as the vendor) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of 100% equity interest in CGN Global
and transactions thereunder. The transaction constitutes a very
substantial and connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards, which include
transactions that constitute connected/continuing connected
transactions for which the disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules have been complied with.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during Reporting Period is contained in note 29 to consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Company’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
—the largest supplier: 100%
— five largest suppliers: 100%

Sales
— the largest customer: 100%
— five largest customers: 100%

China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Company. Mr. An Junjing, an ED and the
chief executive officer of the Company, Mr. Chen Deshao, an ED and
the chief financial officer of the Company, Mr. Yu Zhiping, a NED and
chairman of the Company, Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED, all are the Directors
and/or the senior management of CGNPC-URC, the parent of China
Uranium Development, at different times throughout 2018. Save
as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company (as service receiver)
and CGNPC-URC entered into “Shared Administrative Services
Agreement” for providing shared administrative services to the
Company by CGNPC-URC.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OR ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no contracts of significance
or material contracts on provision of services between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling shareholders or
any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

OTHERS

Environmental Protection

The Company, as a green energy affiliate, pays high attention to
environmental protection. We vigorously promotes environmental
protection by promoting green, energy saving and environmental
protection concept, such as advocating the green office, encouraging
the replacement of paper document with electronic document, the use
of double-sided printing and eco-friendly appliances, etc. At the same
time, the Company requests the staff to participate in promotional
activities from time to time, such as tree planting activity, and promotes
the use of public transports, or walking to substitute driving.

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

The Company actively participates in social charity, encourages and
organizes employees to participate in the “Love” activities such as
helping and visiting people in need.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and policy of diversification regardless of
age, sex, marital status.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Compliance with laws and regulations

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, to the
knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all material aspects
with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in a business
which causes or may cause any significant competition with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any
such person has or may have with the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make charitable
donations.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As of the Latest Practicable Date prior to the publication of this report,
and based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares are held by public Shareholders as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The transaction in relation to the acquisition of CGN Global was
completed on 17 January 2019.

By Order of the Board

Yu Zhiping

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
TERE  HEREBRE

1. OUR REPORT

1.1.

1.2,

Vision and Mission

The Company has been committed to becoming a world-
class nuclear fuel supplier that provides safe, economical
and reliable nuclear fuel products and services for nuclear
power plants. The Company strives to create a more
prosperous and sustainable society, and hopes to bring
long-term benefits to the society while pursuing good
business performance and sustained growth.

In order for the Company to fulfill its vision, we adhere

» oo«

to the basic value orientation of “responsible”, “rigorous
practical”, “innovative”, “customer-oriented” and “value-
created” and the basic principles of “safety first”, “quality

foremost” and “pursuing excellence”.

Reporting Scope and Reporting Period

This report is to review the performance and effectiveness
of the Company in implementing its social responsibility
strategy in 2018, and is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the “Guide”) of the Stock Exchange. This report is in
compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions of the
Guide and contains certain disclosures as recommended
in the Guide, where appropriate.

This environmental, social and governance report covers
the Company’s operating sites in Hong Kong and
Beijing, and the operating sites in Kazakhstan, including
Semizbay-U, in which the Company holds a 49% equity
interest, as well as the two mines under its management,
Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine (the “Mines”).
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1.3. Feedback Mechanism

We welcome comments and suggestions from readers on
our corporate social responsibility reporting. Whether you
are a customer, a business partner, a common citizen,
a media organization or social group, your comments
and suggestions can help determine and reinforce the
Company’s future sustainability strategy. Please contact us
via email at ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn.

2. ENGAGEMENT OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company understands that effective and continuous
listening to stakeholders’ opinions and responding to
and addressing their concerns are indispensable for its
business development and the fulfillment of its corporate
social responsibility. As such, we endeavour to get a deep
understanding of the concerns of different stakeholders, and
build a relationship of mutual trust and mutual benefit with them
to promote sustainable development.

According to the requirements of the Listing Rules, we regularly
disclose the Company’s operating performance and project
progress on the Company’s website (www.cgnmc.com) and
the information disclosure website designated by the Stock
Exchange (HKEXnews: www.hkexnews.hk). All disclosures are
prepared and published in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. In addition, when receiving inquiries from
investors, the Company will promptly get in touch with them
and invite them to visit the Company or attend teleconferences
where the Company will answer their questions to help them
understand its operating information. Meanwhile, the Company
holds roadshows in various forms such as results presentations
to introduce the latest information of the Company from time to
time and invites investor representatives, potential investors and
analysts to attend the roadshows.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEREXAR AR
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

3.1.

Environmental Protection
Management approaches and policies

In order to shoulder the responsibility of corporate
citizenship, the Company is committed to promoting
sustainable development, making good use of natural
energy and providing clean, stable and safe fuel products
and services for the society. Whether in the Mines or in the
offices, the Company carefully considers its impact on the
environment in the process of business development. As
such, the Mines and the Company have developed a series
of management policies and measures such as exhaust
management policy, waste management policy and
green procurement policy, in an effort to reduce the risks
and impacts on the communities and ecosystem in the
operation process, proactively improve our environmental
performance and achieve sustainable development.

The Company strictly complies with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, there were no cases of violation of the relevant
regulations or code of conduct within the Company.

3.1.1.Pollution Control

To address problems such as environmental
pollution and greenhouse effect, the world is turning
its eyes on clean energy development. The Company
and the Mines are also playing a part in this effort by
striving to exploit natural uranium which is the main
source of fuel for the nuclear industry. Yet, pollution is
inevitable in the course of operation. As a responsible
company, we make every effort to integrate green
management into the operations of the Company
and the Mines, so as to minimise the pollutants
generated by the Company’s business operations,
fulfill our environmental commitment and help create
a sustainable society.
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Exhaust control

The Company is committed to reducing the impact of
its business operations on neighboring regions. The
Company and the Mines strictly comply with the local
laws on exhaust emissions. The Mines have obtained
an exhaust emission permit issued by Kazakhstan’s
environmental protection authority, and regularly
conduct exhaust emission tests to ensure that the
exhaust emissions do not exceed the emission limits
stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations.

In addition, the Company is aware that transportation
is one of the major sources of carbon emissions.
To reduce greenhouse gas emissions caused by
transportation, we provide video and teleconference
systems and encourage employees to use them,
SO as to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from
business trips and the related transportation. In
addition, the Company and the mines promote green
procurement and prefers purchasing energy-saving
raw materials; and gradually upgrade machinery
and transportation equipment by replacing diesel
or gasoline with natural gas to cut the consumption
of diesel and gasoline and reduce the emissions of
sulfur dioxide and other exhaust gases and carbon
dioxide caused by the burning of diesel and gasoline.
During the Reporting Period, the gasoline-fueled
administrative vehicles at the headquarters of the
Mines were converted to run on natural gas.

CGN Mining Company Limited

REREFXARAT

PERIER

AR REGHB D E S
BYHROIBENTZE
RRR MBS BARE
e & b A BE R R BE IR
ED e SR ES R
BE 5o HT 8 BT IR 4R 28
P P 2% &Y BE SR BE IRRT
A IWE B TTRE R BE
BRI - AT AR BE Rk
METBHHEBNER
TEARBEIRPREE

FHN RRET R
i A B OBE )
EXRRZz— BRI
RBERSIBHAER
B MR HELE
Eﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ)&$*
BERERS AR EIR
ﬁ%&ﬁ*ﬁ@%?&Lii@
5| BUE R =R B HER -
BEAN - AR E R RS
THERE BXER
RIBE Re R B K
FRETT RSB B R
e ARARKE S
SOTRAPERREL RS
R Um B EREZ B
TR 88 RUR 2> H R 12 5
TR E R — At
MENERFERE =4
EBRBERL - SEBA
&% M BV 1T B EE B
AT ERE AR



Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
TERE  HERERRE

During the Reporting Period, greenhouse gas
emissions generated by the Company and the Mines
were as follows:

HBEHA > ARE RE
BEARIRERBIN
BT

Air pollutant emissions

Nitrogen oxides =Rl
Sulphur Dioxide =Y
Particulate matter R

Greenhouse gas
emissions in total

BEREAHE

4,070.24
4.75
307.60

Hong Kong and

Beijing Offices
BEAREEHAE

Greenhouse gas tonnes of carbon dioxide

emissions in total equivalent
BERBESNE WA —RLIEE

Density (per employee) tonnes of carbon dioxide

equivalent per employee

ZE (AEE ABGT) W —E(LIREE A
Density (per unit tonnes of carbon dioxide
of production) equivalent per tonne of
production
BE(LVEEESH) WSS R EE

Solid waste disposal

The Company develops and implements strict
management measures for waste generated in the
production process. We support and adopt the 3R
waste management strategy (Reducing, Reusing and
Recycling) to minimise waste generation and reduce
the impact on the environment.

25.80 36,398.16
N/A
1.08 g A
N/A
A 37.91
ElEE 1%
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The solid waste generated in Beijing and Hong Kong
offices is mainly composed of three types: non-
recyclable domestic garbage, recyclable domestic
waste (cartons, paper, waste metal, waste plastic
bags, glass, etc.), hazardous waste (waste batteries,
waste toner cartridges, waste ink cartridges and
other toxic and hazardous waste). Recyclable
wastes, if can be reused in production, will be reused
as much as possible, otherwise will be disposed of
by waste recycling stations. Hazardous wastes will
be stored separately and handed over to external
agencies or returned to the manufacturer(s) for
disposal, and shall not be discarded at random in
order to prevent re-contamination. Non-reusable
office and domestic wastes generated in the office,
under the centralised management of property
management personnel of the office building,
will be transported to a waste transfer station for
classification, and then transported to the site
designated by the municipal sanitation department
for disposal. The Company’s solid waste disposal
meets the requirements of the relevant laws and
regulations

CGN Mining Company Limited
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TRRR - 4 ERERTKE

The hazardous waste generated by the Mines in the
production process, such as lead-containing storage
batteries and batteries, waste oil, waste chemical
reagents, will be transferred to the qualified agencies
for recycling and disposal in accordance with the
local environmental laws. In order to reduce the
generation of waste, the Mines also collect, classify,
and arrange recycling of non-hazardous waste such
as plastic glass and metal to encourage recycling.
Below are examples of the Mines’ efforts to reduce
waste:

° Collect iron-containing solid waste and put it
in leaching liquid pools to help extract more
natural uranium, thus reducing waste and
increasing output;

o Engage qualified processing companies to
recover, process and recycle hazardous waste
such as waste oil and drilling fluid.

Set out below are the average amounts of waste
produced per month during the Reporting Period:

Waste Unit
EEEY B
Hazardous waste tonnes
BEEEY 7

Hazardous waste density
(per unit of production)

BEREYBRE (NEEEEG) WE,EEE MR

Non-hazardous waste tonnes

BEBEZEY 7]

Non-hazardous waste density
(per unit of production)

BEREDEE ALEEBEEF) WA EEEMR

tonnes per tonne of production

tonnes per tonne of production
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3.1.2.Making Good Use of Resources

Climate change is a huge and complex challenge
in the world today. All companies have the
responsibility to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
and protect the environment. To improve the
efficiency of the use of resources of energy, the
Company and the Mines are working to implement
a range of measures in three major aspects, i.e.
energy use, water resources and the extraction of
raw materials.

Energy conservation

The Company insists on energy conservation and
continuously increases efforts in lowering energy
consumption to reduce environmental pollution.
The Company and the Mines have implemented
a number of targeted energy-saving measures to
reduce energy consumption:

° According to the different heating needs during
the day and night, we moderately adjust the
heating temperature at different time periods to
save energy;

° Duly contral lighting time to reduce unnecessary
power consumption;

° The Mines prohibit the use of incandescent
lamps, install and use energy-saving LED
lighting systems instead;

o For indoor heating, solar heat exchangers have
been installed to replace traditional fossil fuels
with heat exchange principles, thus reducing
carbon emissions and energy consumption;
and

CGN Mining Company Limited

REREXARAT

12EHER
RIEEC RIS 2R
T B8 89 B K 1 48 SR Bk
B o R R EREHEN
LIREREEMBLE

ERHNEME - MARA
Ko 35 18 1 & 1 B R (2
A KERERMEHE
R=KRETJELE DT
WHETZRER - UE
NRFEIREEIRM AR ©

BOREIERE

RRRBFEEHLGRIR
S IR EDRE R FE N
EORAIRE S o
RARRIESEREZIE
HE A RE ME TR -
LAE — 2P R R AR IR E AR

E :

. E e B X MEER
RSHEES - R
P18 A D T R
ERE) BRI Z DARE
1 Hb/ \/Ié]%%

o IRIFIEHIE A
K - AT HE
VB SIHFE |

o BHEEIFERAL
& R REFER
ENRERY LED FRRA K

S/

5 5

o RETAGEER
Hhas B E AR
F A 2RI ER
RIAB G AR
RMEERE - DURD
Bk HF B % BE R B
R



Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
TERE  HERERBRE

o Photovoltaic power stations have been built
to meet the daily lighting needs of the Mines,
which can save 5% of electricity consumption.

Water efficiency

The Company and the Mines strictly control the
discharge and treatment of sewage and strengthen
the management of water resources, with a view
of “saving water and using it wisely”. The Mines
implement a variety of water management measures,
including:

° A large sewage recycling system was built
where sewage generated in production will be
transported to a biological purification station
for purification and disinfection, and then be
reused in garden irrigation, equipment cleaning
and production. The system can save 10% of
industrial water for the Mines each year;

o Optimize work procedures and introduce
advanced alternative materials and equipment,
and calculate the amount of wastewater
generated each year and estimate future
wastewater generation; and

o The domestic wastewater of the
hydrometallurgy workshop is transferred
to the septic tank. Next, the wastewater is
transported to a biological purification pool
through plastic pipeline for purification, and
then reused after chlorination.
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During the Reporting Period, the main resources
consumed by the Company and the Mines during its
operations and production are set out below:

R¥REMRE - ARF R
35 T 1E A E B
PERNEREIEER

Power consumption

HEE

By

Hong Kong and

Beijing Offices
EERILEHRAZE

Greenhouse gas ’000 kWh 27,737.00 29,715,260.00
emissions in total

RERBAENE T T FL B

Density (per employee) ’000 kWh per employee 1,155.71 N/A

TE A

ZE (LAEE ABGT) FTEFRE S28T

Density (per unit of ’000 kWh per tonne N/A 30,953.40
production) of production N

BE(LEEESR) FREFRE EEN

Fuel consumption

Bom A E

Diesel (mobile)
Sem On@iR)
Diesel density
SemiEMEE

Total water consumption

HBIEKE

m° 295,111.00
SR

m® per tonne of production 307.41
MK EEME

Total water consumption m?® 105,135.00

HBFEKE TR

Water consumption density m® per tonne of production 109.52
(per unit of production)

BFKERE (AEEESRT) SR EENE

Note: As uranium finished products do not involve finished 5 BRSNS R M

packaging, thus no package materials data could be

provided.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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3.1.3.Promoting Green Operations 31.3. B EE

The Company actively integrates environmental
responsibility into its daily operations. We will
continue to examine feasible strategies and
measures for energy conservation and look for more
opportunities for energy conservation and carbon
reduction. The Company and the Mines will comply
with the green economy policies of the state or
district where it resides, to reduce environmental
impact and consumption of natural resources.

Promotion of green awareness

The Company and the Mines provide environmental
education to employees, encourage them to practice
energy conservation and environmental protection
in every aspect of work and life, and advocate the
conservation of water, electricity, paper and office
supplies. Employees are also organised to take
environmental training courses and examinations
on a regular basis to enhance their awareness of
environmental protection.
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Green operations AREEE
In order to undertake corporate responsibility, the BERELGERARME

Company promotes green operations and works on
all aspects of its operations to reduce environmental
damage. The Company and the Mines each have a
safety and environmental management departments
to take charge of inspecting and supervising the
environmental protection and management of the
Mines.
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In terms of conservation, it is strictly forbidden
to hunt and kill animals in the Mines and the
surrounding areas, and vehicles of the Mines and
external contractors are prohibited from entering
the vegetation area outside the Mines. Without the
permission of the government, the Mines shall not
destroy or transplant plant species protected by the
state; the explored mining areas will be reclaimed
with surface vegetation to restore the original
ecological environment and reduce the damage

caused to the environment.

In addition, as to the procurement of materials, we
give preference to materials that have a relatively low
impact on the environment. For example, the Mines
use casing pipes made of non-toxic polyethylene
and polyvinyl chloride for well completion to prevent
pollution of the underground environment.

Green office

We have put in place green office measures for
office operations, including: attaching a power
saving sign to each power control device; setting
the air conditioning system to keep the office room
temperature at 25°C; building an office automation
(OA) system to reduce the use of paper; and
implementing paperless office by using email
communication at work as much as possible to
reduce paper consumption. We also conduct internal
communication from time to time to strengthen the

implementation of these measures.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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3.2. Putting People First

Management approaches and policies

In the process of business development, the Company
also keeps in mind the fulfilment of its social responsibility,
adheres to the principle of mutual respect and harmonious
coexistence, and strives to be an ideal employer by
developing effective recruitment and training systems and
building a multicultural work environment. The Company
strictly abides by all relevant local employment laws and
regulations, including the Employment Ordinance and
the Employment Compensation Ordinance. During the
Reporting Period, the Company did not have any cases of
violation of the relevant employment laws and regulations,
nor did it receive any complaints related to recruitment.

The details of employees of the Company and the Mines in
the past year are as follows:

3.2

BLARA
BT RIKE

AABHEZEREBORE - 75
RAZRETHEEME BT
HEESMEABNES  #
BEBAKBZ AT HE - 17
INEFRZ LU TR -
U REE R [IR8EE] - K
NEEIRETIA S EE
BRREED - BRESHE
B R R B ~ ClE 7 i 1B 1k
BIFEERES - REMEL
B2 AR REED FOER
MBS - TR R BESAERE R
EEES

ARREBESBE—FNREE
B

Hong Kong and

Beijing Offices

EERLEEPRAE

Number of
employees Employee category
BT A ST 85
By gender persons Male &
bgasll N Female %
By age persons Aged 15-24 55,
RFH A Aged 25-34 5%
Aged 35-44 5%
Aged 45-54 55,
Aged 55-64 5%
By rank persons Senior management
R RRE AEL BRERE
Middle management
HEEEE
Executives
FE
General staff
—RET

18 488
6 55
2 153
13 125
7 136
2 96

33
0 14
5 53
2 40
17 436
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3.2.1.Equal Employment

Equal opportunity and diversity

As an employer offering equal employment
opportunities, the Company is committed to
providing a good work environment against
discrimination and harassment for all employees.
The Company’s employment policy adheres to the
principle of equal opportunity. The Company does
not discriminate against employees due to race,
skin color, religious belief, nationality, gender, age,
marital status, family status or disability, and ensures
that employees or job applicants are considered
and selected based on their job skills, qualifications,
capabilities and work experiences.

Recruitment and retention of talents

In the principles of democracy, openness,
competition and meritocracy, the Company
carries out recruitment in strict accordance with
the relevant policies, regulations and procedures.
The Company’s recruitment process shall be in
compliance with the provisions of the relevant laws
and policies, and employment contracts shall be
entered into with employees in accordance with
the relevant laws to clarify the rights and obligations
between the Company and employees, so as to build
harmonious, stable and sustainable employment
relations.

Protection of rights and interests

We have established specific measures for dismissal
and compensation. Where an employee seriously
misbehaves in the course of work, the Company
or the Mines may terminate his/her employment
contract in accordance with the relevant employment
laws and request compensation from him/her
according to law.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Employee benefits

The Company adheres to the management
philosophy of “setting post-specific salaries and
changing salaries for job changes”, and has
developed a comprehensive annual salary review
mechanism. According to its annual total salary
budget, the Company formulates a salary adjustment
plan as appropriate based on the benchmarking
against similar positions in the market and the
performance appraisal grades of employees for the
previous year to provide employees with fair and
competitive compensation packages.

The Company is dedicated to improving the welfare
of its employees. The Company makes social
insurance contributions for employees and provides
them with adequate paid leave as required by law.
We also provide other additional benefits, such as
transportation allowance, training allowance and
meal allowance.

Work-life balance

We always value the physical and mental health of
employees and support them to enjoy living a full life
in their spare time. The Company has set up a 24-
hour psychological counseling hotline service for
employees and issued them Xinle cards as part of
an assistance program. The Company also provides
stress training to stimulate employees’ awareness
of stress management and expand their physical
and mental resources, so as to reduce the impact
of stress on themselves and the Company and help
them manage stress more effectively. In addition,
the Company’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in
order to ensure that they have enough rest time.
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3.2.2.0ccupational Health and Safety S22 BEREHZTE

Management approaches and policies

The Company is committed to improving its
occupational safety and health standards and
creating the most suitable working environment to
protect valuable human resources. The Company
and the Mines have in place a sound mechanism
to manage occupational health and safety-related
issues, including conducting regular reviews and
assessments, so as to meet regulatory requirements
and the development needs of the Company.

The Company and the Mines strictly abide by the
relevant safety laws. During the Reporting Period,
there was no case of prosecution against the
Company and the Mines for violation of occupational
safety-related laws.
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Work-related deaths persons 0 0
E T AL

Lost days due to work-related injuries  days 0 0
HITBEEAH H&

Establishment of the Health, Safety and Environment
Department

In order to improve its safety management, the Mines
have set up a safety department to take charge of
the safety affairs in the Mines. The safety department
conducts safety inspections on the work sites on
a weekly basis to review the Mines’ occupational
health and safety performances, reports the existing
risks and proposes relevant rectification measures,
and supervises and tracks the progress of the
rectification measures to further reduce the accident
rate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Safe working environment

The Mines will conduct analysis and risk assessment
of the working environment to identify the processes
and areas with risks, and take appropriate corrective
and preventive measures for operations that fail to
comply with the internal occupational health and
safety regulations.

Based on the safety risk assessment results, the
Mines have developed a number of targeted safety
measures, such as: provide sufficient personal
protective equipment, like safety belts for aerial work,
anti-dust and anti-harmful gas masks and acid-
proof overalls, and require that employees must wear
these equipment when entering a work site; arrange
for motor vehicle safety inspectors to inspect the
driving conditions of mineral vehicles and the health
conditions of drivers in order to ensure the safe
driving of vehicles; and test the operational status of
relevant equipment and mineral vehicles on a regular
basis.

Raising safety awareness

The Mines require all employees to receive safety
training and pass a safety examination before taking
up a job. In addition, the Mines also arrange a safety
examination every two years so that employees
can review and update their safety knowledge.
Each year, the Mines also provide comprehensive
physical examinations for employees to care for
their health status, and invite medical experts to give
health lectures in the Mines to increase the health
knowledge of employees.
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3.2.3.Development Potential 3.2.3. B[R BEE
Management approaches and policies EE LI R
The Company encourages and promotes the KRR HTE
professional development of employees. Each ERELMITENLSE

employee, according to his/her personal annual
training plan, will be arranged to take a series of
job skills training courses every year. Such training
courses are closely related to the actual work of
the employee, which can help quickly improve
his/her job skills in both theory and practice and

& o IRIBEAFRELEI
itE - EEESFH/H
ZEE2 N — R M
BEXEFN - UL ARIF DI B X
BEENERIERTLE
B APRIEEBNE

thus continuously enhance his/her vocational and BWAmRREAES
professional capabilities. B TEREE - EMHE
RAZIEE B ER

During the Reporting Period, the training hours of
employees of the Company and the Mines are as
follows:

Hong Kong and Beijing

HE(IKFE -

e R I N/NEI DY
BEHEANTTREENT
B EINT

Training Employee category Offices
=3 ST 85 EEARILEBRAE
Hours
5324
By gender Male 53 766 100 10,304 65.16
gkl Female % 127 100 1,376 78.18
By rank Senior management N/A N/A
IRE AR BRERE AN AN 320 71.43
Middle management
HEERE 337 100 1,376 81.13
Executives
FE 176.5 100 1,152 80.00
General staff
—fRET 379.5 100 8,832 63.30
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Mechanism for integration of new employees

In order to speed up the adaptation of new employees
to the work environment and their integration into the
Company’s culture, we arrange for new employees to
attend “Bailu Training” which is focused on company
profile, corporate culture, company systems and
business introduction, so that they can understand
the relevant systems, cultural values and current
situation of the Company. In addition, the Company
has specially prepared a job training program outline
specifying the authorised training sessions to be
completed by newly-recruited employees, so that they
can familiarise themselves with the duties of their own
positions.

Vocational skills training

The Mines provide various training courses on
professional skills and language skills for employees
to equip themselves for work. The courses cover
engineering design, instrumentation and software
applications, and English and Kazakh learning. In
2018, the Mines continued its winter and summer
camp study programs, which enabled employees
to acquire knowledge regarding lean production
through a relaxed team learning model, enhanced
the professional management skills of the employees
and thus increased the Company’s operating
efficiency.

Youth cultivation

It is very important to provide opportunities for the
younger generation to develop their strengths and
careers. In order to broaden their horizons, the
Mines encourage young employees to continue their
studies by signing contracts with them to fund their
further studies while retaining their jobs.
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3.2.4.Labour Standards

Management approaches and policies

The Company and the Mines always attach
importance to the basic rights and interests of
employees, strictly abide by local labour laws
and regulations, and implement the management
principle of “legal compliance” to ensure no
employment of child labour and forced labour.

The Company’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime
in order to guarantee that they have enough rest
time. In addition, the Company has established the
“Labor and Employment Management Measures
of the Group”, which clearly provides that the
requirements of national and local labour laws and
regulations must be met. The Company stipulates
that if an employee is found to have provided false
documentation or made false statements about
personal information after signing a labour or
employment contract, the contract signed by both
parties shall be void ab initio, and the Company
reserves the right to require the compensation of
losses from the employee. The Mines also abide
by the provisions of Kazakhstan’s labour law
concerning the prohibition of forced labour, including
the prohibition of servitude, corporal punishment
or violence against employees, and appropriately
arranges their working hours and workloads.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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The Company and the Mines are in strict compliance
with the relevant labour laws and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there was no case of
prosecution against the Group for violation of laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of child
labour or forced labour.

3.3. Operational Commitment

3.3.1.Supply Chain Management

Management guidelines and policies

As suppliers are one of the key stakeholders in
the Company’s business value chain, we are
committed to building strong partnerships with them
to contribute to the sustainable development of the
industry and society. In order to promote supply
chain management and operation, the Company
continuously optimises its supplier management
system and other management policies to realise
high-standard procurement in good faith and make a
better contribution to the society in future.
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Policy on engagement of suppliers

All materials and service contracts of the Mines
shall be publicised and go through a tender process
on the tender website of the National Welfare
Fund Samruk-Kazyna of Kazakhstan to ensure
that the tender process is open, fair and impartial.
Prospective suppliers shall provide all necessary
qualification documents on the website for review.
The Mines have established strict criteria for selection
and performance assessment of suppliers, including
the assessment of the advanced level of suppliers’
equipment and the reliability of their technical
skills. The assessment criteria also cover the fields
of environmental protection and safety, including
assessing the energy consumption of suppliers’
equipment, the impact of the production process on
the environment, the level of reduction in raw material
consumption, and the safety of the equipment.

Sustainable supply chain

While taking seriously the two major issues of
environmental protection and social responsibility,
the Company and the Mines also actively encourage
suppliers and service contractors to undertake
their environmental and social responsibility. We
require suppliers and contractors to comply with the
Company’s environmental and occupational health
and safety policies and strict corporate governance
standards. For example, the Mines also require
suppliers to provide their employees with adequate
personal protective equipment and require them to
wear the equipment during work.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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3.3.2.Customer Service and Product Safety S 2EBEERBHEERLTE
Management approaches and policies L R
The Company strictly abides by the relevant laws and QB ERIE BT A B
regulations and industry quality standards to improve EERERMITENE S

its quality management standards, protect the
basic rights and interests of customers, and provide
responsible products and services to customers, so
as to achieve the product quality and safety goals
of 100% customer satisfaction, zero complaints and
zero accidents.

Quality assurance

The Mines have obtained ISO 9001 quality
management system certification to guarantee
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that the entire mining process is carried out in 1I5ﬂ?‘7&iﬂﬁ$ﬁ?ﬁl[§"%
accordance with the international standards. The ZAEET  EEEIERE
management policies and quality standards under ZiEZR TE’JEE@E&%?D
the quality management system framework have LBEEEDKEEBR
been fully communicated and implemented. EE -
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Product safety

In order to ensure the quality and reliability of
the products provided, sample analysis will be
conducted before delivery according to the
customer’s product standards. The Mines strictly
stipulate that during the storage and transportation
of products, all uranium containers must be sealed
to the maximum extent possible to avoid leaking of
radioactive materials and damage to the biosphere.
In the course of transportation, it is required that
the hazardous nature of uranium products must be
clearly marked on the transportation vehicles for
safety warning.

Quality services

Focusing on customer satisfaction, as for complaints
about quality issues, the Company will do its utmost
to make improvements and resolve the issues
concerned while analysing the causes to improve its
performance in this regard.

Information confidentiality

The Mines have formulated a policy to prohibit
all employees from disclosing information about
customers who purchase natural uranium, and
require employees to sign a confidentiality agreement
to prevent the leakage of information. Confidential
documents including customer’s personal
information shall be strictly managed and kept by a
dedicated department. Employees are not allowed to
access these documents without permission.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Intellectual property and copyright protection policy

We attach great importance to intellectual property
and intellectual property protection. The Company
has established sound rules and regulations on
intellectual property protection. We also organise
education and training on intellectual property for
employees to raise their awareness of intellectual
property protection and establish the concepts
of innovation, integrity and intellectual property
protection.

3.3.3.Corporate Governance

Management approaches and policies

The Company strives to build a corporate culture
of integrity and fairness by upholding the principles
of honesty, fairness and transparency, undertaking
responsibility, and having zero tolerance to
corruption and fraud. We regularly organise anti-
corruption training (including anti-money laundering
training) to enhance employees’ awareness of
business integrity.
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The Company has a strict anti-corruption
policy which requires all employees to comply
professionally with the Company’s policies on
conflicts of interest, code of conduct for business
activities, and prevention of bribery and corruption.

Business ethics

In order to build a corporate culture or integrity and
prevent corruption, the Mines have formulated anti-
corruption and anti-fraud policies which clearly
defines that all violations of financial regulatory
measures including money laundering, illegal
provision of material rewards to individuals and
enterprises, illegal receipt of material rewards from
individuals are illegal acts of corruption. Targeted
preventive measures have also been developed to
prevent corruption.

The Mines organise open tendering and bidding in
strict accordance with the procurement rules set
by the National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna of
Kazakhstan to ensure the fairness and compliance
of the relevant procedures. The procurement rules
also stipulate that the tender notice and related
information shall be published to material suppliers
or service contractors on the designated media.
Furthermore, the Company’s internal service
procurement shall go through a rigorous pre-
approval process, and a tiered approval system has
been set up for bids and contracts with different
amounts to ensure that the procurement procedures
are closely monitored.

CGN Mining Company Limited

REREXARAT

ARRA—EETEREH
BilEBESR - RTBAFR
BEIMARENES
BT AR RN EE
R-BABEDTRMA
#HILLEEEESE
HISFTHIRT 2 BK

REIRENDEX
M EEISEREITR
BSEHETRESM
B3 L BRFF R - BAREE
EVERSMEERE
ERERARE AR
FLAFIR R R Y E 5
B IBRWEAANY
HEBYOBELINES
11/ I E SR
R ER - AL BES
BEREHIER -

5 BRI IR IR iE e
HEEEEEEAETH
THREREZETARN
BRERER - BRAEH
BEAFARAET K
BMZENRARRE L
AT E R K IR
O N 1 TE R SR B A
BERE T RARER -
Britb 2 90 - "B A E
B AR 75 R B R S B B R
BATEFIIRE - MY
TRARENRERAH
BRI D RH R
B HEREBEFSD

BEEE -



Enterprise Environmental, Social appl Governance Report
TERE - HERERRS

3.4. Giving Back to Society 34. EEHE

The Company is well aware that its responsibility is not
only to contribute directly to the economy, but also to
generate positive impact on the society as a whole through
its optimised business operations and public welfare
programs. In the past year, the Company and the Mines
spared no effort to contribute to community development
in different fields by making charitable donations or
supporting cultural and educational activities.

Blood donation

On 3 May 2018, the eve of the 69th May Fourth Youth
Festival, the Company organised youth volunteers to
participate in a voluntary blood donation activity. This is the
second year in a row that the Company organised a blood
donation activity.

Planting hope

Promoting the construction of ecological civilisation is a
development concept that has long been advocated by the
state. To celebrate the 49th World Earth Day, the Company
organised a voluntary tree planting activity with a theme of
“Green Represents Life and Hope — Let’s Build a Green
Homeland Together” on 19 April 2018. Each year, the
Company organises its employees to plant trees in an effort
to fulfill its corporate responsibility. We guide employees
to practice the concept of green development and take
practical actions to protect the ecological environment
where we live by improving the environmental quality, in an
effort to maintain clean water and green mountains for the
generations to come.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F, Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
HEZEERRATE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN Mining
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 117 to 223,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on pages 135-137.

18 M A

FREEXER
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The key audit matter

The Group has 19.90% interest in
an associate, Fission Uranium Corp.
which is a listed company in Canada.
As at 31 December 2018, the interest
in an associate held by the Group is
approximately HK$521,538,000.

During the year ended 31 December
2018, the associate has incurred loss
in operation. Following a review of the
business, the outlook for the industry and
the market conditions, as the uranium
price and the Canadian dollar were in
fluctuation, there is a risk of impairment
in respect of the interest in an associate;
management has carried out the
impairment assessment on the interest in
an associate.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant degree
of management judgement in respect of
the valuation methods and assumptions
for the estimation of the recoverable
amount of the interest in the associate.

How the matter was addressed in our

audit

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment and understand and assess
the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used in the valuation model
to estimate the recoverable amount of the
associate.

We have discussed and assessed the
indicators of possible impairment with the
management and the component auditor
and, where such indicators were identified,
assessed the management’s impairment
testing.

We have assessed the valuation
methodology and compared significant
inputs to third party sources. We have
also understood and assessed the key
assumptions and critical judgement used by
the management based on our knowledge of
the business and industry.

BRMGRE SRR KITE19 5 135-137
BRSEEUR °

RN EROAERZE
BEREEREE i}

ESERE—MEHE
% Fission Uranium
Corp. 19.90%%##% -
Fission Uranium Corp.
A—BRmMEALR
M)A © 2018512
A318  B&EHA
ZEBE R FRO R
#)521,538,000/& T °

REZE 2018412 31
At FEHE B
TEEBELBR-
REBER  1T£50
EHMTRE - AR
BREMEATEX
ﬁ@ gty
R EESRAENE
B EEEUBED
EMERETTHE
Tl o

N 3
mAME B E
E/f&@:m/*f& S
BNERHE - Kt
KA RERER
R o

BMEEEEEEELH
ERENTE - YHHE
BRRANEERL
R KBS BmERN A
ERBRRARETT
AR e o

AAC BEEEMAKE
P GRS Gy 1
REES  LRNEAEH
Bk HEEREOR
fERI -

ZFEHERBENE I

IR HERRENER
BAEHE - ZAEER
AMEEHRITEOM
# e HEEEMERNE
RERLERAEETT
B R A o

Annual Report 2018
—ZE-)\FFR

111



112

Independent Auditor’s Report

1B M B E R

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 135-137.

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interest in a joint
venture, Semizbay-U Limited Liability
Partnership. As at 31 December
2018, the interest in a joint venture
held by the Group is approximately
HK$190,706,000.

Following a review of the business, the
outlook for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium price and
Kazakhstan Tenge were in fluctuation,
there is a risk of impairment in respect
of the interest in a joint venture;
management has carried out the
impairment assessment on the interest
in a joint venture.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant
degree of management judgement in
respect of the valuation methods and
assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in the
joint venture.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEREXARAR

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment and understand and assess
the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used in the valuation model to
estimate the recoverable amount of the joint
venture.

We have discussed and assessed the
indicators of possible impairment with the
management and the component auditors
and, where such indicators were identified,
assessed the management’s impairment
testing.

We have assessed the valuation methodology
and compared significant inputs to third
party sources. We have also understood
and assessed the key assumptions and
critical judgement used by the management
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: PO5044

Hong Kong
26 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REAZEEAR

n'l_\ é E ﬁﬁ

N2

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H It E[E

2018 2017
2018 % 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHT
Revenue BERE 8 362,031 372,790
Cost of sales SHEMA (298,278) (253,774)
Gross profit EF 63,753 119,016
Other operating income HAh g A 8 29,098 19,753
Administrative expenses TR (39,665) (34,366)
Changes in fair value of investment properties R & ¥R 7 BE 17 390 358
Share of results of a joint venture it —HAEREEE 51,943 (20,558)
Share of results of an associate e —RE R R 12,715 (16,457)
Profit before taxation M AL A R A 118,234 67,746
Income tax expenses FTisfi sz 10 (16,826) (15,668)
Profit for the year attributable to owners RNRRVES AE
of the Company FEREH 11 101,408 52,078
Earnings per share BREM 13
Basic AR HK1.54 cents HKO.79 cents
1.54 Bl 0.797811l
Diluted 30 HK1.54 cents HKO0.79 cents
1.54 24l 0.797811l
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEEREMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &;Z£2018412 431 H I & E

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year R A 101,408 52,078
Other comprehensive (expenses) income: Hihzm () WA :
Items that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss: HZ B 72 B EA -
Exchange differences on translation BRENB AN ISRREL
of financial statements of subsidiaries IEHER (2,637) 5,332
Exchange differences on translation BME—HeEtEYBERRESL
of financial statements of a joint venture ZIERER (22,517) 2,457
Exchange differences on translation BME [ E R RRES
of financial statements of an associate ZIEHEZR (41,854) 42,843
Other comprehensive (expenses) income AEFEME2E(FXR)
for the year WA (67,008) 50,632
Total comprehensive income for the year REEZEWALLZE 34,400 102,710

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR &

As at 31 December 2018 720181231 H

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - R MR 16 14,319 16,529
Investment properties "EY% 17 30,359 31,427
Interest in a joint venture R—TEAENE S 18 190,706 161,280
Interest in an associate i T T 19 521,538 550,202
756,922 759,438
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables YRR R EMEUGRTE 20 19,708 128,900
Amount due from an intermediate FEU—FEI R AR A B
holding company A 21 5,375 1,546
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFERIRE 23 1,071,159 1,017,111
Income tax recoverable AU E FTS R IR 8,728 4,280
1,104,970 1,151,837
Total assets BEEHE 1,861,892 1,911,275
Current liabilities =R
Trade and other payables AT R EMENKE 24 13,778 90,152
Amount due to an intermediate iRl ik 2 /N
holding company FIE 21 6,132 6,490
Amount due to a joint venture B —HEaEtEHE 25 5,513 5,513
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries e R M A RFIE 22 1,668 1,212
Income tax payable FERETTS TR 4,246 4,047
31,337 107,414
Net current assets REBEEZE 1,073,633 1,044,423
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRLRBAR 1,830,555 1,803,861
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR I &

As at 31 December 2018 7201812 A31H

2018 2017
20184 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHIL
Capital and reserves EXR
Share capital AR 26 66,007 66,007
Reserves i 1,746,422 1,724,748
Total equity ERAE 1,812,429 1,790,755
Non-current liability *RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EREFIEAE 27 18,126 13,106

1,830,555 1,803,861

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 223 were HREFITE223E 2B MEHRER
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 20194 3 A 26 A& = F 2 & 5% F

March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: % WHRIESREREE
Director &% Director &%

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018412 831 H It E[E

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

RARERARLRR

Exchange Share
Share Share translation  options  Reserve  Retained Other

capital premium  reserve  reserve fund earnings  reserve Total
Bhe

Bx  RHEE EXRE i HEEE REEN HERER it

HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000

TBn TEr TR TEm  TEx TR TEr  TEn

(Note a) (Note b)

(ta) (Kb
At1 January 2018 R1BE1R1A 66,007 1,681,112  (547,207) 154 21583 642322 (19,216) 1,790,755
Profit for the year REEGH - - - - - 101,408 - 101,408
Other comprehensive expenses for the year: FEREMZARY :
Exchange diferences on translaton BENBLRMRaREE
of financial statements of subsidliries JEREE - - (2,637) - - - - (269)
Exchange differences on translation BE-HEE0EaRRR
of financial statements of ajoint venture EtyEHER - - ([251) - - - - (25
Exchange difierences on transiafion RE-RAnEtEaERE
of fnancial statements of an associate ELVENEE - - (M8 = = = - (4185
Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year A2 (R AL - - (67,008 - - 101,408 - 34400
Dividend recognised as distrioution (note 12) EAENRZIE (M 12) - - - - - (18201) - (18201)
Share of other reserve of an associate [l -HRe AR - - - - - - 475 475
At 31 December 2018 RO1BE12831 B G007 1GBLI12 (B4 154 2758 TSN (874N 181242
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

heEREEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &;Z£2018412 431 H I & E

Share
capital

KA
HK$'000
TERL

Equity attrioutable to owners of the Company

RAFHA NElES

Exchange
Share
premium

tranglation
reserve

reserve fund

Share
options

Other
reserve

Reserve  Retained

eamings

E

B
HK§'000
47

HKS 000
TAT

i EEfe
HK$ 000

AL
(Note a)
(Ria)

522
HK$ 000
7

Hfbféts
HK$'000
THL
(Note b
(MtzEb)

HK$'000
%'PJE

At1 January 2017 R2017F1A18 66,007 1,681,112 (597,839 154 27583 722268  (82,716) 1,816,559
Profit for the year AEERT - - - - - 5078 - 578
Qther comprehensive income for the year: REEEBEEHRA :
Exchange differences on translation RENBER IS TRREEL
of financial statements of subsiclaries EiZE - - 53 - - - - 533
Bxchange differences on translation HE-RAECENBRRES
of financial statements of a joint venture Z[ HER - - 2457 - - - - 2,457
Exchange differences on translation BRECEEREES
of financial statements of an associate Z[R%E = - s - - - - 488
Total comprehensive income for the year REEEEMAGEE - - 50632 - - 5078 - 102,710
Dividend recognised as distribution (note 12) ~ EAADEZRE (3 12) - - - - - (132014 - (132014
Share of other reserve of an associate El—HRe MR EE - - - - - - 3,500 3,500
At 31 December 2017 R017E12 A 31 B 66,007 1,681,112  (547,207) 154 27583 642322 (79.216) 1,790,755
Note (a): Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have MizE(a) : MAREARLRB ([HFE]) KL ZHEB AR
appropriated 10% of the profit to reserve fund. The reserve fund is BRaMNZ10%BAREES - FEESE
required to be retained in the accounts of the subsidiaries for specific REHKIE AR 28R B AERE Ak -
purposes.
Note (b): The other reserve represents (i) the difference between the 5T (o) : H A IR () IR IR I RIZEGIT 2 %754 0f

consideration of United States dollars (“USD”) 133,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,030,899,000) and the aggregate
paid-in capital of Jb A EHERIFZEFR AR (for identification
purpose, in English, Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources
Investment Company Limited, referred to as “Beijing Sino-Kazakh”)
of Renminbi (“RMB”) 823,770,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$944,534,000) acquired under business combinations under
common control and (i) share of other reserve of an associate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n _\éIﬁlﬁ\;ﬁE%

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018412 831 H It E[E

2018 2017
2018 % 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES gegEE
Profit before taxation B E R A 118,234 67,746
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BERRENTE 1,588 1,849
Changes in fair value of investment properties BENERI A EE (390) (358)
Interest income FEMA (25,831) (16,733)
Share of results from a joint venture Elh—RaErEEE (51,943) 20,558
Share of reslts from an associate FEfE—fm e bEEE (12,715) 16,457
Operating cash flow before movements LERCEPR LERERE
in working capital 28,943 89,519
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables JE U BR 2R R L At FR IR IR A (12 ) 110,848 (115,805)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables e BR SR e E A B RIE (Rl ) 3 (76,374) 81,349
Decrease in current account with an intermediate —FIR R A R R AR
holding company (4,187) (6,314)
Decrease in amount due to a joint venture EN—HaEtETERD - (300)
Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FER R 2B A AlFaEE m 456 793
Cash from operations REXBHMEHE 59,686 49,242
Hong Kong tax paid BENEBHE (13,809) (44,084)
The United Kingdom Corporation Tax paid BREEMER (1,453) (650)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETDHERETFHE 44,424 4,508
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &;Z£2018412 431 H I & E

2018 2017
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  WERZE (50) =
Transfer from amounts due from fellow EREW R ZHTB AR
subsidiaries to bank balances and cash ERTEERES 23 - 1,080,947
Interest income received BUF S A 24,174 12,524
Dividend received from a joint venture Wl —EeEtEARE - 7,086
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFHIERETE 24,124 1,100,557
CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY METHRARS TR
Dividend paid BRRE (13,201) (132,014)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BeRBRE%EEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS EnFE 55,347 973,051
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REQZEER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR ReEEER 1,017,111 40,915
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExEH 2 (1,299) 3,145
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END RELZRER
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank balances HeZEER -
and cash BRI EE RS 1,071,159 1,017,111
1 24 CGN Mining Company Limited

REREFXARAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

GENERAL

CGN Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent is REHEZEEAGR AR (China
Uranium Development Company Limited) (“China Uranium
Development”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of A Eiz#h 3 2 E G R A 7] (CGNPC
Uranium Resources Co. Ltd.) (“CGNPC-URC”), which is in
turn a subsidiary of FEEZEEBFE AR (China General
Nuclear Power Corporation) (“CGNPC”). CGNPC is the ultimate
parent of the Company. Both CGNPC-URC and CGNPC were
established in the PRC and state-owned enterprises.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the Annual Report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to the “Group”) are property investment,
trading of natural uranium and other investments.

The functional currency of the Company is USD. As the
Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;201812 31 H It EE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments HKFRSs, which include amendments to
HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”),
amendments and Interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

FERFET RGBT EBM
R E 2R ([ FRMBER

£3%8] ))

= R a5t

RAFE » AEEEERA T BEE
BEREAG ([EEEFMAT])
B ¥ REIERI B AT B RE
R - BRBEMBREEINERT
- BFREHE(THEBGTE
Al)) ZEr] ek -

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BRMBHRE SmIA
ZERIZE 95k
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with ERPERE KERPHALHWA

Customers and related
Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement

RAF16%  RIAREER]

BEEMGHRE URO/EMNHR

of Share-based Payment ZERIF 255 SPLOBENRTE
Transactions BRI
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial BEMBHRE BEEMBREE
Instruments with HKFRS 4 HERF 45 FBARIRBE AL —
Insurance Contracts (] HIER 2 BB
HEEREIRS
BITE

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of Annual Improvements

to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment
Property
Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

The impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument
and HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
have been summarised below. The application of other new
and amendments HKFRSs in the current year has no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 11 Construction Contracts,
HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and it applies
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless
those contracts are in the scope of other standards. The
new standard established a five-step model for determining
whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. The
Group has elected to adopt the modified retrospective
approach for contracts with customers that are not completed
as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) with
the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 15 as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
and comparative information is not restated. Accordingly,
certain comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18
Revenue.

The Group’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are
disclosed in detail in Note 3 below.

No impact on the transition to HKFRS 15 on the retained
earnings at 1 January 2018.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The
Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial
instruments that have not been derecognised at the date of
initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) in accordance with the
transition provisions under HKFRS 9, and chosen not to restate
comparative information. Differences in the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities on initial application are
recognised in retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.

FERAFHTREETERE
B EER ([ BRABMKIR
HER ) @)

ERMBREENEISHRREATF
BRHRA

BEWHRELENFISHEMRTE
BEFERFIIREESY - BE
SEPERIEASSRIRA RAARREY
ERREEPEITNARELN
BWA - BRIFELA RENEMER
ENEE - ALY —ERTE
N NEEREHAWA - #RZ
DA BRI - REED
EEREIRER B HI(B12018 4 1
A1 B)HARFTERANEF & AR
EREWE - MEREREBNG
HEENFBISRNRELESIER
HIRE BN RIERAE - Toh
R AREBFIA]ELLEER - AR
RERIRIEE B ERIE 18]
A #wE - Bt BETHERER
Al RE A RIELLEL -

AEBBHBRAKR @5 BEE
T XM 3 IREE -

R2018F1 A1H » BEZHESE
BRI TSR 2RI 55 1 55 EHR B B A

N
BEFE -

EEMBREENFEIREMTA

BB HRS AR O REUR BB
G ERIEIREHEREERS
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BB PRERAE B EREERE9
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HEZFEHNZERER2018F1 11
ZIRBEFNTER °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H ILEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

The Group’s accounting policies for the classification and
measurement of financial instruments and the impairment of
financial assets are disclosed in detail in Note 3 below.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the
Group’s existing financial assets as at 1 January 2018 based
on the facts and circumstances that existed at that date and
concluded that all recongised financial assets and financial
liabilities that are within the scope of HKFRS 9 are continued to
measure at amortised cost as were previously measured under
HKAS 39.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s accounting
for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing HKAS
39’s incurred loss model with a forward-looking ECL approach.
As at 1 January 2018, the directors of the Company reviewed
and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets for
impairment using reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort in accordance with the
requirement of HKFRS 9.

It is concluded that, as at 1 January 2018, no additional credit
loss allowance has been recognised against retained earnings
as the estimated allowance under the ECL model were not
significantly different to the impairment losses previously
recognised under HKAS 39.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

(Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKAS 8

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

Definition of Material®

Leases'
Insurance Contracts®

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle'

Definition of a Business®

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation'
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
Effective for business combinations and assets acquisitions for which
the acquisition date in on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective date not yet been determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H ILEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)
(Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the
financial statements of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, the
initial estimate of restoration costs and any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee. A lease liability is initially recognised at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. Lease liability is subsequently measured
by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payment made, and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect
any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-
substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation and impairment
expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be charged to
profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on lease liability will
be charged to profit or loss.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17
Leases. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases
as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it
becomes effective.

2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;201812 31 H It EE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$3,538,000 as disclosed
in note 30. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon
the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of
new requirements may result changes in the measurement,
presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The directors
of the Company are in the process to determine the amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position, after taking
into account all practical expedients and recognition exemption
under HKFRS 16. The directors of the Company expect that
the adoption of HKFRS 16 will not have material impact on the
Group’s result but certain portion of these lease commitments
will be required to be recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties that
are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H ILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, power over the investee may be obtained through:
(i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights
arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group’s
voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of
the above, based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in an associate and a joint venture are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. Under the equity method, investments in
an associate and a joint venture are initially recognised at cost.
The Group’s share of the profit or loss and changes in the other
comprehensive income of the associate and joint venture are
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate or joint venture, which determined
using the equity method together with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies
other than those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances, adjustments are made to make the
associate’s or joint venture’s accounting policies conform to
those of the Group when the associate’s or joint venture’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of
the investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the associate or joint venture is recognised
as goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the
investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s or joint venture’s losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional
impairment loss with respect to its investment in the associate
or joint venture. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
not separately recognised. The entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or
joint venture. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group’s ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest is reclassified to profit or loss if
that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(Continued)

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate or joint venture are recognised in
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. The
Group’s share in the associate’s or joint venture’s gains or
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss, if any.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings (classified as finance leases) held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

If an investment property becomes an owner-occupied
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by
commencement of an owner-occupation, the fair value of
that property at the date of transfer is the deemed cost for
subsequent accounting for that property as an item of property,
plant and equipment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash
as defined above.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets (Continued)

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018 (with
application of HKFRS 15)

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group uses a
5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is district or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially same.
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e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 A It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

° sales of goods;
° operating lease; and
° investment income
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (Continued)

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point when the
control of the goods is transferred to the customers (generally
on delivery of natural uranium). Policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases and investment income from investments
in a joint venture and an associate is described in the respective
accounting policy below.

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2017

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2017
(Continued)

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating
leases is described in the accounting policy below.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Management fee income is recognised when services are
provided.

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees (after 7 November 2002
and vested on or after 1 January 2005)

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the
share options granted vest immediately, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (after 7 November 2002
and vested on or after 1 January 2005) (Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will continue to
be held in share options reserve.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, an
associate and a joint venture, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with the
general principles above.

3.

FESHBE®)

Bl (&)

BB ETENE A F e
BERERGECE 2 BRVEGR
EERRER - MEfH A SR B 4 I ER P
R E NG ZRR BN R
KEER 2 BERABRIN - BEZFR
B Nt Pl HRERRS E R AL
BEEHBEE - ENEERAER
BaMABREREE 2 M A
TERAR A] L SR A R

EEHBEEENREAENE —RE
%X%M%ﬁ'WKT%EEE%
FERRT g A A] ik Bl 2 B sk B

2 RIS HIRAR LHEM$E@°

SEEBUBE E R A RN RS
BEEREE BERERE B2
Bk (RBUE) - MR EMEEE
S A EHER 2B

ERERBERBEREEZFTERRA
SEFRHNREHEERF @R
BREEE;BBREEELE IS
‘R

LAt ERA AR EEAENRE
YEHRELTH AR BESEEHAE
EME @ ZEWENREEHRR
AEBEHEREKE - BRIFZRER
TERY - EREMEATHER
RASENEGEA (AXBEF
EFER R T JF B @ 3H &R E )
EFBEENBREOKEME) A
FAR - BRKRERE DKL - WA
BRI - Al LR E YRR
BEENIR B EEEHIAE ERIE
—RRAFTE -

Annual Report 2018
—B—\FERH

145



146

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss
for the period, except for exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income, in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting date. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
the exchange translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease, except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the lease payment cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (defined contribution plans)
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminate the
employment of current employees according to a detailed
formal plan without possibility of withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value in use of tangible assets for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as

follows:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy
for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value
on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions (including
trade and other receivables, amount due from an intermediate
holding company and bank balances and cash) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial asset at amortised cost are measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount
of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated
future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the
amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, amount due from
an intermediate holding company and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated on an individual basis for customer with significant
balances, estimated based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external rating is
not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’.
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial
position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or
o information developed internally or obtained from

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 30 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower; or a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event; or

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3)
designated as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z2018F 12 A31H I FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one category,
including loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018F12 A31H It FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount due
from an intermediate holding company and bank balances
and cash) are carried at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss of financial
assets below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H ILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and
other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the credit period ranging from 25
to 30 days, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance amount are
recognised in profit or loss. When trade and other receivables
are considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H ILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
amounts due to an intermediate holding company, a joint
venture and fellow subsidiaries are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognise its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities from
investment properties that were measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties in the PRC were held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantively all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors of the Company determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model recovered entirely through sale
was rebutted. As a result, the Group continues to recognise
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value of investment
properties on the basis that the entire carrying amounts of the
properties will be recovered through use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Significant influence over associate

As per note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company considered Fission Uranium Corp.
(“Fission”), in which the Group has 19.90% (2017: 19.92%)
equity interest, is an associate of the Group as the Group has
significant influence over Fission by virtue of its contractual right
to appoint two out of eight directors to the board of directors of
Fission.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated useful life and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment were depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual values. The determination of
the useful lives and residual values involved management’s
estimation. The Group assessed annually the residual value
and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment and
if the expectation differed from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the depreciation in the year and
the estimate would be changed in the future period. As at
31 December 2018, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment was approximately HK$14,319,000 (2017:
HK$16,529,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amount due
from an intermediate holding company

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables
and amount due from an intermediate holding company are
based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, bases on the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s
historical experience and forward-looking information at the
end of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment
and it may be necessary to make additional impairment
charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. At 31 December 2018, no loss
allowance or impairment loss of trade and other receivables
and amount due from an intermediate holding company is
recognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The impairment loss for property, plant and equipment was
recognised for the amounts by which the carrying amounts
exceed their recoverable amounts, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment are the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In determining
the recoverable amount, use of estimates such as the future
revenue and discount rates is required. As at 31 December
2018, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
was approximately HK$14,319,000 (2017: HK$16,529,000).
No impairment is recognised for current and prior years.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are
stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer. In determining the fair value,
the valuer has based on a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates of market conditions. In relying on the
valuation report, the directors of the Company have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the assumptions used
in the valuation have reflected the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in
the fair values of the Group’s investment properties being
recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of investment
properties measured at fair value at 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$30,359,000 (2017: HK$31,427,000).

Impairment loss on investment in a joint venture

At the end of the reporting period, the Company reviews the
carrying amounts of investment in a joint venture to determine
whether there is any indication that the investment has
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the investment is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
determination of recoverable amount of investment in a joint
venture involves estimates as to: (1) future revenue based on
forecasted uranium prices; (2) actual production volume of
uranium mines held by the joint venture; (3) exchange rate
between Tenge, the currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan
(“Kazakhstan”), and USD; (4) the discount rate to be applied
to such revenue and costs for the purpose of deriving
a recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount of the
investment is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. The carrying amount of investment in a joint venture is
approximately HK$190,706,000 (2017: HK$161,280,000) as
at 31 December 2018. No impairment is recognised for current
and prior years.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss on investment in an associate

At the end of the reporting period, the Company reviews the
carrying amounts of investment in an associate to determine
whether there is any indication that the investment has
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the investment is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
determination of recoverable amount of investment in an
associate involves estimates as to: (1) the estimated future
cash flows expected to arise and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value; (2) the resources of
uranium; (3) expected market price and (4) exchange rate
between Canadian dollar (“CAD”), the currency of Canada,
and USD the purpose of deriving a recoverable amount. If
the recoverable amount of the investment is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
investment is reduced to its recoverable amount. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, a reversal on impairment loss of
approximately HK$19,021,000 (2017: an impairment loss
of approximately HK$7,005,000) was recognised in profit
or loss and included in share of results of an associate. The
carrying amount of investment in an associate is approximately
HK$521,538,000 (2017: HK$550,202,000) as at 31 December
2018.

Fair value measurement and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets including investment properties
and identifiable assets and liabilities of an associate at the
acquisition date are measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The directors of the Company are responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements. Details are set out in notes 17 and 19.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement and valuation processes (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The directors of the Company work closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has not been recognised
the tax losses of approximately HK$27,698,000 (2017:
HK$76,376,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. During the year ended 31 December 2018, tax loss
of approximately HK$54,654,000 expired. These losses relate
to subsidiaries that have a history of tax losses and the Group
has not accounted for the relevant deferred tax. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. The directors of the Company determine the deferred
taxation assets based on the enacted or substantially enacted
tax rates and the best knowledge of profit projections of the
Group for coming years during which the deferred taxation
assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of the
Company will review the assumptions and profit projections by
the end of the reporting period.
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5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to an intermediate holding company,
a joint venture and fellow subsidiaries, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. The directors of
the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As a part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s
capital structure.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

TRMEE

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost/

5.

HEERAH B ERMEE

EXEREE

AEEEREER - ARRAEE
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BE R E TEESRIERS - LA
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AREBZENGHBIEFAGE K
N—FEFEERARRE  —Ha
B b IR K [F) B A B FRIR
BRRE MRS FEEHE URART]
BAARLGEE  ETRECET
B K - ARREFE BT
BAGERE - FRRETEF—R - &K
RAEEEFEARANEEEE
AR ER - AR RBCEE 1T
HABRAKEENGE -

SRITH
SR T EMER
2018 2017
2018 2017 4

HK$’000
TET

HK$°000
TR

loans and receivables (including BN R GRTE

bank balances and cash) (BRERTEEERES) 1,095,722 1,146,833
Financial liabilities cRas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost s A 2 SR B & 27,091 108,367
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amount due from an intermediate holding
company, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and amounts due to an intermediate holding company, a
joint venture and fellow subsidiaries. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from rental income and purchases by
the Group in currencies other than the entities’ functional
currencies. Approximately 100% (2017: 100%) of the Group’s
rental income are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group’s entity. In addition, certain
portion of trade and other receivables, amount due from an
intermediate holding company, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables and amounts due to an intermediate
holding company and fellow subsidiaries are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
monetary assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other

than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

USD’000
FER
Presented in: 2018 2017
= 2018F 20174
Assets BE 1,815 12,466
Liabilities B - -

7. BBEREEBBFRRIEE

(%)
BWER(E)
TRERAKBRN RS S RE

HAEEREKEENBENEER
HEAEEE R AN e B EEEL
Z BB

RMB’000 HK$’000

AR¥T T FTHEx
2018 2017 2018 2017
2018%F 20174  2018%F 20174
13,963 21,522 266,113 308,384
(8,463)  (7,350)  (2,817)  (1,210)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of RMB, USD
and HKS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity (i) to a 5% and
0.5% increase or decrease in HK$ against the RMB and USD
respectively for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
5% and 0.5% are the sensitivity rates used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. UHEREEEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Currency risk (Continued) EHmEb (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) HIREE AT (&)
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign BREDNEBRBEARGEE 2 INE
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their HEEEIE R KRR IR 44 R
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% or 0.5% FLINEEFE K 2 5% 8% 0.5% (2017 £F :
(2017: 5% or 0.5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive 5%3%0.5%) B ENEH 2 IRE FHEE o
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the TX 2 EHERMOGEENINES
respective functional currency strengthen 5% or 0.5% (2017: 3,6 BB E5%8005% (2017
5% or 0.5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% or 0.5% F : 5% 5% 0.5%) FTB B PR T 15 % A
(2017: 5% or 0.5%) weakening of the respective functional ZFHiE o fHiBERINRE B K A
currency against the relevant currency, there would be an equal BRI E5%500.5%(20174F : 5%k
and opposite impact on the profit. 05%) ' IS BB ER 2 558
%3555 &

USD’000 RMB’000 HK$'000
SV AR®ET T TRT

Presented in: 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
A 2018F  2017F  2018%F  2017F  2018F  2017F
Profit or loss RHEE (68) (467) (191) (620) (1,099) (1,282)
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is ERERS  ARFER ZERI
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the ERMEARRE - WERE ST
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the TREEEINERR ©
year.
Interest rate risk =@ B
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation AEBERER=ZFT—N\F+=H
to its variable-rate bank balances and amounts due from =+ —HRTEFERESAMEE
fellow subsidiaries included in bank balance and cash as at 31 K2 BIRITAERR B R R B A
December 2018. The Group currently does not have an interest AIFEEEIRESREF KRR o 2~
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors SE BRI EF REFER - A
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions i BREESEEANERRE WK
when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated. T B 4 3R 28 K ) =R R B e R

HEALFAHEITE ©

Annual Report 2018
—E\FEH

175



176

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments
including bank balances at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2018
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$4,461,000
(2017: HK$4,230,000) bank balances.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2017, impairment loss was recognised
when there was objective evidence of impairment loss.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Starting from 1 January 2018, for trade receivables, the Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL
on an individual basis for customer with significant balances,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as well as
the general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
In view of good creditworthiness of the major trade debtor
which is also the immediate holding company of the Company,
the expected credit loss rate of current trade receivables are
assessed to be close to zero.

For other receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
included in bank balances and amount due from an
intermediate holding company, the credit rating was
performing. Based on the financial position and good history of
repayment of the fellow subsidiaries and intermediate holding
company, the Group has assessed that the ECL for these
receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and an
intermediate holding company are not material under 12-month
ECL. Thus, no loss allowance provision was recognised during
the respective period.

The credit risk on liquid funds other than those placed with the
fellow subsidiaries and intermediate holding company is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 100%
(2017: 100%) of the total trade receivable as at 31 December
2018.

Besides, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 100%
(2017: 100%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s sole customer within natural uranium trading segment.
However, the directors of the Company consider the credit risk
to be insignificant as the sole customer is the immediate holding
company of the Company with good creditworthiness.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are repayable on
demand or within one year.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to their immediate or short-
term maturities.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING
INCOME

Revenue represents amount received and receivable from sales
of natural uranium, net of returns, discounts allowed and sales
related taxes, and rental income (net of direct outgoings: nil)
during the year. Revenue recognised during the year are as
follows:

8.

ERARHEMEERA

EXRBIEFAHRERE - AR
RABRAHE BRI R N2 DR
FE SRR Ko M A (HIBR B2 X
AR - RAFEERZ AN
o

2018 2017

20184 2017 4F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

TEx FHET

Sales of goods HEEM 359,916 370,720
Rental income (net of direct WA (FOBRE#

outgoings: nil) A ) 2,115 2,070

362,031 372,790

The revenue from sales of goods for the year ended 31
December 2017 were recognised under HKAS 18.

The revenue from sales of goods for the year ended 31
December 2018 were derived from customers in the PRC and
recognised at a point in time and under HKFRS 15.

HZE2017F12 A31 BHIEFERA
HEE MM EEBILREESE
BI5E 18 5k HERR o

HZE2018%F 12 831 H IE F E K
BHEERNEEBARETRER
F o WizRE B ISR ELERIFE5
SRR — BB ER o

2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TExT T

Other operating income Hih &= A
Bank interest income RITHBHA 1 1

Interest income from fellow

subsidiaries B 2B B A &Lz F A 25,830 16,732
Management fee income EIBBUA 2,846 2,993
Others EAth 421 27
29,098 19,753

Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & &

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQO”),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
Operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker are the same as the reportable segments of the Group.

Accordingly, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
are as follows:

a) property investment segment engages in leasing;

b) natural uranium trading segment engages in trading of
natural uranium; and

C) other investments segment engages in investment in a
joint venture and an associate.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
above reportable segments.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Property
investment

NREE
HK$'000

s

EEH

Revenue

REERIERD B D 7BRIVFF
BENAERFATE(RIETEEE
REE) MENEMERRARN
SR EME M RGEE - T2
BIERRE BRI AL E D B ERIAAE
PSR E R R s #RAER o

Bt AEEE AR E L E D BRI

a) MERE D HREEE

b) RANE 50 BB E KA 3
B Kk

) EMigE A ERER
—HAE Rk —HgERE -

ANEEA AL D EDEA LAKARK
atial R 5E8 o

DERBARFE

REEZAIHEREEDFZ5 2
WARZEEDHTIT

BZ20185F 1231 HLLFE

Natural
Other uranium

investments trading Total

HiRE RA#EZ st
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000

TR TERT TR

359,916 362,031

=
Segment (loss) profit AE(EE) EF 64,658 51,788 112,445
Other income and gains H A Felizs 29,098
Central administration costs P RITHA A (23,309)
Profit before taxation BR A5 AL 118,234

1 80 CGN Mining Company Limited
FEZEEAR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

9.

Property
investment

MERE
HK$'000
TAT

investments

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018412 831 H It E[E

DEBER (2
DEBMA R ¥4 (2)
HZE2017F12 A31 HILFE

Natural

Other uranium
trading Total
AAHE S st
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

A&
HK$'000
TR

Revenue EER 2,070 - 370,720 372,790
Segment (loss) profit &b (518 m A (3,116) (37,015) 107,190 67,059
Other income and gains H A R llizs 19,753
Central administration costs R RATIRBL AR (19,066)
Profit before taxation MR R 67,746

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the

same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss from) profit earned by

each segment without allocation of other income and gains and

central administration costs. This is the measure reported to the

CEOQ for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

R B2 SR BRI R 3 AT
ZASEEFHEMAR - 25 (&
1B)aMES Y B (ELEE) b
s A 30 R D B U A & e zd
KA RITHAA » T ERD B
RRBFHERERERTE RE 25

assessment. 8o
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities TREJNAEBE R HRE MEE D
by reportable and operating segments: Az BEERAE
Segment assets DEEE
2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FET
Property investment YIS E 49,425 48,265
Other investments HAbig & 712,244 711,482
Natural uranium trading RAHE 5 9,186 119,856
770,855 879,603
Unallocated corporate assets RAOB AR EE 1,091,037 1,031,672
Total assets BEMAE 1,861,892 1,911,275

Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. oER(#)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEHEEREE ()
Segment liabilities DEEE

2018 2017
2018 5§ 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
Property investment ELra-) 1,698 1,371
Other investments HMigE = -
Natural uranium trading KAHE 5 13,922 93,266
15,620 94,637
Unallocated corporate liabilities IO AREE 33,843 25,883
Total liabilities BfERSE 49,463 120,520

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than bank balances and cash, income tax recoverable
and other assets for corporate use including certain
property, plant and equipment and other receivables.

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than amounts due to an intermediate holding company
and fellow subsidiaries, income tax payable, deferred
tax liabilities and certain other payables.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

DEFEERDBEZERD

BRIRITEFRAEE - AT
Bl P 15 B A RAE R B A
Bz HEMEE  BRET
ME - BERREARE
il EWGRIESN - FREBE

BDEEELEDE

B I — Rl R R 2 A
A N A R R K8 2 A
RE - BNAEHR BT
MERERE THMBEN
KBS BERBEHIE

Z3 43 A 32
BREDER ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DHERE)
Other segment information HAth 7 E &%
2018 2018

Property Other
investment investments

Natural

uranium
trading
ARHES
HK$'000
TR

Unallocated
AAR
HK$'000
Thxn

Total
@5t
HK$'000
Tir

659 1,568
= (390)
- 1949
- (21

NERE  EfRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THR Thr
Amounts included in the measure of TESBERADDEER
segment profit or loss or BHASE
segment assets:
Depreciation ik 929 =
Changes in fair value of investment properties  RAYE AL EEE (390) -
Share of results of a joint venture ElE-HAELERE = (51,943)
Share of results of an associate (Note) fElb—Tma e () = (12,715)
Amounts regularly provided to the chief ~ EHE HRHTERMLYE
executive officer but not included BYFEER BER
in the measure of segment profit PAREEBZTE
or loss or segment assets:
Income tax expenses iR 3 =
Bank interest income RITFIEIA - -
Interest income from fellow subsiclaries RAZRBREZFIEMA - =
Management fee income ERERA = =

16826 16,826
(1) (1)
(25830 (25830)
(2846)  (2846)

Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

184

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. EER )
Other segment information (Continued) HihpEHER (&)
2017 2017 &

Property
investment
ES
HK$'000
TEL

Other
investments
HtiR
HK$'000
TATL

Natural
uranium

trading

Unallocated
AAR
HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
TAn

Amounts included in the measure of FTEATERNS PEER

segment profit or loss or BHARE:

segment assets:
Depreciation & 909 - - 940 1,849
Changes in fair value of investment properties  &&WEAL EEH (358) - - - (358)
Share of results of a joint venture [Ef— Fﬁé%ﬁ%iiﬁ - 20,558 - - 20,558
Share of results of an associate (Note) fElb—Tma bR () - 16,457 - - 16,457
Amounts regularly provided to the chief ~ EHFEEHTEREHE

executive officer but not included in BEFEERIHES

the measure of segment profit PAREEBZTE

or loss or segment assets:
Income tax expenses iR = = = 16,668 16,868
Bank interest income HAFERA - = = 1) ()
Interest income from fellow subsidiaries RZNBARZFISMA - - - (16,732) (16,732)
Management fee income EREMA - - - (2.99) (2,99

Note: A reversal of an impairment loss of approximately HK$19,021,000 BT #919,021,0007% 7T &9 J3i {8 &5 18 7 [B]

(2017: impairment loss of approximately HK$7,005,000) is included in
the share of results of an associate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

(20174 :
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B 1EL 165 8 #97,006,00078
T0) BTG — R R AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong (“HK”), the
Mainland China, Kazakhstan, Canada and the United Kingdom
(I(UKU).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets.

DEER (&)
45 )

AEBNEBURES - hE B
PERATA - MEAREE -

BRARNEEREINBEF OB AR
BHRRBELEREMEES - A
RASEIERBEENENERE
BEMEMMEZT

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

FEISNEBEF KA FRBEE

2018

2018 &

HK$’000

Fix

HK Ei _
PRC = 362,031
Kazakhstan S pE T HT i =
Canada mneEx =
UK ] =

2017 2018 2017
2017 4 20184 2017 4
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAT

= 627 1,237
372,790 44,051 46,719
= 190,706 161,280
= 521,538 550,202

362,031

372,790 756,922 759,438

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as
follows:

FHEREFZEHR

AT #5IR BN REFE ARG RS
BHEABRBBI0%NTP 2K
A

2018 2017

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Customer A' BER 359,916 370,384
! Revenue from natural uranium trading segment L RERAME S D2 UA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & £2018412 431 H I & E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

10. Fif8Fix

186

2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FA&T

Hong Kong Profits Tax BAEFEH
— current year —REE 9,416 18,929
— over provision in prior years — BT FE B (55) (746)
9,361 18,183

UK Corporation Tax R
— current year —AREFE 1,652 724
11,013 18,907
Deferred tax ERETIE 5,813 (3,239)
16,826 15,668

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporation
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
profits of all Group entities in Hong Kong are not selected by
the management for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
and continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. For the
year ended 31 December 2017, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at a flat rate of 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits.

CGN Mining Company Limited
REZEEAR AT

R2018F3A21H » FEN LS R
2017 R (EET) (BB 7 5% ) 15001
BR([E%xR]) 5| AZRAERH
RHIE - BRMN201843 28 H %
ERAERE  WHRBETIE - &R
ZRNEGHBEERGE - BRI
NE—B&BTarNAEHER
8.25% - BB =B & BT A& K
B EEBE16.5% ° B ZE20184F
12AB31BIEEE  AEEEES
MATE BN RS g
BRI AR SR R BIE L -
I A HEAE TR BR 16.5% HY B — i K1
Tio B E£2017F 12318 IEF
B BAENGEHHE R ERY
AR 16.5% & —&+& °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018F12 A31H It FE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years.

The PRC subsidiary is in loss-making position for the current
and the previous years and accordingly did not have any
provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax for both years.

The subsidiary operating in the UK is subject to Corporation Tax
Act of UK and the tax rate of the UK subsidiary is 19% for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 20%).

Pursuant to the tax law of Kazakhstan, withholding income
tax is levied on 10% of profit before distributed to overseas
investors. The Kazakhstan Income Tax is withheld by the joint
venture when 49% of total dividends were distributed to the
Group by the joint venture.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI for the both
years.

10.

BB 2

REBEPBEGEMEVE([EEME
B REERGD - —REH BN
BRRIRMEFEZRES25% -

RAFERBEFE - LT EME
DA E BRI - B I 5 M fE
FJE A AR R B 1 R P S AR RO 7
o

PRI 58 2 T BB A B B AR AR 2L
EFTSRUE - REIMTE A R
E2018F 12 A31 BIEFEZH =X
A319% (2017 4 : 20%) °

REBRERAETL - BMAEHR
B0 Ik BIMNREE Z BRI ANE F
Z10% U o b3l b 7 52 HT E A
BHAsEtFEERAAKEDIK
49% 2 #ERL B TR -

REFEHERRBRLES A
RIER - AEERMESFEHA
BRAEHE L EBRIBESHMS
i e

Annual Report 2018
—ZE-)\FFR

187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & &

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 10.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the

Bl 2

AEFMRERHEFA RS RE
f*@%ﬁﬂ&kﬁﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬂﬁl o I B

profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows: N
2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TEx FA&T
Profit before taxation [ B B2 ) 118,234 67,746
Tax calculated at rates applicable BEBREE AR EAR 23,306 8,924
to profits in the respective S Al 7 TRt E 7§18
tax jurisdiction concerned
Tax effect of share of results of ElE—EeEhE BB TE (12,986) 5,140
a joint venture
Tax effect of share of results FE(E— R E R o BB E (2,098) 2,715
of an associate
Tax effect of expenses not DA 2 B s 372 1,374
deductible for tax purpose
Deferred tax on undistributed —EEECERDBER 5,832 (3,726)
earings of a joint venture BRI I8
Tax effect of tax losses not ARIERT IS ER Fisw & 2,455 1,987
recognised
Over provision in prior years BAFERERE (55) (746)
Income tax expenses for the year REZRRER Y H 16,826 15,668

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 27.

CGN Mining Company Limited
FEZEEAR AT

AEFER IR IR SN R 27 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018412 831 H It E[E

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived REBHME I (BT A)

11.

RE R m A

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4

HK$°000 HK$’000
TR TAT

at after charging (crediting): THEIE :

Auditors’ remuneration Z AN 5 1,370 1,330

Cost of inventories recognised HRAERAS Rt AHE 298,278 253,774
as an expense and included in AT E RS
cost of sales

Depreciation of property, P - BB MREITE 1,588 1,849
plant and equipment

Operating lease rental on land THREFLEHEERS 1,966 1,856
and buildings

Staff costs (including BIRAN(BREEZENE) (HE14) 15,814 14,661
directors’ emoluments) (note 14)

Share of income tax expense Eh—Ra &b 8,311 (3,787)
(credit) of a joint venture FriSfis i (&)

Net exchange loss HIE H B e 18 524

DIVIDENDS 12. RE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a final dividend
of HKO.2 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2017 has been declared and paid.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
of HKO.5 cents (2017: HKO0.2 cents) per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2018 has been proposed by the
board of directors of the Company and is subject to approval
by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

MREZE 2018412 A 31 B ILFEHA
M BEEMHMREHE2017F12
A31BIEFEMNSFR AR SB 0.2
AL e

RAFHEHR AR ESSIRE
IKEEZE2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2 AHRR B AER0.5L (2017
F:0.28)  ZEBRRRETLE
BRERENEERAMNBRREFAE
ok o
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e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share KATHEA NERBIREAR RS
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the B TE N5 SRt E

following data:

2018 2017
2018 2017 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Earnings ZF|
Earnings for the year attributable ARt EERERZRNZ 101,408 52,078
to the owners of the Company A RS AT AR
for the purpose of basic earnings
per share
Number of shares BB
Weighted average number of BARsTESREREF] 2 6,600,682,645 6,600,682,645
ordinary shares for the purpose AR ANRE 8L

of basic earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per BRREIZE 2018 F & 2017 F 12 A 31

share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during BIEFEEREEBEWE Y BET

the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. AR - NEREERNENTIRE
AREH| o

14. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 14. ETRA& (GEEEME)

EMOLUMENTS)
2018 2017
2018 2017 £
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Salaries, allowances, other benefits 4 - 285 « HAbiEF| 13,092 12,559
and bonus MAEAT
Retirement benefit schemes RN FIET I 3R 2,722 2,102
contribution
15,814 14,661
_I 90 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance which are available to
qualified employees. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the subsidiaries in independently
administered funds. Monthly contributions made by the
subsidiaries are calculated based on certain percentages of
the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under
the relevant requirements, as appropriate. The employees
are required to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or up
to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employees are entitled to 100% of
the employer’s Mandatory Contributions upon their retirement
at the age of 65, death or total incapacity.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Company in this country participate
in respective government retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute
to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are calculated
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes is to pay
the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by the
relevant authorities of the PRC and the defined contribution
schemes operated in Hong Kong.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$2,722,000 (2017:
HK$2,102,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period.

Details of the Company’s share options granted to the
employees of the Group are set out in note 28.

14.

ETIRX (BREEHE)

(&

BENBRRIRAERERRER
SRl EAEE A BIRPIHETTER M
Hat (TRfEEaE)) - ZFatE
ZEEENBARZEENBEILE
BESADRIFE - WBARZE
AR IR B B E AT AE
RHFMAAZET AL REER
BREARBAME)E - BEA
RE A ¥ 2 5% =& =1,500/8 TLIE
R - MRS AR B E L BRIME
K o BEMNESEERIN - HiExR
BRTERENRZ A 100% 2 EE
58 Il ME AR o

REFEEREER AP - AAF
Z P EKBAR2EERBATRK
wAE & (T FaHE)) - Bt
ZEWB AR AMZFEIELH
R BN A EREER ZRINGE
M o ARzt EIE 2 HR TR
R BIAR I FTRT BRAE A Hr BN AR AN 2 s
EANLFE - FEAEERAR
AR AR B I 2 2 BURIKAR
Mo REBAZETEZEEER
RIBZ SR BIEL BN -

BAEFIET & BN A KB H B
BAERE REF I ZFTEARLR
BREFZERHIEEIEL Z #
TRAEEE -

BB 2 8k 42,722,000
ot (2017 £ : 2,102,000 7T) + A
AEERA ST R ZETEIE
REZ K o

RATANEEE TRTERE
FIEHAHIFE2S o
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e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERBESHMA T 2N
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS &
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) ESBRTIETHAEMSE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve B2 sk = % (2017
(2017: ten) directors and the chief executive were as FTRB)ESREETH
follows: ABZB&AT
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018F12A31HILFE

Other emoluments

Aftbe

Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowancesand  Discretionary schemes
Fees other benefits bonus  contribution Total
e 2y BUER
e REMER MR SRS gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THR THR Thr THr ThT

Emoluments paid or receivable in ESHERALT
respect of drector's other senvices  REMBATER
in connection with the management  ZEHREEZEf
of the affars of the Company and REEES 5

its subsidliary undertakings etz Me

Executive directors: HiTEE:
Yu Zhiping HEF - 19 - - 79
Xing Jianhua’ o - 7 - - 7
An Junjing®® REES - 871 - - 871
Chen Deshac’ RER’ - 792 - - 792

—ZATHETES

Emoluments paid or receivable in (ERATLAR
fespect of a person’s services EMEARZR
as adirector, whether of the Company %) Z B2
orits subsiclry undertakings 13

Non-executive directors: HHEE:
Yu Zhiping' sy - - - - -
Zhou Zhening?” BREEY - - - . .
Fang Chunfa’ " FEE - - - . .
Zhang Chengbal” BRI - - - - .
Sun X Al 5 - - - -
Yin Xiong® Bk o - - - -

Independent non-executive drectors:  BUFHTEE -
Qiu Xianhong il 120 - - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis FHfR 120 = = = 120
Gao Pei i SR 120 - - - 120

360 1,814 - - 2,174
1 92 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continueq)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Fees

HK8 000
TAT

15. EERBSHMA L 2B

Salaries,
allowances and

Thn

<AC )

(@) EERIETHAEMNE
(%)
HZE2017E12 A1 BILEE

Other emoluments
Ao

Discretionary
bonus

771
HK8 000
TAT

Retirement

benefit schemes

contribution
RANER
[
HK$'000
Th

Emoluments paid o receivable in EEEL NG
respect of director's other services REMBAAE
inconnection with the management Bz EKERL
of the affairs of the Company At REEES
and its subsiciary undertakings DES WAl
Executive directors: HITEE:
Yu Zhiping' A > 90 - - %0
Xing Jianhua® ¥pg’ - 864 - - 864
—ZATHETES
Emoluments paid or receivable in (ERATLAR
respect of a person’s services EMBRARERL
as adirector, whether of the Company ~ £%) 2 RE2E
or fts subsiclary undertakings SUET LAl
Non-executive directors: HHEE
Zhou Zhenxing’ iR 183 - - = 183
Fang Chunfa Vil 138 - - - 138
W Junfeng® Rt 138 - - - 138
Liu Mingdong® REH’ 104 - - - 104
Zhang ChengbaP FERS = - - - -
Independent non-executive drectors: BV TEE -
Quu Xianhong il 120 = - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis FHIR 120 = - - 120
Gao Pei i BEE 120 - - - 120
923 1,814 - - 2,137

a A~ © N

Mr. Yu Zhiping was also the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services
rendered by him as the CEO. He has re-designated as a non-

executive director on 25 January 2018.

Resigned on 25 January 2018
Appointed on 25 January 2018
Resigned on 28 November 2017

Appointed on 23 March 2017 and resigned on 4 December

2017

a » © N

RINERERITE « EXAT
BREEMOMSE 2E
HETERERHITEN
BEOHS  REER
20184 1 A 25 AAEIEH
TES

R 20184 1 A 25 BEHT
M20184F 1 A 25 HEZ T
2017 411 A 28 A BT
MR2017F3 A28 HEZ T
R 2017412 A 4 BEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

© Appointed on 28 November 2017

’ The Directors agreed to waive their emoluments paid by the

Group.

Mr. An Junjing is also the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services
rendered by him as the CEO.

Appointed on 16 November 2018

10

Resigned on 16 November 2018

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017, retirement benefit schemes
contribution for directors is borne by CGNPC, the
ultimate parent of the Company, and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “CGNPC Group”). No
apportionment has been made as the directors of the
Company consider that it is impracticable to apportion
this amount between their services to the Group and
their services to CGNPC Group.

(b) Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, two (2017: two) were directors and the CEO
of the Company whose emoluments are included in
the disclosures in note 15(a) above. The emoluments
of the remaining three (2017: three) individuals were as
follows:

Salaries, allowances and

15. EERBSHMA L 2B
€

(@ ESRIETHRAEMSE

(48)

£ R2017F11 A28 HEZ
i

7 EZRERERDAEE
X FHREOHS

E ZEBEENBARAE
BHITE * RERBEEN
e REERITIEAEE
BITE MBS HE S

E R2018F 11 B 16 HEZ
£

10 2018411 A 16 B BT

REZE2018F 12 A31 A X
201712 A31 HILERE -
EFRNEFE TS
KRR Z BB AR)F EZ
SEARIREWB AR (5
TR EZEE ) EE - /B
RARREERARERA
SE kP EZEERERE
Mo EZE B W AALT -
i i AR Ve 5 & o

(b) BEHFMAL

RAEBREZ RS HHA
TH - MABROI7TE: W
ZB)ERARREZRERFH
TE - EHFMERE LMW
FE15(a) FIEL B TR - 82 T
=2 AT017TE: =8)
REM AT

2018 2017
2018 2017 F
HK$’000

FAT

HK$’000
FERx

other benefits w4 LR EMET) 2,728 2,670
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 443 316
Retirement benefit

schemes contribution RIREFIFT 4 397 391

3,568 SRS

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. ESRBEEFHFMALZHM
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued) AP,
(b)  Individuals with highest emoluments (Continued) (b) EBESHMALE)
The emoluments were within the following bands: HENSEA TNEBE M :

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
Number of Number of
Individuals individuals
N
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000/8 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 2
16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y¥ - BEKRZRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and office
buildings improvements equipment Total
HEtih e B $E
RETF NEEE RBARE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TEL T
COST A
At 1 January 2017 201751 A1H 16,166 577 4,644 21,387
Exchange realignment B i 3 1,133 - 28 1,161
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12 318K
1 January 2018 20181418 17,299 577 4,672 22,548
Exchange realignment B A% (795) - 20) (815)
Additions RE - - 50 50
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H 16,504 577 4,702 21,783
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZIHTERRE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2017 R2017E1 A1 8 1,212 305 2,523 4,040
Exchange realignment A% 114 = 16 130
Provided for the year KEERE 836 193 820 1,849
At 31 December 2017 and R2017E12 A1 B R
1 January 2018 2018%1A1H 2,162 498 3,359 6,019
Exchange realignment B i3 (128) - (15) (143)
Provided for the year KEERE 854 79 655 1,588
At 31 December 2018 2018512 A 31 B 2,888 517 3,999 7,464
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12F31H 13,616 - 703 14,319
At 31 December 2017 Ro017£12 4318 15,137 79 1313 16529
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &;Z£2018412 431 H I & E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. V¥ > HEKRE &)
(Continued)

The carrying values of properties shown above comprise: Lt E 2z BREESE
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx AT

Land and buildings outside REBRINZ

Hong Kong: THIREE :

Medium-term lease HhEIEE 13,616 15,137
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Ltz - BB RREIE B TR E
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following useful lives BRELRA T AF R Rt
and rates per annum: BIE
Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the term METHE  IRASFHZN0F -

of the lease or 40 years BT ABE B A%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term HEMERE RHEFHSEF -
of the lease or 5 years ABAE B A%
Furniture, fixtures and office 10% to 27% R HER 10%ZE27%
equipment PR
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REWYHE
HK$’000
FER

FAIR VALUE [nfE
At 1 January 2017 R2017%1 18 29,021
Net increase in fair value recognised B R Bz ER 2

in profit or loss RNAEFIE N 358
Exchange realignment [ 5 ZA 28 2,048
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F 12 31 B X

1 January 2018 20181 A1 H 31,427
Net increase in fair value recognised B R BZIER 2

in profit or loss N EFEM 390
Exchange realignment HE 5, R (1,458)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12H31H 30,359

1 96 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018F12 A31H It FEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The carrying value of investment properties shown above are
situated in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the investment properties held by Beijing
Sino-Kazakh as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date
by an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group, Avista Valuation Advisory Limited, who
has among its staff members of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. The valuation was arrived at on an
open market value basis by using the income approach of
capitalising the net rental income receivable from the existing
tenancies and the reversionary income potentials.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s investment properties that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are
HK$30,359,000 (2017: HK$31,427,000). They are grouped
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs fair value measurements is observable.

There were no transfers between levels in fair value hierarchy for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

17.

BEWE#)

tRFEEREVEIDUR S
B RETFHEERE -

AEEMARBEEHERA UK
BUH S SAFE AR E R G 2 W)
SHUAARERNGE - XD

ANRIIEREYE -

1b SR A S 2018 4E K2 2017 4 12
RA31BFHERENMENAAETD
EREAEEERE B IS ERE
BEGEMXEETGHFRAGRA
AIFTHEA T EMES - X EHFTY
BABRARBHBIAESAZ
MEBees  HAIHMGEYSE
FTPEH 2h R AR R 2 (B EAEER - %
HERRAMMERE  BRER
EHETEE  BRENMLIRER
EHEMBAS WA FEEDE
RS WATEB

BRI — R & S
® o WA BWEZ ARETE -
% BAMERE AR £
o

REBMZIEMEUNYNTHERIEZ
A#1E30,359,00058 7T (2017 £ -
31,427,000 7T) 5T = * TR
BEAHERNEEIBEAAAEE=

MR20184F K2017F 12 A31 H MW
FRWERNABESERHE ZHHE
REERs o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. BEYE #)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of BERREMESE="BAAEFEZ
investment properties: Ert o
Valuation Significant
technique Key input unobservable inputs
(e FEHAE TR E2ER
All Investment Income approach Income approach takes into account Term yield and reversion yield
properties net rental income of the properties are at 6%

derived from the existing leases and/
or achievable in the existing market
with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the leases, which
have been then capitalised to determine
the market value at an appropriate
capitalisation rate.

FREREME WATE WNETE R ERMENRGHER SRR AXRRERBRAER
B/ FEHKTS EARRZESK 6% -
NEHE - BERABHEEZERENE
NEBEERE  BREREETIRER
AR R —EHEEMELL R EETE

The fair value measurement of the investment properties RABMNEEECREMEA A
determined by using income approach is negatively correlated FrE Ty EHAR YA K RIE BRI A
to the term yield and reversion yield. A slight increase in term 2 A8 - ARBARREFKRA
yield and reversion yield used would result in a significant ERMIERSEHME LN BETE
decrease in fair value measurement of the properties, and vice BERD » RZIR °

versa.

The net increase in fair value of approximately HK$390,000 H E2018F 12 A31H IEF & -
(2017: HK$358,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the N EEINFEEL390,000% T
year ended 31 December 2018. (2017 £F : 358,000 7T ) P B2 HE

1 98 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 18.

R—BEeghE s

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
HK$°000 HK$000
TET THET
Cost of unlisted interest R—HEaErE LT
in a joint venture RS Z BN 793,730 793,730
Share of post-acquisition results and FE(GUERTE 248\ Hofth
other comprehensive expenses, 2EAZ (MREKRE)
net of dividends received (603,024) (632,450)
190,706 161,280

Details of the joint venture as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
are as follows:

Place of

incorporations

establishmentand  Class of
Name of entity Form of entity  operation shares held
ERER ERFS o/ RIREF RS FERGER
Semizbay-U Limited liability ~ Kazakhstan Ordinary shares

partnership

BN BREASR  WERE LER

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint
venture is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

BEMER2018F K 2017412 A
31 BRI ¢

Percentage of

ownership held

by the Group

KEEfISEE  Principal activities
BAk FEEREE

49% Extraction, preliminary
processing and sale
of uranium oxide on
Semizbay and Irkol

fields
49% RE - I MIREHE
Semizbay J Irkol &1
& h
ERGELENBENEE

AEEECERENUBENER
T » TXHBEERETD
BECERBERFEMBREERM
RS S R TR 288

R FE4REMEHRT - AERE
AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 18. R—BaEL¥2ER 2

Semizbay-U ENG
2018 2017
2018 2017 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Current assets MENEE 207,051 280,910
Non-current assets ERHEE 422,423 401,747
Current liabilities mENE & 155,979 285,434
Non-current liabilities ERHARB 84,299 68,080
The above amounts of assets and L EENEBESRE
liabilities include the following: BIETS
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEBEIAR 16,830 4,191
Current financial liabilities ik =N
(excluding trade and other (T BEEMERR R E A
payables and provisions) ANERENNE L)) 95,396 229,627
Non-current financial liabilities FErneLpmBas
(excluding trade and other (T EIEEMNERR L HAAm
payables and provisions) FEAS SRIE KR B ) - 1,104
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Revenue =L 474,696 487,098
Profit (loss) for the year NEE A (E518) 106,006 (41,955)
Other comprehensive (expenses) AFEEHMER
income for the year (A2 WA (45,953) 5,015
Total comprehensive income AREFHEEMH
(expenses) for the year WA (FZ) 60,053 (36,940)
Note:  Dividend of approximately HK$7,086,000 from joint venture has been MizE : REZE2017F12831BILEE -
received during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2018: ni). B WEUR B & & 1 3 477,086,000

I (2018 4F : &) ZHRE. ©

CGN Mining Company Limited
200 PEZEEAR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Semizbay-U (Continued)

The above profit (loss) for the year include the following:

R—BEe8PEokDR )

WAE (&)

bt AE A (ER) B T

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 £F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

TET FHET

Depreciation and amortisation PrE Ry 69,452 108,955
Interest income MEMA = 154
Interest expense MERX 7,422 12,451
Income tax expense (credit) FiS TS i (%) 16,961 (7,729)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture is set out
as below:

ARG EDRZEEMEER

ZHEFRMEMERIOT

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 4

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FExT THETT

Net assets of Semizbay-U HARIEEFE 389,196 329,143
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7~ B 5 A &

interest in Semizbay-U FY A 25 L 41 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REERFH R A

interest in Semizbay-U R EREE 190,706 161,280

AEER—HAECENERILE

No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred
related to the Group’s interest in a joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. R—REBE ¥ ER

2018 2017

2018 2017 4

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHET FAT

Cost of listed interest in an associate A —RiH# &% F iz 2K 453,924 453,924

Share of post-acquisition FEAG IR B 1% 5 A

profit and other comprehensive N E b2 EBA

income (Note a) (FfzEa) 59,990 89,129

Share of other reserve FEAG Efth i S 7,624 7,149

521,538 550,202

Market value of the interest in
the listed associate

Z A

2018
2018
HK$’000
FEx

2017
2017 4
HK$’000
FHT

300,385 367,146

Details of the associate as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are

as follows:

Name of entity Form of entity

BREH RS

Fission Uranium Corp. Corporation
(“Fission”)

Fission Uranium Corp. i

(“Fission”)

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

Place of
incorporations
establishment Class of
shares held

iR &R

and operation

BIUPANES S

Canada Gommon shares

JIEYN Ak

MR20184F K2017F 12 A31H 2

Y

BEMRFRWT

Percentage of

ownership held

by the Group

(Note b)

AEEA

REERSL Principal activities

(Hztb) TEEKEY

19.90% (note ¢) ~ Acquisttion and

(31 December development of

2017: 19.92%) exploration and
evaluation assets

19.90% (fititc) WERFAEBIRR

(20174 HEEE

124318 :

19.92%)



19.

Note (a):

Note (b):

Note (c):

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the management of the Group reviewed the
interest in an associate for impairment assessment and determined
the recoverable amount based on a value-in-use calculation using
a 20-year cash flow projection (2017: comparable transactions
approach) with reference to a valuation performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer, Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal
Limited (2017: HF Appraisal and Advisory Limited). The key inputs are
the uranium prices and the resources of uranium.

During the year, as a result of recovery of uranium price, a reversal of
impairment loss of approximately HK$19,021,000 (2017: impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,005,000) was recognised and included in
the share of result of an associate for the current year.

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Fission
because it has the power to appoint two (2017: two) out of eight
directors of Fission under the terms stated in the subscription
agreement entered into by the Company and Fission on 11 January
2016.

During the year, Fission issued approximately 364,000 (2017:
1,463,000) ordinary shares upon exercise of share options granted
to the directors and employees of Fission under the share option
schemes of Fission. As a result, the Group’s interest in Fission
reduced in aggregate by 0.02% (2017: 0.06%). The effect on the
deemed disposal of partial interest in Fission is approximately
HK$275,000 (2017: HK$1,012,000) which included in share of result
of an associate for the current year.

The market value of the Group’s interest in an associate

disclosed above is based on the quoted market price available

on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCU”, which
is level 1 input in terms of HKFRS 18.

19. R—REBELE R E)

Bi5E (a)

HiEE (D) :

BiEE ()

(B £2018F 12 A31H &N & E

EEEEHN—RHBECEZER
WA W2EBLAEKTET
HE I AR A A AAR AR (2017
& ERTERBRAERARE)FT
HITHE - RA20F RS RER
(2017 F : AJELLBRSE) 2EH
BEFESAETHATKRESEE -
FZHABBERHERBER

FRA - AREBEBF - ARRER
3 {8 5 18 2] # 49 19,021,0007% 7T
(20174 : JREEE 47,005,000
J0) - HEt AR AT HRE S — R

NEBEEEY Fission fEINE AT E
AR iE AN A &) €2 Fission 72 2016 4F 1
A1 BETS 2 RBH IR - A%
EERZEENEFHRE (2017
FWE)ES -

RANEHR - FissionRIRFHE
EREEBNBREITERETLH
364,000/% (20174 : 1,463,0004%)
LA o BRI - ANEBE R Fission
K #E 25 & R 2 0.02% (2017 & -
0.06%) ° Fissiont& {EHE AR
2 2 4 5275,00078 7T (2017 4F :
1,012,000/870) B R AF BT ALE
IE— T DS -

Eii RN AR BN RS D

ek

MENREZRZE

PR SR FCU™ Al < T 8 (B3t
FREMBHREERIE 135 S HE
— AR ABUR) MEER] °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

19.

R—EEerE IR
EAME RS ERNE

BRASEEABECE CMBE
FHEZESIINT o T XAt 2 B 75
ERBR RS D ERBERM
B &R R B 2 B 5 R P AR

T e

ZBECENEAMBHRERTERA
AN °

Fission Fission
2018 2017
2018 2017 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Current assets MENEE 123,807 256,372
Non-current assets ERHEE 2,656,280 2,758,798
Current liabilities MENE & 6,285 3,032
Non-current liabilities ERHAG 153,006 250,082

2018 2017
2018 5§ 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FBT
Revenue = - -
Profit (loss) for the year REZHEN (E18) 65,275 (77,535)
Other comprehensive (expense) KEE
income for the year HEMamE(ZH) KA (210,322) 215,073
Total comprehensive (expense) REEZ
income for the year LM (Z ) KA (145,047) 137,538
Other reserve for the year REEH A 2,385 17,570
(142,662) 155,108

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

Fission (Continued)

The above profit (loss) for the year includes the following:

R—EEerE IR
EABE RS HBEREE ()

Fission (&)

A EREEAN (BR) 8 T3 -

2018 2017

20184 2017 4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FAT

Depreciation and amortisation T N 613 736
Interest income FBEUWA 3,750 182
Interest expense B H = -
Income tax expense P8z = -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate is set out as

below:

B R 2 S A R
ZEFEEEMNERINT

2018 2017

2018 £F 2017 &

HK$’000 HK$'000

TExT FAET

Net assets of Fission Fission &&=/ #18 2,620,796 2,762,056
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7~ [ Fission B 25 Lt

interest in Fission 19.90% 19.92%

Carrying amount of the Group’s ZRE2 1A Fission )
interest in Fission R A AR E (B 521,538 550,202

No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred
related to the Group’s interest in an associate.

AEER B AR ERT &
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20.

JE WA AR R e EL At B W AR IR

2018 2017

2018 £F 2017 &

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Trade receivables (Note a) FEURBR TR (FisEa) 9,186 119,856
Prepayments, deposits and TBRFIE - Re REM

other receivables (Note b) FEM IR (FiFEb) 10,522 9,044

19,708 128,900

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. At
31 December 2018 and 2017, there was no loss allowance
provided.

Note (a):  Trade receivables represents amount due from the immediate holding
company, China Uranium Development.

Note (b): Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
approximately HK$5,842,000 (2017: HK$4,179,000) and HK$24,000
(2017: HK$30,000) are interest receivables due from CGNPC
Huasheng Investment Limited (‘Huasheng”) and f EZBEERE
{£/A 7] (for identification purpose, in English, CGN Finance Co., Ltd.,
referred to as “CGN Finance”), respectively, fellow subsidiaries of the
Company.

The Group normally grants to its trade customer credit periods
for natural uranium segment ranging from 28 days to 120 days
after delivery dates. No trade receivables are past due as at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

AEBWERZESEBEREM
G o 20184 K 2017412 A
318 A"EBRFBEEEEL &
1 o

FRE (a) - EEURBRFRZR B B — R E BRI A
BB R R A FOR ©

MiEE (o) - AN FUR - e REMEEREE
RERRMBRR —hEREER
EBRAF([FE]) R EZHE
ERAEEAR(FEZFED K
5,842,000/ 7T (20174F : 4,179,000/
7t) % 24,0007 7T (2017 4F : 30,000
FBIT) HOFEUTA 8.

FE#ERBANT28HE120H
K= B Hf - & £ 20184 K 2017 &
12 A31 8 ' R E @ HAEBERTK
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables

presented based on the invoice date, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting periods.

20.

FE Wi e 7k B L At P W RR IR
(#)
RIEERAEE - URB AR
AERE SR A MARE Bl
BERRE AT -

2018 2017
2018 2017 £

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET T

Within 30 days 30KA - 109,514
31 to 60 days 31 E60K 9,186 3,367
61 to 120 days 61 E 120K - 6,975
9,186 119,856

The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Presented in:

BIRA
Trade and other IR
receivables H i edon

2018
20185

2,174

HK$'000
TR

REBUEEEEBTRNEEEI
Ghz ERESHE 2 FE R BR TR N Ho b e
WERIgan R

RMB’000
ARETR

2017 2018 2017

2017 2018 2017 &

1,838 3,004 3,072
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

21.

AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amount due from an intermediate holding company
represents the rental and management fee services receivables
from CGNPC-URC of which the maximum outstanding amount
during the year ended 31 December 2018 is approximately
HK$5,375,000 (2017: HK$2,650,000).

The amount due to an intermediate holding company
represents unsettled amount of management service provided
by and the expenses paid by CGNPC-URC on behalf of the
Group.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable within
a specified credit period.

The Group’s amount due from (to) an intermediate holding
company that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out

below:

21.

FEUR (1) —B P R D
A FIE

JE e — ) R 2 AR A R SR 38 B st Mk
B EZMERREAS R EBRS
B Heh o #ZE2018F12A31H
IFFE R ARERESEEL 5,375,000
T (2017 £ ¢ 2,650,000/87T) °

FE AN —Falh PR AR A B IR B &
ﬁfﬂﬂ%?&)ﬁﬁ$%l}z1ﬁﬁﬁ”ﬁfiﬁl§
BEAXMNERRGEERA -

FRIETYEIKIR - TR E MBRETE
EEHRNEE -

REE W () — B REZER A
R EEERELREZY
BEEW AN BREETEESIAT ¢

RMB’000
ARET

Presented in: 2018 2017
HIRA 2018 2017 4F
Amount due from an intermediate FE U — ] P

holding company FERR AN B R IE 4,709 1,293
Amount due to an intermediate e —TE

holding company el by N 5,373 5,425

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

AMOUNTS DUE TO FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable within a specified credit term.

The Group’s amounts due from (to) fellow subsidiaries that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

Presented in:

SRR

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

J& 1~ [ 22 Y 188 2 B 00R

22.

LARIEEA ) PSR e

HANICTEARIEYNCIE/SEPEE 3 i
T ERAEREEEEHAEE -

AREE Y () R AR K8 A R F0R
ER S E B RIELRE 2 ThEE
BASN EEEHERIIAT -

p=)
B

RMB’000
AR®T T

2018
2018 &

2017
2017 4

993 1,014

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. WITEEFERERES
2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Bank deposits: HRITHEN -
Cash at bank and on hand |ITREFRIRE 1,071,159 1,017,111
Analyse of bank balances and cash ~ RERIFITEE
at the end of the year: FIREDHT
Cash at bank and on hand (Note a)  #R1T&FERIEE (Mizta) 14,767 16,593
Cash placed at Huasheng TFRUREE B Ik P E
and CGN Finance (Note b) EmIR e (Fiskb) 1,056,392 1,000,518
1,071,159 1,017,111
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E
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23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 23. RWITEEFERRE @)
Notes: fisT -
a) Cash at bank carries interest at prevailing market rates for both years. a) M R IRITIF RIG IR T 35 I Rt 5
FE o
b) The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at ranging from 0.82% b) ZEFREER  REFNENT
to 3.66% (2017: 0.10% to 2.42%) per annum and recoverable on 0.82% % 3.66% (2017 £ : 0.10%
demand. On 6 December 2016, the Company entered into the new Z2.42% )7t B W TR ZHE AT YR o
Financial Service Framework Agreements with Huasheng for a terms R2016F12 A6 « ARQ A EEEER
of three years commencing from 1 January 2018 and ending on 31 RN RS ARISAE SR 75 5% - B 2018
December 2019 and on 5 September 2017, the Company and CGN #1818 18 £2019F 12 A 31
Finance entered into the Domestic Financial Services Framework Hib: REI=F - RR20174F9
Agreement in respect of the provision of domestic financial services by A58 » AR R EREZT
CGN Finance to the Group in the PRC commencing from 5 September BT EARE R AEEREER
2017 and ending on 31 December 2019 (collectively referred as the SRR RN B ARSIELE T
“Agreements”). Under the Agreements, the directors of the Company % 82017499 A5 BFKBZE 2019
consider that these deposits made to Huasheng and CGN Finance are F12A31HILE  MEAB(%ZE
qualified as cash as the Group can withdraw the deposits without giving Wzl - BEZZS WS KARE
any notice and without suffering any penalty. ERE 0 AAREEREFIRIGZFER
(BAFLEMBARTEZEM
#E) FERERRPEZME
WTFREBRIERIE °
The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in AEENBHEEEERBEEENU
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant YNz BB IRITEFERIRS N
group entities are set out below: T
HK$000 RMB’000 USD’000
Tz ARET R TER
Presented in: 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
SR 2018 20176 20185 20176 20185 20176
Bank balances and cash  $R{T&F KA 263940 306,547 6,249 17,157 1,815 12,466
7 7
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. FENRIFREMESFE
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Trade payables (Note) FEASTBR R (P ) 8,306 87,676
Accrued expenses and other payables [& 515z K £ 4th & (< F I8 5,472 2,476
13,778 90,152

Note:  Trade payables represented amount due to a joint venture of the
Company, namely Semizbay-U.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

st : BNEAREBNARARzEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continuec)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods:

24.

FE A B 7k I HL fth FE A9 FKOR
(#)

RBEHREEER - RIEZEZAH
22 ENRRZIREDITAT

2018 2017
2018 2017 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Within 30 days 30 AN - 80,826
31 to 60 days 31 260X 8,306 2,635
61 to 120 days 61E 120K - 4,215
8,306 87,676

The average credit period on purchases of goods was ranging KEEms THEERRIIERE

from 28 days to 120 days after delivery date. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

The Group’s trade and other payables that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

HK$’000
FERT
Presented in: 2018
=] 2018
Trade and other payables FETBRFR M o Ath
JEA IR 2,817

NF28HE1208 - NEEE EHE
MIERBREIRBR - AERATERE
NFENMEEHREE -

AEENAHEEEEREEEIN
Shz B FIME 2 FER RR R R Bt fE
[FRMT

RMB’000
ARBTR

2017
2017 £

2018
2018 F

2017
2017 4

1,210 2,098 911
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

25. AMOUNT DUE TO A JOINT VENTURE

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the amount mainly
represents other taxes in relation to purchase of natural
uranium resources from Semizbay-U, a joint venture of the
Company, charged by the local government of Semizbay-U.
The amount is reimbursed to Semizbay-U in accordance with
a purchase agreement entered into between the Company and
Semizbay-U.

The balance was unsecured, interest-free and repayable within
a specified credit period.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

25.

26.

N —EE8EEREA

R2018F KX 2017F 12 A31H » #%
FIBEEEBHEANAREERE
HARRBARABRERMZAHA
AIE T A ELA IR o 2% FRIE )
RIEAA R EBH AR BB 7
BmMZAH AT

RRSEER - THEMRETERE
EHREE -

€

Amount
Number of ot |
shares HK$'000
BoEE FAT
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FRAEEO0.01 BT 2 ARk
Authorised: JATE
At 1 January 2017, MR2017F1 A1 8 »
31 December 2017, 2017412318 *
1 January 2018 and 20181 A1HK
31 December 2018 2018412 A31 H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 January 2017, 20171 A1 H
31 December 2017, 201712 H318 -
1 January 2018 and 20181 A1 B X
31 December 2018 2018412 A31 H 6,600,682,645 66,007

All the ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 rank pari passu with the then
existing shares in all respects.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEZEEAR AT

MREZE2018F N 2017412 A31H
LIEFERA B BITH L AR = A
RARMNES TEZERHAL -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27.

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior year:

Accumulated
tax
depreciation

RRERE
HKS 000

ThL

IEFEDIE

AT BRAFRLBEFERRZ
TERTERBRREAREGRES

Change in fair

value of land
and buildings  Undistributable
and investment profits of
properties  a joint venture

THRET -Mag

UREENRZ i
RAERE  AAEEA it
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Thn TAL TAL

At1 January 2017 RO17E1A1A 2,638 4,007 8,760 15,405
Charged to (creditec) profit or loss PEEHR GGEA) 397 0 (3,726) (3239
Exchange realignment ERHRE 172 284 484 940
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R2017E12 831 AR 20181 A1 3,207 4,381 5518 13,106
(Creditec) charged to proft or oss W& (GTA) 1k (114) % 5832 5813
Exchange realignment S (33) (305) (4565) (799)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12831 7 3,060 417 10,895 18,126

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$27,698,000 (2017: HK$76,376,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses of
approximately HK$27,698,000 (2017: HK$76,376,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$27,698,000 (2017:
HK$76,376,000) that will expire after five years from the year
of assessment to which they relate to. As at the year ended
31 December 2018, tax loss of approximately HK$54,654,000
(2017: nil) expired.

RBEEEER  AEEI#
HHERR R 2 KRB ARIEE
1B # 5&27,698,000% It (2017
% 76,376,000/ 7T ) © B R K
B T8 ORISR AR g A SRR - kI 4
F #927,698,000/ JT(2017 4 :
76,376,000 7T ) < BiIB BB R
BEEMIBEE - RERBIEEE
FR #927,698,0007 JT(20174F
76,376,000 70 ) #§ A B EL AR 2
FHEERFRAFEER - BE
2018F 12 A1 AL FE * B 1E
JE518 47 54,654,000 78 7T (2017 4F
/) B Em o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ;2018412 A31H It EE

28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting held on 2 June 2010, a new share option scheme
(2010 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted. Details of which
were set out in the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2010.

The board of directors of the Company may, at their
discretion, grant option to the eligible participant including any
employees, any non-executive directors, directors, suppliers,
customers, advisors, consultants, joint venture partners and
any shareholders of any members of the Group or any invested
entities or any holders of any securities issued by any members
of the Group or any invested entities. The maximum number
of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under its share option scheme or any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of its issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. The total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2010 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing the relevant resolution
adopting the share option scheme unless it is approved by
shareholders in a general meeting of the Company. The
maximum number of shares issuable under the options to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares in issue unless it is approved by shareholder
in a general meeting of the Company. Any grant of options
under the share option scheme to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates must be approved by independent non-
executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive
director who is the grantee of the options). Any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or to any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares in issue and with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, in any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no share
options were granted, cancelled or exercised.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEXEEER DA

28.

BT

RIER2010F 6 A2 HEITZKRE
BAFERE FBA— BT RRES
A BB M —EF RS
([2010F B AR #ERT 21 ])) - BREAFF
BEN AR T HE20105F4 527H
ZIBK o

AAREESMEREERSHE
HR T ERE - BIEREEERK
BARSIWIREER 2 (HAIEE -
FRITEE - EF - H#HER T
B EBE - BAA - AERBRERK
Rk AL B EAKE R RS RE
ERFIBITESZIFAA « BEAIT
FIRBEAA R RET SIS AR A
PR ER 4N AR fr] B M BE AR AT B AT
PRSI M Al BE BT 2 AN R AR 1

B AREZTEBBARRTE
BEITIRAZ 30% ° BEITERE
2010 F g AR e 5T & S AN & B (E 1]
E b AR AT B AT IS L R AR e T ]
REEIT 2 R D 1B - T BHBIBRM
BRETES cBEBAZRRERBA
HIB 31T 0 2 10% @ BRIEAZER R
RABIREARNSHOERIER R © BR
IER AR AR R A S TR AL & -
BHFGEZEERBHEEREM12
8 AR FE AR i n] I 1T 2 AR 48
HEEZREBETRMNZ21%  BIE
BB SMARRERNES « =
DITRABSFEREHFES A
IR A T R AR RS T
IEMTEE (N IER A BAIREE
BAZBILIENITES) 2L ©
A ER12E A R R AR T 2
FERFNBUIFANTESHFES
ZEEZHBATEL 2 BRIER
BEEITRMZ01% RABEBBE
5,000,000 7T (R D AR H B
Bz WmEE) - AIZERAA R
AR R AR RALE ©

REZE2018F K 2017F12A31H
IEFE - BERE - aEiEskiTEE
ATHE AR AEE ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following

material transactions with related parties during the

year:

Sales of natural uranium resources
to CGNPC-URC

Sales of natural uranium resources to
China Uranium Development

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Semizbay-U, including taxes

Dividend income received from
a joint venture

Management fee paid to CGNPC-URC
Interest income from Huasheng
Rental income from CGNPC-URC
Business and administration service
fee paid to CGN Global Uranium
Limited (‘CGN Global’)
Administrative service fee paid to
General Uranium UK Ltd
(“General Uranium”)

Interest income from CGN Finance

Management fee received from
CGNPC-URC

AREZIERREE
ARHER

AR E#EERHAE
ARHER

BHATBE
ARWER(275)

KE-Fagtsk
HREBRA

arERhERREES

WeEREE B (| B W A

WE A B SERR 2SR

[71CGN Global Uranium Limited
(TCGN Global]) S {#)
£BLTBREE

7] General Uranium UK Ltd
([ General Uranium ) 32 f1#)
THRBER

W ER R R BT B

BB EHEER
LEEE

29. EBALRS

U

(vii

(i)

(ix

(@)

BRRAGEMBREANE
fibdth 7T W E I - ANEE
FREBBATERHEN
THEARS :

2018
20185

2017
20174
HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
TiEx

= 336
359,916 370,384
298,278 252,794

- 7,086

5,755 5,838
25,678 16,578
2,115 2,070
98 107
535 307
152 154
2,846 2,993
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Information system services fee paid
to CGN Power Company Limited

AP EEZE RN ERAHF
(TPEREN ) AR

20. BEBALRZ &)

@ &)

Notes

it

2017
20175

HK$'000
7

(CGN Power’) ZHRBER () 364 436
Accounting services fee paid to M ERE N

CGN Power SBHRBEER () 769 776
Administrative service fee paid to B EE R T TH

CGNPC-URC k%2R (x) 539 543
Notes: BifRE

)

(i)

On 15 October 2013, the Group entered into a framework
agreement with CGNPC-URC for the sales of natural uranium
resources for the year ended 31 December 2017 at prevailing
market rates. Interests at LIBOR plus 2% per annum on
overdue amounts for the overdue period will be charged to
CGNPC-URC.

On 1 July 2015, the Group entered into a sale agreement with
China Uranium Development for the sales of natural uranium
resources for the year 2017.

On 6 December 2016, the Group entered into a framework
agreement with CGNPC-URC for the sales of natural uranium
resources for the period ended 31 December 2017 to
2019 at prevailing market rates. Details are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 December 2016.

On 1 March 2017, the Group entered into a sale agreement
with China Uranium Development for the sales of natural
uranium resources for the year 2017 to 2019.

On 18 May 2016, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2017 with other taxes in
relation thereon borne by the Group. The Group is required
to pay trade deposit to Semizbay-U before delivery under the
agreement with an interest rate of 4% per annum.

On 29 March 2018, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2018.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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(i)

M®2013%F10H 158 -
AEEEPEZMETR
MR EZE 2017412 A 31
BILFERRATMELE
KR ¢ BRI =] SLAEZE 17
& o BHEIFIE AR 8 HR
1% LIBORN2% & &. [
A% 8 2E 2 R R FI 2, o

R20156F7HB1H » A&
E iR B IR 2017
FEEIHERARMTH
EifaE -

MN2016F12 A6 B, K&
B R EZHEERRE
E2017FE2019F 12 A
31 BIEFRERITHEY
ERARMERMa] MAELR
o A F AN NN =
HA2016F 12 ASHAA
==

R2017E3 818, AEE
EArh Bl Sh B R L2017 6
E2019FHERRIME TR
RIS E R o

R201645 188 » A&
B B A AR 2017 SF B8
BRRMET 08 B s
Hi AR ERAEEE
o iRiEWE - AEEA
MHAAREZNEDES -
FEFIRE4Y o

MR201843H29R » A"&
B £33 A A3 2018 F R
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £20184E12 31 B It EE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

()

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

()

(i)

The Group entered into a service agreement with CGNPC-
URC for the management services provided by CGNPC-URC.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with
Huasheng to deposit amounts with Huasheng and generate
interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a rental agreement with CGNPC-
URC to lease out the investment properties to generate rental
income.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, CGN
Global, a fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the business
services to the Group and charged for services fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, General
Uranium, a fellow subsidiary of the Group shared the finance
staff with the Group and charged for accounting services fee.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with CGN
Finance to deposit amounts with CGN Finance and generate
interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a management agreement with
CGNPC-URC to provide the management services to
CGNPC-URC for three years starting from 1 January 2017 to
generate management fee income.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, CGN Power, a
fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the information system
and accounting services to the Group charged for the services
fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group entered
into an agreement with CGNPC-URC that shared the finance
staff with the Group and charged for services fee.

29. BEABALRRE ®)

@ &
M (48)

) AEESRERRERR
Bheh R TR A
#8572 1 7% 7 3z B 75 1
e

(v) REBEERRNERT
AR S MATZAESR
E °

) AN 52 B R AR AR B 2K B R
SAH R EMEITLAE
g - NEEBSWA -

(vi) RE ZE 20184 k20176
12A31BILEFE A&
B R XK E2RRCGN
Global R E RS T
AR B IKERTS & o

(vii) KB E20184F 2017 F
12A31BILEFE A&
& 7[R K B A 7] General
Uranium BE78 5 & 2 B
%518 B K U B BF 75 AR 75
2o

(vii) A B R ERI BRI
TR % - NP ERM
£ ASRIE - BREE KA

B o
B

(ix) AEEF2017F1 A1 8
HEFIEA A = 47 A R A% 8
FEREHEERGEE
RN EBGE  WEEE
BBIWA -

) R2018412 4318 It
FEHE - —HRRK B
AEl—HEZE MRS
EiREEA XA R ERTR
% WUER RIS E A o

(xi) REE2018 12 A31H
IEFE - AEEEP EZ
hEZE IR RS EAL
X YN =AY
RIS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BEEBMALRS #)
(Continued)
(@)  (Continued) (@ (#&)
All transactions were conducted with terms mutually MERSIBREEZSH
agreed with the counter parties. FrEsa] hakal 4 ©
Details of connected transactions of the Company KRB ERZFBRE
are disclosed in the “Directors’ Report” section to the WwEEeRE ] PIKE -

annual report.

(b) The Company entered into a facility letter with b) ARAFHEER(EAER
Huasheng (as lender), pursuant to which the Company AV BRI E - &
can borrow from Huasheng for short-term capital within It NRAFRI B HRERA
of total borrowing amounting to USD300,000,000 from BH=FNRN  TREBNRE
time to time within 3 years from the first withdrawal. 300,000,000 7T A + A

RAEXEAESHARE

() Compensation of key management personnel () FEEEAEZRH
The remuneration of directors of the Company during RELE2018F K 2017 12
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as A31BHIEFEARAES
follows: ) e N

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Short-term benefits PSECEEY] 2,174 2,737

Post-employment benefits BEER 12 12 A = -

2,174 2,737
The remuneration of directors of the Company and RAREZFRFEFZTEHA
key executives was determined by the remuneration BvemFMEE SR
committee having regard to the performance of ZEMAIALZRERT

individuals and market trends. HIBREETE ©
21 8 CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$2,115,000 (2017: HK$2,070,000). The Group’s investment
properties held for rental purposes and are expected to
generate rental yields on approximately 7% (2017: 7%) on an
ongoing basis.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have future
minimum lease receivable (2017: nil).

The Group as lessee

The Group leased certain of its offices and staff quarters under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties were
negotiated for a term ranging from one to three years and
rentals were fixed throughout the rental period.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases which fall due as follows:

30.

AiE
AEEERHBA

FARBMZMERSWANS
2,115,000 7 (2017 4 : 2,070,000
HBID) o AEE ZIREMEFER
ER% - REVERBREEELD
7% (2017 4F : 7%) VTG YA °

R20185 12 A31 B - REB I E

AREEHEE EURIA (2017 £ -
&)

REBEREBA

AEERBLEHERHEASET
MRERETIES HRAMEZE
EHEFENT—F2=F mH
SHEHERREE T E -

RBEHEEER - AEBRET
ATRHR EHEAER TR RE
HIZ RSB E R -

2018 2017

2018 2017 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THET

Within one year —F R 1,606 1,492
In the second to fifth year inclusive RE_FEEFRF (BREEERF) 1,932 3,191
3,538 4,683
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, £2018412 431 H I & E

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 31. ARQFBBERRE

THE COMPANY
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FEx FAET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Plant and equipment VG 627 1,237
Investments in subsidiaries HBARIRE 1,032,119 1,032,119
Investment in an associate —fAE b ERE 453,924 453,924
1,486,670 1,487,280
Current assets MBEE
Trade and other receivables RS AR 0 2 L e R 0B 19,363 128,675
Income tax recoverable A EIFERHR 8,728 4,280
Bank balances and cash RITEGERAS 1,031,807 972,611
1,059,898 1,105,566
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables FERBR R R ELAD FE (S 5008 12,658 90,735
Amounts duge to subsidiaries FERTP B A R I8 (@) 988 991
Amount due to R —RR R B
a fellow subsidiary E0rE] 22 735 806
Amount due to an intermediate et — R AR A B
holding company EE] 21 5,569 5,838
Income tax payable JERTFTSH 3,560 3,560
23,510 101,930
Net current assets TEEEFE 1,036,388 1,003,636
Total assets less current liabilities BERERRDAE 2,523,058 2,490,916
Capital and reserves IR R
Share capital &R 66,007 66,007
Reserves & (b) 2,456,898 2,424,756
Total equity BniesE 2,522,905 2,490,763
Non-current liability FERBARE
Deferred tax liabilities FEILFEA E 153 153
2,523,058 2,490,916
220 CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #,£2018%12 831 H I E[E

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Note (a):  Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayable on demand.

Note (b):  Movements in the reserves during the years are as follows:

31.

RIAEBRIEE

i3k (o) - FABEERBIIT -

RN AIMBEARRT )

FIRE (a) : EEN PR A BISURREEIR - B8
&

Share
Share options Other REETED
premium reserve reserve earnings Total
RIVEE  BRERE HifE R REEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2017 R2017E1 818 1,734,144 154 7 731,190 2,465,495
Profit for the year AEERF - - - 91,275 91,275
Dividend recognised as REDELZRE
distrioution (note 12) (HizE12) - - - (132,014) (132,014)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12 A31H
and 1 January 2018 K 2018F1A1H 1,734,144 154 7 690,451 2,424,756
Profit for the year AEERF - - - 45,343 45,343
Dividend recognised REDRLIRE
as distribution (note 12) (BfzE12) - - - (13,201) (13,201)
At 31 December 2018 H2018F 1231 H 1,734,144 154 7 722,593 2,456,898
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &;Z£2018412 431 H I & E

32. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. fIBARSIEK
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 KRR 20184F K 2017412 H 31
December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: A G ZHBARFBOT ¢
Place of Particulars of issued
Class of incorporation/  Place of share capital/paid up Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary shares held establishment  operations registered capital interest of the Group  Principal activities
it/ BRkE/
HEARER RERRER R 2% £330 HRimhacE AREELES
218 2017
N8E 175

Direct subsidiaries:

EXNELT:

Beiing Sino-Kazakh' Contributed Capital ~ PRC PRC RMB823,770,000 100% 100% Investment project

by’ BAER & & ARH8237700007C RERR

CGNM UK Ltd. Ordinary shares United Kingdom  United Kingdom 100,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of natural uranium

EER 2 it 0f GBP 1 each AHES
100000 R &R
BhEE1EE

# Wholly-owned foreign enterprise 3 NGB E R E
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding TR A BB A RIS AR SR 25 B R A5 R
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the SN AN RS BT B ) B AR R
reporting period. EENELES

33. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 33. WMEHREE

On 16 November 2018, the Company has entered into a sale 7K2018F 11 A16H + A A FEF
and purchase agreement with China Uranium Development to Bl R B E ek  BULP
acquire the entire equity interest in CGN Global, a company 5 3£ 2% & 1A 8,553,800 7t (49
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of England 66,335,000 7% 7T ) Y BE 7 R 1% B
and Wales at a consideration of USD8,553,800 (approximately BREEE DR (RIZEASHE LB R LT
HK$66,335,000). The transaction was completed on 17 ERFMK I BRAR) RS
January 2019. Upon completion, CGN Global became a e RHM2019F1 A17H =
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial B o XRBTEMKE - R EZBIRIEE
results will be combined to the Group under merger RAEIKABARENEENB AR R
accounting. Details of which are set out in the Company’s B SEERS NS HEFHEER
circular dated on 28 December 2018 and announcement dated KBS0 - BHEFEDIENAR
on 17 January 2019 respectively. AIBERA 20184 12 A 28 BAYE K

N BHHEA201941 B17HEIASE -

CGN Mining Company Limited
222 PEZEEAR AT



Particulars of Major Properties as at 31 December 2018

A2018FE12 831 A 2 X EY X115

PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT BIERE2ME

Location NE Type of properties Lease term
YRR HEHIR

Rooms 2906-2910 & 2912, 29/F, AR B L T Office Premises Medium-term lease

Shi Ao International Centre, [ BE/NE FHAEE

No. 101 Shaoyaoju Beili, A EEFEILE 101 5%

Chaoyang District, BB R AR

Beijing, PRC 29122906-2910 & 2912 =

Annual Report 2018
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Definitions

Bx

In this annual report (excluding the “Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of the Company”), unless the
context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

RAFERRER (TEIE [BARRBROBLIZHBERE]) - RXBEBZEEN A TAEREANTEE ¢

“2018 AGM”
[2018 FRHAF AL |

“associate(s)”

[EEEEA ]

“Articles of Association”
[EF240A1 ]

“Beijing Sino-Kazakh”

[5G 3 |

“Board”
=5

“CAD”
[nsc]

“Cameco”

[ Cameco |

“CGN” or “CGNPC”

[hEZ] [P EZEEAT]

“CGN Finance”

[ B 75 )

“CGN Global”

“CGN Group”
[hEZEE

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF

the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2018.
RARIR201846 6 A8 HAMMBRKBFKE -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.

AELMRAFETZE% -

the articles of association of the Company.
RARAABERAA -

Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources Investment Company
Limited*, a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

ERAFREMERREAERAT - RPBEKIHNEREEAE, AEAR
GIES={hrPNCIR

the board of Directors of the Company.
RAREEE o

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada.
MERTT - MERZEEE -

Cameco Inc., one of the largest producers of natural uranium of the
world.

Cameco Inc. » tEF FER AR AMAEER 2 — -

China General Nuclear Power Corporation, a company incorporated
in PRC with limited liability and the sole shareholder at China Uranium
Development.

FEEZEEBRAR RARKZZ2BREFAF - AHBIHZEE
fRe 2 ME—ARER o

CGN Finance Co., Ltd.* (F & #% 81 7% A& R & £ 2 Al), a company
incorporated in PRC with limited liability and a subsidiary of CGN.
FEZVBERETAR  RPRKIZZBREMLAR - PEZNE

AR e

CGN Global Uranium Ltd. (f EZBERHMEREEBER QR a
company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales, primarily
engaged in the international trading of natural uranium.
hEZERHERESEAR AR —FERB AR MR AR
MRZHBERAT  TERZBERERAMES -

CGNPC and its subsidiaries.
FEZEEAR LKEWBAT -



“CGN Mining”, “Company” or “We”

[hEZEE] - [RF]] %
[ARA] -~ T3

“CGNPC Huasheng”

[ R R R

“CGNPC-URC”

[ EAZ SR B R

“CGNPC-URC Group”
[PEZHMERREE]

“China Uranium Development’
[P B g2 3 = |

“connected person”

[REEAL]

“controlling shareholder”
[ 15 RR AR ER |

“Corporate Governance Code
[{rZE R<rAl]

“Director(s)”

(=]

“Domestic Financial Service
Framework Agreement”

RS B ARTSHEIR 5% |

“ED(s)”
[BITE S

4

”

Definitions

B

CGN Mining Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

TERBEEERAR T RRASESEMKRIZAREELRA - Hi
IAPABSE AT P AR =7 -

CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CGNPC.
PEZERREGRAR  REBIMKILZ AR RPEZEER
AlZ 2 EMB AR -

CGNPC Uranium Development Company Limited*, a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and the sole shareholder of
the China Uranium Development.

HEZSERERARAR  RPBIKNZ 2 BREMERR] - RPEIHE
R MR -

CGNPC-URC and its subsidiaries, expect for the Group members.
PEZMERRLERAEEXEIMIEMTEAT

China Uranium Development Company Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
PEMEERARAT AR ZIERRRE -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BERFTRAPE T 2% -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
EAELmRAM T zE% -

Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
TR AT SR T I AT S R EA<T R R EE AW E -

the director(s) of the Company.

ZAYNCTE ==

the framework agreement dated 5 September 2017 and entered into
between the Company and CGN Finance in relation to the provision of
certain financial service by CGN Finance to the Company in the PRC.
AN EERAR EZIISRI S 2 A A2017F9 A5 B 2 iERGE - NAH
B EAZE IS A AN R B Bl W iR S TR RS AR TS -

executive Director(s) of the Company.

ARARBITESE -

Annual Report 2018
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Definitions

Bx

“Fission”

[ Fission A @] ]

“Group”
[AEHE |

“Guangdong Nuclear Joint Venture”

[BERZESZ
“Hainan Mining”

[ SRR

“HK$” or “HKD”
[t

“Hong Kong”

(&%)

“HKFRSs’

[ BRI SR YR

4

“Hong Kong Xinmao’

[BBEX]

“INED(s)"

(B IFITEE]

“Irkol Mine”

[ 78]

“Kazakhstan”
[ 15 i 72 i |

CGN Mining Company Limited

REZEXARAT

Fission Uranium Corp., a Canadian-based resource company of which
ordinary shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the
symbol “FCU”, the OTCQX market place in the U.S. under the symbol
“FCUUF”and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol
“2FU”. Fission is an associate of the Company.

Fission Uranium Corp. * —RIAMEXNEEM 2 BRG] - HREM@
BRARER [FCULl M ZmZ 32 5P~ AR TFCUUF ] IASEE] OTCQX
RS H5% IARSR [ 2FU IO ERI e 1838 553X 5 P =T © Fission A &1 /4%
RATIHEEREE -

the Company and its subsidiary.
RARIREWB AT -

Guangdong Nuclear Joint Venture Limited, a subsidiary of CGNPC.
BRZEALERAT  PEREBAGZ TEAR °

Hainan Mining Co., Ltd*, which is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 601969.

BEBERNDARLAR REBBELFRFMED - BRHKR -
601969 -

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong.
B 2R EE -

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China.
hEARKNMBEETERRITTHIE

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
ARG AGRM 2 BBM B MmEER -

Hong Kong Xinmao Investment Co., Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hainan Mining.
EREBXKREARLDR  REBTIMEINBERAR - REREED
2EWBARF] -

independent non-executive Director(s) of the Company.

AAREILIFATES °

the Irkol mine located in the Kyzylorzhinsk area, 20 kilometres from
the town of Chiili, Kazakhstan, which was owned and operated by
Semizbay-U.

PR MIELL - 2R BE 52 A7 38 Chiili $8 20 T K B2 2 Kyzylorzhinsk ith
[2 2 IrkolBE L - A#HARIEE REIR -

The Republic of Kazakhstan.
ie B ST A E LA ET -



Definitions

B

“Kazatomprom” National Atomic Company Kazatomprom, a joint stock company
established according to the laws of Kazakhstan, which holds 51%
equity interest of Semizbay-U.

[MERT & National Atomic Company Kazatomprom (15 & 7e H7H8 Bl 5K B FAE A
") —HKBRBERERANDEERCOERAR - BEHARIS1%E

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

[ Er#RAl] 5 EEMEREFXGMBERATZS LA -

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

[1R4E<F A ] ¥ FARAIMT SR P E T AR EREITE SR HHIRESFA -

“New Financial Service Framework the framework agreement dated 6 December 2016 and entered

Agreement” into between the Company and CGNPC Huasheng in relation to the

provision of certain financial service by CGNPC Huasheng to the
Company.

[ 55 BA 75 BRI AE 2R Mo ok ¥ RRFERPBEZERTZ 2 B A2016 F12 A6 B Z1ER W% -
BEBPEZER AN GRS TR -

“New Kazakhstan Uranium Project” the acquisition of the new Kazakhstan uranium mines.

[ SR IE B | | Me B se AR RN SR AR o

“New Natural Uranium Sales the framework agreement dated 6 December 2016 and entered into

Framework Agreement” between the Company and CGNPC-URC in relation to the sale of

natural uranium by the Group to CGNPC-URC and/or its subsidiaries.

[FTRAShIHEESR M ¥ RNAFEA EZHERRE] 2 A A2016F12 A6 H 2B H%
NAERRAEE R EIZHERR R HENB R R HE R A -

“NED(s)” non-executive Director(s) of the Company.

[BEITE S £ RNRRIERITES -

“Reporting Period” From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

[¥REH & 201841 A1HE2018F 12 A31H °

“PLS Project” Patterson Lake South project, Fission’s primary and wholly-owned

asset, which located in Saskatchewan, Canada, with an exploration
area of approximately 31,039 hectares. PLS Project was still at an
exploration stage and no products were produced.

[PLSIEE | 5 Patterson Lake SouthI8H © AFission ARlZ T BN EHAEE
IR INEREIRERS - RIBEEMIEA31,039AE * PLSIHE ER
ENERBEER - M EmED o

“PRC” The People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this report,
excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.
[ e & REARKENE  gtAHREmMs TEEES  RFIRAE -
“RmMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.
[ARE] | ARE B ZEEEE -
Annual Report 2018 227
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Definitions

Bx

“Semizbay Mine”

[ 11 |
“Semizbay-U”
EiVNSIN

“SFO”

[R5 LS D
“Share(s)’

[ Btn

“Shareholder(s)”
[ &R ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B8 22 P

“subsidiary(s)”
[~ a

“Swakop”
RSN

“Takeovers Code”
eSSl
“Target Mines”

[ BRHER
“UspD”

E

“UxC”

[UxC]

“3R Uranium Deposit

[ 3R ftE |

CGN Mining Company Limited

REZEXARAT

the Semizbay mine located in the Valihanov District of Akmoltnsk
Oblast, Kazakhstanm which was owned and operated by Semizbay-U.
FORZLFEFEIL - (PR EE 5T 8718 Akmoltnsk Oblast 2 Valihanov & -
BHANRHERER -

Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, the Company owns its 49% equity interest
and as a joint venture of the Company.

ARKLFEFEREREE  RRERIDAKY cBRETEREE
RARARAEDRE  ARAEEH49% %

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).
BHELEEEO (BEAEMEST1E) °

ordinary share(s) in the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each.
NN REGREE0.01 B2 Lilhk -

holder(s) of the Share(s).
BB A e

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
EEMERSMARRAR -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.

AELMRAFETZE% -

Swakop Uranium (PTY) Ltd., a company incorporated in Namibia.
PEZBEMRARAR - —RKOPORLIEK I AIAF] o

The Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-Backs approved by
the Securities and Futures Commission as amended from time to time.
BrLPEEBERZESRAEZ ARIWE - a0 Kk BT
(ETHHERT)

Central Mynkuduk Mine and Zhalpak Mine.
Fh P B AL T, A % LR 2 5 S o

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of
America.

XL ENBRERBOREEH -

Ux Consulting Company, LLC is one of the nuclear industry’s leading
consulting companies.
Ux Consulting Company, LLC, =AZAE BB EAA T °

Triple R uranium deposit.
Triple R #H7E °






	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Chief Executive Officer’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Particulars of Major Properties as at 31 December 2018
	Definitions
	Back Cover

